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CURRENCY EQUIVALENTS
(as of 1 May 2011)
	Currency Unit
	–
	Samoa Tala (SAT$)

	SAT$1.00 
	=
	$0.444

	$1.00
	=
	SAT$2.25 


ABBREVIATIONS
	
	ACEO

ADB                  
	–
–
	Assistant chief executive officer

Asian Development Bank

	
	AG
	–
	Attorney General

	
	ALJ
	–
	Administrative law judge

	
	CEO
	–
	Chief executive officer

	
	EA
	–
	Executing Agency

	
	EPC
	–
	Electric Power Corporation

	
	GOS
	–
	Government of Samoa

	
	IPP
	–
	Independent power producer

	
	MOF
	–
	Ministry of Finance 

	
	OTR
	–
	Office of The (Telecommunications) Regulator

	
	PPA

PSC
	–
   –
	Power purchase agreement

Public Services Commission

	
	PSEPSC
	–
	Power sector expansion project steering committee

	
	SNEP
	–
	Samoa National Energy Policy 2007

	
	SOE
	–
	State-owned enterprise

	
	SOEMD
	–
	State-owned Enterprise Monitoring Division


NOTE
In this report, "$" refers to US dollars.

1. Executive Summary

This technical assistance project provided advisory and legal services to support the Government of Samoa (GOS) in (i) designing a regulatory framework for the power sector, (ii) drafting legislation, (iii) establishing a regulator for the power sector, and (iv) developing an energy demand-side management and energy conservation strategy. 

The TA comprised three Phases: (i) Phase 1: Scoping for a Regulatory Framework, (ii) Phase 2: Development of the Regulatory Framework, and (iii) Phase 3: Implementation of the Regulatory Framework. In Phase 1, the Consultant assisted the GOS in refining the power sector reform objectives, and establishing (i) improvement in sector efficiency and reliability, (ii) customer protection, (iii) independence, (iv) accountability, (v) transparency, and (vi) stability/predictability as the key criteria for a new regulatory framework. International best practices, including 8 successful power sector regulatory agencies in small countries with limited resources similar to Samoa were reviewed and presented to the Samoan Power Sector Expansion Project Steering Committee (PSEPSC), the Samoan Steering Committee for this TA. The pros and cons of a stand-alone regulator for the electricity sector versus multiple sector regulatory arrangements including telecommunications, electricity and other sectors were also discussed with the PSEPSC. 

In Phase 2, the outlines of the recommended regulatory framework for the power sector and the draft electricity act were developed for public review and comment. Extensive public consultation workshops were held throughout Samoa, and comments and feedbacks received were recorded and taken into consideration. With the public inputs and the endorsement of the PSEPSC, a paper defining the roadmap for establishing a new regulatory framework for the power sector and preparing the draft electricity act was submitted to the Cabinet for review. The Cabinet approved the paper and roadmap in September 2008. Then, the Consultant prepared and submitted Drafting Instructions in accordance with the Samoan Legislative Drafting Handbook issued by the Attorney General’s (AG) Office.  
After the AG’s approval of the Drafting Instructions in October 2008, the draft Electricity Act 2009 and draft Electricity Regulations 2009 were submitted to the AG’s Office in May 2009 for review and comment. The draft Electricity Act and the draft Electricity Regulations were endorsed by the AG in 2009.  After long delays due to the tsunami in September 2009 and other reasons, the Electricity Act 2010 (the Act) was passed by the Samoan Parliament on 19 October 2010. The draft Electricity Regulations will need to be finalized later by the incoming Electricity Regulator.
The Act authorizes the establishment of the Office of the Electricity Regulator and makes provision for that the Office of Electricity Regulator may be the same as the Office of the Regulator established under the Telecommunications Act 2005 and the Broadcasting Act 2010. The Act also stipulates that support staff, office premises and other resources may be shared to economize the resources that are needed to support the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator’s functions. Accordingly, a paper seeking approval of a proposed organizational structure of the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator (for electricity, telecommunications, broadcasting, and postal services) was prepared for the Ministry of Finance to submit to the Cabinet. Subsequently the MOF has translated it into Samoan and submitted to the Cabinet for approval. The Act also provides that a person appointed under the Electricity Act may concurrently be appointed as the Regulator appointed pursuant to the Telecommunications Act 2005 or a legislation on broadcasting or both. Thus, the Electricity Regulator may be deemed to be the Multi-sector Regulator. 

The Act empowers the Electricity Regulator to: (i) issue, monitor and enforce electricity generation licenses, as well as network service (transmission and distribution) licenses, (ii) set electricity tariffs in accordance with the provisions of the Act, (iii) set and enforce standards for electricity services, (iv) protect consumers, and (v) resolve disputes between consumers and licensees, or among licensees. The Act also includes a code of conduct for the Electricity Regulator and mandates that regulatory functions be conducted in an open and transparent process with public participation.  The Electricity Regulator is required to submit annual reports, including audited annual financial statements to the Government. The Act also includes provision for appealing the Electricity Regulator’s decisions.

The Electricity Regulator is also required by the Act to publish detailed rules and regulations for regulating electricity services. The new Electricity Regulator, when appointed, will need to finalize the draft Electricity Regulations prepared under this TA,  and submit them to the Cabinet for approval. The Head of State will promulgate the Electricity Regulations on the advice of the Cabinet.

Phase 3 of the TA makes provision for the Consultant to provide limited assistance in initial implementation of the regulatory framework. A budget proposal for the Office of the Electricity Regulator for the fiscal year 2011/2012 was submitted to the MOF for consideration. The qualifications and selection criteria for the Multi-sector Regulator and key regulatory staff positions were prepared to assist the Public Services Commission in initiating the recruiting process. General regulatory procedures were also prepared for performing the roles and functions of the Electricity Regulator. Preliminary templates for tariff applications by licensees were prepared based on the tariff principles specified in the Electricity Act. The incoming Multi-sector Regulator will need to finalize the tariff submission templates when the final electricity tariff regulations are promulgated by the Head of State.

The key regulatory functions including licensing, setting tariff, establishing and enforcing standards for electricity standards, protecting consumers and resolving disputes are new to the Samoan power sector. To ensure effective implementation of the new regulatory framework for the power sector, it is essential to recruit a qualified Multi-sector Regulator and regulatory staff, and provide them with extensive capacity building and on-the-job training. It is recommended that support for capacity building and training for the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator be provided at least for the first two years. 

Pursuant to the TA terms of reference, the task on energy demand-side management and energy conservation strategy was performed from June 2008 to February 2009 independently from the regulatory tasks. An Action Plan consisting of a timeline, a discrete set of activities, and specific milestones to be met in order to achieve rapid implementation of the Strategy was recommended to the Government. The key recommended activities included (i) adopting a formal energy demand-side management strategy including a funding mechanism, (ii) developing appliance and building energy efficiency standards, (iii) implementing public awareness, energy education, lighting efficiency and retrofit programs, and others.   
2. 1

 SET ChapterStart "1" 1Introduction 

2.1 Background

The Asian Development Bank (ADB) has tasked Tetra Tech ES Inc. (formerly PA Consulting Group Ltd. NZ) (the Consultant) to carry out a technical assistance (TA) project, TA No. 4994-SAM: Implementing the Samoa National Energy Policy, Component 3 – Regulatory and Policy Reform in the Power Sector. The objectives of this TA were to provide advisory and legal services to support the Government in (i) determining a regulatory framework; (ii) drafting legislation, (iii) establishing a regulator for the power sector, and (iv) developing an energy demand-side management and energy conservation strategy.
The TA was carried out in three phases: (i) Phase 1: Scoping for a Regulatory Framework, (ii) Phase 2: Development of the Regulatory Framework, and (iii) Phase 3: Implementation of the Regulatory Framework. This final report summarizes the results of the TA. The Executing Agency (EA) of this TA is the Ministry of Finance (MOF) and the TA counterpart working group was led by the Assistant CEO for the State-Owned Enterprise Monitoring Division (SOEMD), the MOF. 
Pursuant to the terms of reference, the task on energy demand-side management and energy conservation strategy was carried out from June 2008 to February 2009 independently from the regulatory tasks. A diagnostic report was submitted to the Government of Samoa and ADB in July 2008 and an interim report in November 2008. The draft final report on energy demand-side management and energy conservation strategy that had incorporated the comments on the previous reports was submitted in February 2009. 
2.2 Chronlogical Events and Milestones
The TA inception mission started in mid-April 2008. The TA inception report was submitted on 15 May, 2008.  A presentation was made on 30 June 2008 to the Government of Samoa (GOS) Power Sector Expansion Project Steering Committee
 (PSEPSC) on: (i) the analysis of relevant international experiences, unique factors of Samoan power sector, and regulatory framework options, and (ii) the recommended regulatory framework for Samoan power sector. After the endorsement of the PSEPSC, a Cabinet paper on the proposed regulatory framework and roadmap for preparing the new Electricity Act and establishing the new regulator was drawn up and submitted to the Cabinet for review and approval. Cabinet approved the proposed regulatory framework and roadmap for preparing the new Electricity Act and establishing the new regulator on 3 September 2008.  
Based on the regulatory framework approved by the Cabinet, the drafting instructions for the new Electricity Act and Amendments to the Electric Power Corporation (EPC) Act were prepared and submitted to the Attorney General’s (AG) Office.  The drafting instructions were approved by the AG on 7 October 2008. Public consultation workshops on the proposed power sector regulatory reform and legislation were held in Savaii on 17 and 18 November 2008, and in Upolu on 20 and 21 November 2008. After taking into consideration the inputs received at public consultation workshops, a final consultation workshop was held with the PSEPSC in March 2009 to finalize the draft Electricity Bill and Regulations. The final Draft Electricity Bill and Regulations were submitted to the Attorney General’s Office in May 2009. The final review and approval process by the GOS was delayed due to the Tsunami and other reasons. The Samoa Parliament passed the Electricity Act 2010 in October 2010. Then the Phase 3 of the TA (Implementation of the Regulatory Framework) started in March 2011. 

The key chronological events are summarized below:
22 April to 6 May 2008 


Inception mission

15 May 2008



Inception report submitted

16 June to 13 July 2008 


Second mission 

30 June 2008
Presentation to the Power Sector Expansion Project Steering 

Committee on the proposed regulatory framework

8 July 2008
Cabinet paper on the proposed regulatory framework and roadmap submitted
3 September 2008 
Cabinet approved the proposed regulatory framework and roadmap

1 to 30 September 2008
Third mission 
29 September 2008
Submission of the Drafting Instructions to the MOF and AG’s Office 
7 October 2008 
Attorney General approved the Drafting Instructions
9 to 25 November 2008
Fourth mission
17, 18, 20 & 21 November 2008
Public consultation workshops

2 December 2008
Interim report submitted

18 March 2009
Final consultation with the Power Sector Expansion Project Steering Committee
5 May 2009
Final draft Electricity Act and Regulations submitted 

19 October 2010
Electricity Act passed by the Parliament
15 March 2011
Phase 3 of the TA started
15 May 2011
Submission of the TA draft final report

27 June 2011
TA final report submitted
2.3 Report Organization

This final report has incorporated the comments on the draft final report received from the Executing Agency, ADB, and the Electric Power Corporation. Chapter 1 is the executive summary. Chapter 2 is the introduction. Chapter 3 presents a background paper on scoping for a power sector framework for Samoa (Phase 1).  Chapter 4 summarizes the recommended power sector regulatory framework and legislation (Phase 1). Chapter 5 is a background paper on the stakeholder assessment (Phase 2). Chapter 6 summarizes the public communication and consultation strategy, and the outcomes of public consultation workshops (Phase 2). Chapter 7 contains the Electricity Act 2010 passed by the Samoan Parliament (Phase 2). Chapter 8 summarizes the results of the tasks of the Phase 3 – Implementation of the Regulatory Framework.  
3. Background Paper on Scoping for a Power Sector Regulatory Framework for Samoa – Phase 1 
This chapter presents a background paper summarizing the analysis of: (i) the criteria for designing a regulatory framework, (ii) relevant international experiences, (iii) unique factors of Samoan power sector, (iv) experience of Samoan Office of the Telecommunications Regulator, and (v) barriers to establishment of an effective regulator for Samoan power sector. The analysis provides the foundation for recommending a regulatory framework best suited for Samoan power sector.
3.1 Key Criteria for Designing a Regulatory Framework
We have established four key criteria for designing the regulatory framework for the Samoan power sector. These criteria are used to ensure the regulatory framework to be developed will be legitimate, sound, effective and efficient. These criteria are: independence, accountability, transparency and predictability/stability.

3.1.1 Regulatory Independence

A regulator shall be empowered by the Law to make decisions and perform its duties independently. The regulatory decisions shall be made based on sound economic and technical criteria and professional judgment. The regulator shall ideally be independent of political powers, regulated utilities/service providers, consumers and other stakeholders. However, it should be noted that the regulator cannot function independently of national policies. 
To meet the regulatory independence criterion, the following key features shall be reflected in the design of the regulatory framework:

· Has clear legal mandate

· Adequate legal authorities

· Appointment, term and removal of the regulator

· Professional appointment criteria

· Appointed by the executive or legislative branches of the Government

· Fixed-term tenures

· Sound (not arbitrary) removal criteria and procedure

· Financial autonomy

· Reliable funding sources such as license fees, levies on service providers’ turn over, and/or an earmarked government budget

· Operational autonomy

· Has authorities to hire staff based on professional criteria with competitive pay levels

3.1.2 Regulatory Accountability

To balance the regulatory independence, adequate regulatory accountability shall be in place. The regulator shall be accountable to the Government and the court (appeal court or tribunal) that reviews and evaluates the regulator’s decisions.
To ensure the regulatory accountability, the following factors shall be considered in the design of the regulatory framework:

· Transparent regulatory process

· Open decision-making process with meaningful public participation

· Publication of decisions and explanations for the decisions (on what criteria, principles and public inputs are used in deriving the decisions and why certain public inputs are not considered)
· Appeal process

· Aggrieved stakeholders can ask for review of a decision by appealing to the court or an appellate tribunal

· Scrutiny of expenditures by the legislative or executive branch

· Independently audited annual financial statements shall be prepared

· Annual report covering the regulator’ annual plan and actual performance, and audited financial statements shall be submitted to the Parliament and/or Prime Minister
· Codes of ethics

· Adequate codes of ethics shall be in place to prevent corruption, conflicts of interests and unethical conducts

· Removal following the rules 

· Removal of the regulator shall follow the published rules and only for proven misconducts or incapacity

3.1.3 Regulatory Transparency

Transparent regulatory processes and procedures are essential to help the regulator to be accountable to the public, earn public trust and promote legitimacy of the regulation. To achieve the regulatory transparency, the regulatory shall:

· Publish regulatory procedures and decision-making criteria and processes that promote meaningful public consultations, and strictly follow the published procedures
· Establish specific mechanisms for meaningful public participation

· Advance notices, utilities/service providers required to inform communities why they need to increase tariffs, public access to the information that the regulator has except the confidential information, receiving and factoring public inputs into the decision making process
·  Use written decisions
· All the regulatory decisions shall be in writing with explanations on how public inputs are considered (or why not considered) in the decisions

3.1.4 Regulatory Predictability/Stability 
Surveys repeatedly show that the regulatory predictability/stability is one of the key factors considered by private sector for investments in the developing countries’ power sectors. To ensure the regulatory predictability/stability, the regulator shall:

· Publish regulatory methodologies and decision-making criteria in important areas 

· For tariff setting

· For technical and quality of service standards and enforcement procedures
· Sound decision making criteria

· Strictly based on sound economic and technical principles and professional judgments

· Independent decisions

· Decisions cannot be changed by other branches of the Government but can be evaluated or changed only by a judicial court or appeal tribunal.
3.2 Options of Regulatory Models
We have reviewed four basic regulatory models around the world and selected those are relevant to Samoa for detailed analysis. The four basic regulatory models reviewed are: office of the regulator, Caribbean part-time commission, quasi-judiciary commission, and a combination of economic regulator and technical regulator. These are briefly described in the following sections.
3.2.1 Office of the Regulator Model
In this regulatory model, an individual regulator, or a Director General, (some countries also includes deputy Directors General) is responsible for making all the regulatory decisions and rulings. This individual will rely on the analyses performed by the regulatory staff and/or outside consultants and public inputs obtained from the public consultation process to make decisions.  This is similar to the Samoan Office of the (Telecommunications) Regulator. Other examples are: Jamaica’s Office of the Utilities Regulation, Electricity Regulatory Authority of Vietnam, the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets in the Great Britain, and the Regulatory Offices in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Estonia, and Hungary. This model is simple and easy to establish and is suitable for small countries such as Samoa.
3.2.2 Caribbean Part-Time Commission Model
Most Caribbean countries, similar to Samoa, are relatively small with limited resources. But, with the international donor organizations’ assistance, most Caribbean countries started their power sector reforms and established their regulatory agencies at least 5 to 10 years ago. To reduce the cost of regulation, they have developed a unique regulatory model suitable for small countries. This regulatory model involves a commission that typically consists of 5 to 11 commissioners including a chairperson. These commissioners are part-time positions. To support the commission, there are regulatory staff and/or outside consultants to perform all the necessary economic, technical and other analyses and public consultations. The commission would convene only short periods (e.g., several times a year and each time for a few days) and for specific purposes (e.g., reviewing tariff applications, issuance of licenses, consumer complaints). The commission makes decisions based on the majority of the votes by the commissioners.  It is essential to have qualified personnel to fill the commissioner positions to make this model work. The example commissions are: the Public Utilities Commissions in Bahamas, Belize and Guyana, the Fair Trading Commission in Barbados, the Regulated Industries Commission in Trinidad and Tobago.  This model provides some relevancy to Samoa and may be considered. 
3.2.3 Quasi-Judiciary Commission Model 
This regulatory model involves a commission consisting of an odd number of commissioners including a chairperson. Different from the Caribbean model, these commissioners are full-time positions. The commission uses a quasi-judiciary (a trial type) process to find the facts and make decisions. The process, similar to a trial by the court, can involve: filing of a case (e.g., a tariff increase application) by a utility, discovery, pre-hearing conference, written or oral testimony and rebuttal, cross-examination of witnesses. An administrative law judge (ALJ) (or an assigned commissioner) typically conducts the hearings. After the hearings, the ALJ will issue an ALJ decision, and the commission will vote to make the final decision or order. This process is most open and transparent but more time-consuming and costly. However, the transparency and public participation aspects of the process will be useful for designing a regulatory framework in Samoa. This model is commonly used in the world, including the Energy Regulatory Authority in Mongolia, the Energy Regulatory Commission in the Philippines, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and most State Public Utilities Commissions in the United States, and the Regulatory Commissions in Latvia, Lithuania, Bulgaria, Romania, Ukraine, Armenia, Georgia, and other countries. 
3.2.4 Model of an Economic Regulator and a Technical Regulator

New Zealand and Australia have an economic regulator (the Commerce Commission in New Zealand, and the Australia Consumer and Competition Commission  and Australian Energy Regulator in Australia) and a technical regulator (the Electricity Commission in New Zealand, and Australian Energy Market Commission in Australia) to regulate the power sectors. Both Australia’s and New Zealand’s electricity markets are fully competitive at the generation, transmission, and retail levels and much more complicated than the Samoan power sector. We believe it is not cost-effective to create two or more regulators to regulate a small power sector such as the one in Samoa. Thus, no detailed analysis of the applicability of this model to the Samoan power sector was carried out. 
3.3 Unique Factors of the Samoan Power Sector 

Designing a regulatory framework should explicitly take into account the Government’s objectives for the power sector as well as the unique characteristics of the Samoan power sector. 
3.3.1 The Government’s Objectives for the Power Sector

The Samoa National Energy Policy 2007 has established the objectives of improving the sector to ensure efficient, reliable, affordable and sustainable electricity services to the nation, and attracting private participation in the power generation.
3.3.2 Unique Characteristics of the Power Sector

The unique characteristics of the Samoan power sector that need to be reflected in the design of the regulatory framework include:
· Small size of the power sector

· Scarcity of human resources especially in the areas of economic regulation (tariff, quality of service and consumer protection regulation, regulatory procedures)
· Existing power sector expertise resides mostly in the utility (the EPC) to be regulated
· The power sector’s performance has been poor (but improving in the recent years) and the performance under the new regulation must be better than without regulation

· Competition is suitable only in the power generation 

3.4 Review of Relevant Regulators in Other Countries
Based on the criteria for designing a regulatory framework described earlier and their relevancy to the Samoan power sector, we have selected the following regulators for detailed analyses. These regulators are:

· At least five years old and functioning satisfactorily 

· The regulatory framework is generally sound based on the design criteria described previously 

· Similar to Samoa as a small country with limited human resources, or has some aspects of the regulatory practices and experiences that may be desirable for Samoa to consider.
The relevant regulators reviewed include:

a. Representative Regulators in the Caribbean

· Barbados (population: 264,000, 160 MW system peak demand) 

· Belize (population: 287,730, 68 MW system peak demand)
· Bahamas (population: 320,000, 175 MW system peak demand)
· Trinidad & Tobago (population: 1,360,000, 1,160 MW system peak demand)
· Jamaica (population 2,700,000, 1,190 MW system peak demand)
b. Representative Regulators in the East Asia and the Pacific

· Mongolia (population 2,790,000, 540 MW system peak demand)
· Philippines Energy Regulatory Commission (91 million population, 6,500 MW peak demand in Luzon power system)

The detailed analyses of these representative regulators and their relevance to the Samoan power sector regulator are included in Appendix A.
3.5 Review of Samoan Office of the (Telecommunications) Regulator
Based on our review of the Telecommunications Act of 2005 (the Act) and its 2007 Amendment, and the interviews with the Regulator (Mr. John Morgan) in 2008, the key features of the Office of the Regulator (OTR) are summarized below:

· The OTR was established in 2006, and an expatriate expert was appointed in July 2006 as the first Regulator for a term of 3 years.
· An independent institution

· Structure – an individual regulator with certain regulatory staff

· A single-sector regulator covering the telecommunications sector 

· Key functions of licensing, telecommunication spectrum and frequency, telecommunications number management, setting interconnection tariffs for dominant service providers, consumer protection, oversight of market competition and others.

· Regulatory process is relatively open and involves public consultations in the cases of developing new policies and regulations.

· The Regulator is appointed by the Head of the State with the advice of Cabinet, the Regulator submits annual reports to the Minister and then the Minister tables the report in the Parliament.

· Funded through the national annual budgetary process. The Act empowers the Regulator to collect license fees and levies, but the collected fees and levies go to general Treasury Fund. So far, the fees and levies collected exceed the OTR’s annual budget.

· Can make decisions and carry out its functions independently as provided by the Act.

The organizational chart of the OTR as of May 2008 is shown below.


[image: image1]
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3.5.1 Accomplishments 
The Regulator had diligently performed his duties and carried out the statutory functions and had accomplished the following in the period from his appointment in July 2006 to may 2008:

· Established key licensing policies, terms, conditions and procedures
· Issued about 1,300 telecommunications (including  radio and microwave communications) licenses, all of these have to be renewed annually
· Monitoring and enforcing the licensing terms and conditions and the safety of telecommunications operations
· Determined the dominant service providers and reviewed and set their interconnection tariffs
· Investigated and resolved about 50 service providers’ complaints against competing service providers, and 

· Issued about 12 orders and/or determinations.

3.5.2 The Issues Encountered

Despite the accomplishments highlighted above, the OTR had faced the following constraints and challenges:

· Key staff positions  remained unfilled almost two years after the establishment of the OTR
· The regulator had been unable to recruit qualified personnel to fill the key staff positions since his appointment in July 2006. 

· As of May 2008, four key positions (Manager of the Regulatory and Consumer Affairs Division, Manager of the Spectrum and Frequency Division, Regulatory Analyst, and Consumer Affairs Analyst) were still vacant

· The staff pay levels, set by the Public Service Commission (PSC) might not be adequate

· The Regulator had been unsuccessful in persuading the PSC to raise the pay levels to be sufficient to attract qualified personnel

· Official website yet to be developed 

· An official website, mandated by the Act, is an important public communications/participation tool. But the substantially under-staffed OTR had to put off its development for other more pressing activities

· A setback in the first appeal case in the Samoan Supreme Court 

· One dominant mobile phone service provider, Digicel, filed an appeal to the Supreme Court arguing that Digicel was denied the natural justice as the OTR did not allow Digicel access to the confidential information used in the costing model used to set SamoaTel’s interconnection tariffs. The Supreme Court agreed with Digicel’s argument. This pointed out a potential risk that a small regulator may be captured by large service providers.  
· The incumbent Regulator was leaving the post at the end of June 2008 for a medical reason
· The succeeding Regulator would have to re-establish and re-build the OTR
· After the incumbent Regulator left at the end of June 2008, the OTR would have the staff of only 1 administrator/accountant, 1 receptionist, 1 driver, and 3 spectrum and frequency engineers who were transferred from the Ministry in 2006.

· Re-establishment and re-building of the OTR would overly burden the succeeding Regulator and slow down his/her progress in the sector regulation. 

· The succeeding Regulator would encounter the similar difficulties if appropriate solutions are not developed soon

· Plan to address the staff recruitment issues and OTR capacity building was urgently needed.
3.6 Single Sector Versus Multi-Sector Regulator

The advantages of a multi-sector regulator include:
· It would be more cost-effective than a single sector regulator as the regulatory resources can be shared by all the regulated sectors,

· A multi-sector regulator offers synergies and opportunities of transfer of skills, experiences, and insights across sectors, and 

· It is less likely that a multi-sector regulator would be captured (or influenced) by a dominant utility.

On the other hand, a multi-sector regulator would require more time and effort to establish. It would be complicated as different sectors are in different stages of reform.  A multi-sector regulator may lack sector-specific expertise or focus. In addition, it is less desirable to put all regulatory risks in a single entity.
Considering Samoa being a small country with limited available resources (manpower, expertise, budget, etc.), it is more desirable and economic to consider a multi-sector regulator in the long run.

3.7 Barriers to Establishing an Effective and Efficient Power Sector Regulator in Samoa
Based on the assessment of the Samoan Office of the Regulation for the telecommunications sector, the unique constraints of the Samoan power sector, and the lessons learned from the power sector regulators in other relevant small countries, the barriers to establishing an effective and efficient power sector regulator in Samoa may include the following:
· Lack of qualified human resources

In our assessment of the regulators in small developing countries, the single most important factor affecting the success of the new regulators is the qualified personnel at both the regulator and staff levels. The recent experience of the Samoan Office of the Regulator shows a severe shortage of qualified regulatory personnel in the telecommunications sector in Samoa. The Samoan power sector has the same problem, especially in the areas of economic regulation such as tariff setting regulation, open and transparent regulatory procedures and processes with meaningful public participation, consumer protection regulation and others. The economic regulation is new to the Samoan power sector and the necessary expertise does not currently exist in Samoa.
For the Regulator’s position, the two practical options are: (i) fill the position with a qualified expat expert for the first and possibly second terms, or (ii) fill the position with best available candidate in the country and provide the regulator with adequate supports from international experts for at least one to two years. If the first option is used, a specific in-country capacity building and staffing plan shall be developed and an exit strategy established. If the second option is used, a specific on-the-job training program and time-bound staffing plan shall be established.
For the regulatory staff positions, a comprehensive training and capacity building program must be established at the outset of establishing the power sector office of the regulator. It is advisable to fill the staff positions with the best candidates who have the potential to be trained to become a competent regulatory staff and start on-the-job training program as soon as possible. This is more desirable than the alternative of keeping the positions vacant and waiting for the perfect candidates to come along as they may not be available for a long time, similar to what happened to the staff recruitment of the OTR (Telecommunications) in the initial years.
One of the main causes in the staff recruitment problem for the OTR (Telecommunications) was that the staff pay levels were not sufficient to attract the qualified personnel. The Regulator requested the Public Service Commission (PSC) to raise the pay levels but the request was denied by the PSC. To address this issue, it is recommended that the power sector regulator be given the authority to recruit the staff based on the professional criteria and set competitive pay levels to the extent he or she can justify. 

· Lack of funding for regulatory institutional strengthening and capacity building
Similar to many small developing countries, the Government of Samoa may not have adequate resources for funding regulatory institutional strengthening and capacity building. International donor organizations can play a vital role in providing funding and technical assistance in regulatory institutional strengthening and capacity building. For example, three ADB’s developing member countries, Armenia, Georgia and Mongolia each had received about $3 million to $5 million funding assistance from the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) for energy sector reform, establishment of the regulatory agencies, and regulatory institutional strengthening and capacity building for the first two to three years of the new regulatory agencies. In all three cases, the regulatory commissioners and staff positions were mostly filled with best qualified national candidates. International consultants were brought in to provide tailored training and capacity building at both the commissioner and staff levels. After the extensive training and capacity building in the initial years, those regulatory commissioners and staff can usually perform their statutory functions effectively and efficiently. 
Similarly, the World Bank and the Inter-America Development Bank had provided funding and technical assistance to the initial years’ regulatory institutional strengthening and capacity building in Belize, Jamaica, Trinidad and Tobago and other Caribbean countries. 

In-country capacity building would be essential for the success of the power sector regulator to be established in Samoa. ADB and Australia Agency for International Development may want to consider additional funding to provide training, institutional strengthening and capacity building for the initial two to three years. This would help ensure the new power sector regulator would succeed.    
· The power sector regulator has a potential risk of being captured by the regulated utility

In the Samoan power sector, the existing power sector expertise resides mostly in the utility (i.e., the Electric Power Corporation (EPC)) to be regulated. The power sector regulator will have much less resources than the EPC has. As already happened to the Samoan telecommunications regulator in 2008 and the established regulators in other countries, a dominant service provider (or utility) would take a regulator (especially when the regulator has limited resources) to the court to challenge the regulator’s decisions. Thus, the new power sector regulator in Samoa would need to develop its expertise as soon as possible to prevent from being captured by the utility it regulates. 
· Lack of long term financial autonomy for the regulator
The OTR (Telecommunications) has to propose its budget through the national budget process. Since its establishment in 2006, there had been no substantial budget cuts to the OTR’s proposed budgets in 2007 and 2008. However, with the current funding procedure, there is no guarantee that there will be no budget cuts for the OTR in the future. To ensure long term financial autonomy for the power sector regulator, it is suggested that the new Electricity Act explicitly specify that the funding of the power sector regulator shall be directly funded by license fees and levies on the electricity consumptions, and/or by an earmarked government budget.
4. Recommended Power Sector Regulatory Framework and Legislation – Phase 1
This chapter presents the Cabinet paper that summarizes the recommended regulatory framework and legislation for Samoan power sector, and the roadmap for approving a new Electricity Act and amendments to the EPC Act, and establishing the new power sector regulator. 
4.1 The Cabinet Paper
As noted in Chapter 1, a presentation was made to the PSEPSC on the proposed power sector regulatory framework and the roadmap for approving the new Electricity Act and amendments to the EPC Act, and establishing the new regulator. After the endorsement of the PSEPSC, a draft Cabinet paper on the proposed power sector regulatory reform was prepared and submitted to the Cabinet for review and approval. The submitted Cabinet paper (in 2008) is presented below:


Draft Cabinet Paper on Power Sector Regulatory Reform 
A.  Preamble

The Asian Development Bank has provided technical assistance (TA) for regulatory and policy reform in the power sector. Cabinet approval is hereby sought for the establishment of a new power regulator by July 2009 and its transition into a multi-sector regulator by July 2010.

B. PROPOSAL

The recommended power regulator would assist in implementing the National Energy Policy, including: (i) improving the power sector to provide efficient, reliable, affordable and sustainable power services, and (ii) establishing a conducive environment for private sector participation in power generation. 
The regulator shall, among other matters: 
(i) set power tariffs, 
(ii) establish, monitor and enforce quality of power service standards,
(iii) issue and enforce licenses, and
(iv) provide consumer protection. 
The regulator shall be funded from earmarked funds, including from: (i) licensing fees, (ii) regulatory service charges, and (iii) levies, penalties, fines collected from the power sector. The regulator shall be appointed by the Head of State on the advice of Cabinet and will be accountable to the Government. The regulator shall submit annual reports including audited financial statements to the Government. Any party that disputes a regulatory decision shall have the opportunity to appeal to an appeal tribunal. The regulator shall follow strict code of ethics.

A new Electricity Act will be drafted that creates the regulator as an independent organization and provides the legal authorities needed to fulfil its functions and duties. In addition, certain articles of the Electric Power Corporation (EPC) Act will need to be amended.  It is recommended the new Electricity Act and Amendments to the EPC Act be submitted by March 2009 for consideration by Parliament.

The program provides for the establishment of the Power Regulator by July 2009, and its merger with the existing Office of the Telecommunications Regulator (OTR) by July 2010.  This enables the OTR to undertake its functions without interruption and address ongoing issues in the telecommunications sector.  The staff recruiting and capacity building of both OPR and OTR prior to the merger shall be closely coordinated. 

C.  RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that Cabinet approve by:
(i) July 2008 - The roles, functions and funding sources of the recommended Office of the Power Regulator to be supported by a new Electricity Act and Amendments to the EPC Act (Figure 1 presents the structure and functions of the Office of the Power Regulator)

(ii) November 2008 – The Draft Electricity Act and Amendments to EPC Act

(iii) March 2009 – Submission of the Draft Electricity Act and Amendments to the EPC for consideration by Parliament

(iv) May 2009 – The Office of the Power Regulator’s budget for FY 2009/2010

(v) July 2009 – Appointment of the power regulator

(vi) July 2010 – Transition of the Office of the Power Regulator into the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator (Figure 2 shows the structure of the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator).
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On 3 September 2008, the Cabinet reviewed and approved the proposed power sector regulatory reform including the implementation schedule as proposed in the Cabinet paper. More detailed descriptions of the regulator’s roles, functions, legal powers, funding sources, and structure are provided in a subsequent section (i.e., Section 4.3 Drafting Instructions).
4.2 Legislation Reviewed in Preparing the Eletcricity Bill
In preparing the proposed Electricity Act, we reviewed relevant portions of the following legislation:

· The Electric Power Corporation Act of 1980, as amended

· The Companies Act of 2001, as amended

· The Crimes Ordinance Act of 1961, as amended

· The Fair Trading Act of 1998 as amended

· The Fire and Emergency Service Act of 2007, as amended

· The Forests Act of 1967, as amended

· The Labour and Employment Act of 1972, as amended

· The Planning and Urban Management Act of 2004, as amended

· The Ports Authority Act of 1998, as amended

· The Potlatch Act of 1967, as amended

· The Public Bodies Act of 2001, as amended

· The Public Finance Management Act of 2001, as amended

· The Receiverships Act of 2006, as amended

· The Taking of Land Act of 1964, as amended

· The Telecommunications Act of 2005, as amended

· The Value Added Goods and Services Tax Act of 1992-93, as amended

· The Water Act of 1965, as amended

In addition, we reviewed the case of Digicel (Samoa) Ltd. v. Attorney General, a proceeding in the Supreme Court of Samoa interpreting the Telecommunications Act of 2005 and an order of the Telecommunications regulator.
In consultation with the Office of the Attorney General, we concluded that most of these laws will not be impacted by the proposed new Electricity Act.  We have proposed minor amendments to reconcile the proposed new law with the Fair Trading Act of 1998 and with the Value Added Goods and Services Tax Act of 1992-93.

More important for our purposes were the Electric Power Corporation (EPC) Act of 1980 and the Telecommunications Act of 2005.  The EPC Act as written contemplates that the EPC will discharge both operational and governance functions in the electric sector.  We have proposed extensive revisions in the “Consequential Amendments” section of our law in order to move the governance functions to the Regulator.

The Telecommunications Act of 2005 was important as precedent for the creation of a Regulator for a different public utility function.  We paid special attention to the appellate section of this law enacted in the 2008 amendment and have conformed our own appellate recommendation quite closely to the Telecommunications appeal process.  This should make easier the intended transition to a multi-sector regulator in 2010.

Based on the above mentioned legislation review, the proposed amendments to the EPC Act and other Acts are presented in the Consequential Amendments section of the Drafting Instructions (i.e., Section 4.3.1 of this chapter).
4.3 Drafting Instructions

To conform to the procedures set forth in Samoan Legislative Drafting Handbook recently published by the AG Office, the TA terms of reference require preparation of the drafting instructions for the new Electricity Act, amendments to the EPC Act, and related regulations. These drafting instructions should be approved by the GOS before actual drafting of the new Electricity Act, amendments to the EPC Act and related regulations.  The drafting instructions were prepared based on the power sector regulatory framework approved by Cabinet on 3 September 2008. The drafting instructions cover the details on the objectives of the new Electricity Act, the establishment of the power sector regulator, the roles, functions, legal authorities, location, funding sources and other aspects of the regulator. The drafting instructions were submitted to the MOF and the AG Office, and approved by the AG on 7 October 2008.  The approved Drafting Instructions for Electricity Act of 2008 and Electricity Regulations of 2008 are presented in the following sections.
4.3.1 Drafting Instructions for Electricity Act of 2008

Instructions for the drafting of the Principal Act/Bill establishing the Office of the Samoa Electricity Regulator to be called the Electricity Act 2008.   

The following are the main principles which should be embedded in the Principal Act establishing the Post of Samoa’s Electricity Regulator.  Detailed information regarding the establishment of this post and ancillary matters attached to it are to be contained in Regulations.

1.
Preliminary – The following terms are to be defined in the Bill as follows:
“Minister” means the Minister responsible for the power or electricity sector;

“Ministry” means the Ministry responsible for the power or electricity sector;

“base tariffs”  means charges to be applied to electricity services for the network service provider  to recover the reasonable costs including a reasonable return on investment;

“electricity services” mean electricity generation and/or network services to customers;

“assets” means plants, equipment, power systems, vehicles, and lands used in providing electricity generation and network services;

“service provider” is any entity licensed to provide  electricity generation and/or network services to customers;

“network services” are owning and operating electricity transmission and distribution systems, arranging and/or purchasing adequate power supply for sale, and providing metering, billing, collection, and other customer services to end-use consumers;

“independent power producer” means any generator of electricity for sale to the network services provider that is not owned by the network services provider;

“capital investment plan” is a plan the network service provider develops for power system (transmission and distribution network) expansion and rehabilitation as well as new energy supply to meet consumers’ electricity demand. The plan compares the costs and benefits of all alternatives (including energy demand side management options) in order to assure that those chosen are most beneficial in terms of costs and service;

“public” means all of the people of Samoa, including stakeholders;

“stakeholders” means groups who have a particular interest in the electric sector or that may represent significant numbers of customers.  Stakeholders include Samoa Chamber of Commerce, Samoa Association of Manufacturers and Exporters, Samoa Hotel Association, Samoa Umbrella for Non-Government Organizations, business community and consumers, Electric Power Corporation, Ministry of Works, Transportation and Infrastructure, Ministry of Finance, Attorney General Office, Ministry of Women, Community, and Social Development, Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Labor, and Ministry of Natural Resources, Environment, and Meteorology;

2.
Objectives of Law:  The objectives of this law are to be stated as follows:

(a) 
To create a Regulator who shall exercise independently the functions and powers assigned or transferred to it under this Act.

 (b)
To separate governance and operational responsibilities in the electricity sector 
(c)
To promote economy, efficiency, reliability and affordability of electricity provided by service providers and efficient use of electricity by consumers
(d)
To promote competition in the generation of electricity.

(e)
To promote the use of new technologies by service providers to generate, transmit or supply electricity. 
Establishment of Post of Regulator:  Establish the post of the Electricity Regulator who should be a person appointed by the Head of State on the advice of Cabinet.  Such person is required to have a background in energy and shall have demonstrated competence in positions of public trust.

The term of appointment for the Regulator should be 3 years, however, also insert a provision which will allow for the Head of State on the advice of Cabinet to make an appointment on an interim basis for a period of no more than 6 months.

3.
Removal of Regulator – Include a provision which will allow for the removal of the Regulator by the Head of State on the advice of Cabinet where the following should occur: 
(a)  The Regulator is convicted of any crime involving dishonesty or corruption;
(b)  The Regulator is bankrupt;
(c)  The Regulator is determined by a medical practitioner to be incompetent;
(d)  The Regulator fails to discharge the requirements of the law for a sustained period of time;
(e)  The Regulator breaches the code of conduct detailed in Section 19 of the Public Service Act 2004.

4.
Post- Employment Restriction - Include a provision which prohibits the employment including consultancy services and board membership of the Regulator with or on behalf of any licensee for two years after ceasing to serve as Regulator.  An offence should be created where this is the case, any such person shall be subject to a penalty not exceeding SAT$100,000 and SAT$1,000 for each day that the offence continues.

5.
Office of the Regulator -  A provision should be inserted to establish the Office of the Regulator.  The Regulator should be empowered to hire staff based on their professional competence and to establish competitive salary levels for such staff.  The Office should contain at least one person with expertise in each of the areas of economics, electrical engineering, law, public consultation, and information technology. The Regulator should also be able to engage consulting services.  
6.
Budget of the Office of the Regulator – Empower the Regulator to establish its annual budget and levy an annual surcharge on electricity sale revenues and also to assess license fees to fund its annual budget.  Cabinet should determine the remuneration for the Regulator.
7.
Functions of the Regulator -  A separate Part should be inserted to allow for the functions of the Regulator to be established.   The Regulator may have and exercise such functions as:

(a) Set and monitor electricity tariffs to be charged by the network service provider,

(b) Issue, monitor and enforce licenses,

(c)
 Protect the interests of consumers of electricity 

(d) Prescribe and enforce the standards of electricity services

(e) Review and approve the network service provider’s capital investment plan and power purchase agreements

(f) Provide energy policy advice to the Minister and the Government 

8.
Powers of the Regulator – A separate Part shall be inserted to allow the powers of the Regulator to be established. The Regulator shall have the power to:

(a) Impose and collect license fees and/or surcharges on electricity sale revenues

(b) Impose sanctions including penalties for non-compliance with terms and conditions attaching to licenses

(c) Require licensees to provide all information necessary to carry out its monitoring and enforcement functions

(d) Inspect and monitor service providers’ operations including entering licensees’ premises in order to assure compliance.

(e)  Order licensees to conduct studies or levy a fee upon a licensee for costs of engaging consultants to carry out studies of efficiency and economy of operation and of performance by licensees

9.
Licensing - Insert a separate Part for the issue of licenses.  Such matters are to be included:

(a)  Insert a provision which states that no person or entity may generate electricity other than for their own use, or provide electricity network services, without a license.  Any violation will be subject to a penalty not exceeding SAT$100,000, and SAT$1,000 for each day that the offence continues.
(b)  All licensees must make an application and obtain from the Regulator a license for generation, or network services of electricity.  The Regulator should issue a license upon finding that such a license meets the prescribed requirements. 
(c)  The Regulator shall make regulations on issuing, monitoring and enforcing licenses.  A license issued in accordance with the Act shall have provisions on:



(i) the term of the license



(ii) the service governed by the license



(iii) the conditions - including service standards - of the license



(iv) license fees 



(v) compensation of licensee



(vi) monitoring and enforcement of the terms and conditions of the license



(vii) dispute resolution

(d)  Note that only one license for electricity network services shall exist in Samoa.
(e)  The license shall be for at least ten years and shall be renewable.

(f)  The Regulator must decide on a license application or a request to amend a licence within 6 weeks or else must provide the applicant with a statement explaining why a decision cannot be made in that time period and must indicate when a decision is expected.

(g)  Licenses may be suspended by the Regulator for repeated violation of this law or of license conditions.  Where the Regulator exercises this power of suspension, s/he shall first provide notice to the licensee and an opportunity for the licensee to comment.  The Regulator may revoke a license after restoration of a suspended license where a licensee commits a further offence, but must also provide notice and an opportunity for the licensee to comment on the suspension notice.

(h)  Licensees are not to sell, transfer or lease for more than 6 months to any party any assets without the approval of the Regulator. 

10.  Tariffs -  A separate Part should be inserted into the draft Bill to provide for tariffs which should include the following matters:

(a) Licensees are not to provide electric service at a tariff that is not approved by the Regulator; 

(b) Licensees are to file with the Regulator any changes to their tariff for approval.  Licensees must furnish with the Regulator all necessary supporting information and any other information which may be requested by the Regulator from time to time;

(c) Where the network services licensee files for a tariff change, it must arrange for the notification to the public of such change through the media as well as inserting such information in its customer bills.  The Regulator shall not begin to consider the tariff change until such notification takes place.  The Regulator must conduct public consultation in the decision making process before a tariff is to be changed.

(d) The Regulator must make a decision to accept, reject or modify all requests regarding tariff change within 6 months of receiving such request.

(e) Despite the above, the Regulator may, at his/her own instigation initiate a review of any existing tariff.  The Regulator must carry out consultation with the licensee and the public.  Where the Regulator determines that the tariff is not consistent with the prescribed principles, the Regulator may order that a new tariff be implemented.

(f) The tariffs of electricity services shall be set in a transparent manner to afford the network service provider a reasonable opportunity to recover the reasonable cost of providing services and to earn a reasonable rate of return on investment, and at the same time to reflect the ability to pay of the low income households. When tariff subsidies are necessary, they should be targeted to the needy, be explicit and transparent, and be funded by the government.
(g) The tariffs shall be designed to promote economy and efficiency of electricity services and encourage efficient use of electricity.
(h) The Regulator shall prescribe in regulations in accordance with the Act the principles, methodologies and process for setting tariffs to be charged by the network service provider. 
11.  Service Standards -  A separate Part should be inserted into the draft Bill to make provision for Service Standards and the following matters are to be included:

(a) The Regulator must develop standards necessary for the efficient, safe and reliable provision of electricity services.  Such standards are to be developed in consultation with customers and with service providers.

(b) Standards developed following such consultation shall be issued under regulations, or alternatively such standards shall be imposed as part of the conditions for the issuance of a license.

(c) The Regulator shall consult with the government to set standards governing the extensions of electricity services to presently un-served customers and funding sources for extending these services.

12.   Consumer Protections – A separate Part should be inserted in the draft Bill to make provision for consumer protections. In the performance of consumer protection function, the Regulator shall: 

(a) Review and approve the terms of service for the network services provider, including standards for customer deposits or other measures  to secure payments;

(b) Monitor the network service provider’s response to customer complaints;

(c) Set standards for metering, billing and collection of tariffs and fees;
(d) Investigate and resolve complaints of consumers as to their failure to obtain redress from the network services provider regarding tariffs, billings or unsatisfactory services;

(e) Have the power to determine the requirements for compensation to customers where damage occurs through the network services provider’s  operations;

(f) Have the power to appoint a customer advisory committee to advise the Regulator on issues of importance to consumers, including quality of service and handling of customer complaints.

13.
New Power Supply Planning – A separate Part should be inserted into the draft Bill to make provision for encouraging private participation in the generation of electricity and ensuring economic new power supply. 
The Regulator is to establish regulation to encourage private sector’s participation in the generation of electricity. The Regulator is to require the network services provider to consider and compare all feasible alternatives of new power supply, including independent power producers, in its capital investment plan to ensure economic new power supply.  

14.
Capital Investment Reviews – A provision should be inserted in the draft Bill to make provision for capital investment review powers of the Regulator and for the following matters to be included:

(a) The Regulator is to have the power to review capital investments of the network service provider.  Such investment plans are to be submitted to the Regulator beginning in its fiscal year for 2010.  The plan shall be updated every two years. The investment plan must indicate the licensee’s plan for the next five years describing capital expenditures for proposed network expansion and/or rehabilitation as well as new power supply.  For new power supply, the plan shall consider and compare, in accordance with the regulation established by the Regulator, all feasible alternatives to ensure the most economic new power supply is selected.
(b) The Regulator shall determine and certify that the capital investment plan is economically efficient, and is consistent with the national energy plan and with national environmental and social laws and policies.

(c) Investments made consistently with an approved plan may be recovered from electricity tariffs.
(d) In approving capital expansion/investment plans, the Regulator shall give preference to measures and methods that improve the efficiency of the power system and minimize losses of electricity or waste of energy.
15.
Review of Issuance of Stock for Long Term Debt -  A provision should be inserted to allow for the power of the Regulator to review the issuance of common stock or any borrowing for a term of more than a year by the network services licensee.  The Regulator must have the power to approve such issuance upon finding that the assets to be financed are consistent with the capital investment plan.  Failure by the network services licensee to seek prior approval from the Regulator shall be subject to a penalty not exceeding SAT$100,000.
16.
Review of Agreements with Independent Power Producers -  A provision should be inserted in the Bill to give the power for the Regulator to review and approve agreements between the network services licensee and independent power producers before they take effect.  In approving such an agreement, the Regulator shall ensure that the purchased power is at least cost, and that the contract is consistent with the capital investment plan of the network service licensee.  A breach of this provision will attract a penalty not exceeding SAT$100,000.
17.
Public Information and Consultation -  A provision should be inserted in the Bill for the responsibility of the Regulator to attend to the provision of public information and consultation.  In doing so, the Regulator must attend to the following matters:

(a) The Regulator shall assure that the public and the government are kept fully and currently informed of pending proceedings;

(b) The Regulator shall consult with service providers, representatives of consumers and other stakeholders it considers as having an interest in the matters before it.  The Regulator shall establish and publish public consultation procedures.

(c) The Regulator shall require the network service provider to prepare  and distribute a comprehensive statement of customer rights and responsibilities;

(d) The Regulator shall maintain a toll free number and web site and shall require the network service provider to do so.

18.
 Dispute Resolution – A provision is to be inserted to provide for matters relating to dispute resolution.  The Regulator is to resolve disputes between service providers and an independent generator by setting terms of interconnection and approving the power purchase agreement.  The Regulator is to be empowered to hear disputes between the network service provider and its customer or group of customers after the initial dispute resolution between parties is failed.

19.
 Rules and Procedures – A provision should be inserted to empower the Regulator to determine rules and procedures for the processing of tariffs and license applications as well as dispute resolution proceedings.  Decisions of the Regulator must be in writing and must contain reasons for the decision, sufficient enough to allow an appellate tribunal to understand the factual basis and the legal reasoning for the decision.
20.
Advice to Minister -  A provision should be inserted to provide that the Regulator is to provide advice to the Minister and the Government on matters of electricity sector policy.

21.
Reporting of Offences to the Attorney General – A provision should be inserted to require the Regulator to report all breaches of the Act to the Attorney General and to seek that the Attorney General initiate prosecution for breaches of the Act by any person.

22.
 Annual Reports – A provision should be inserted to provide that the Regulator is required to provide annual reports to Cabinet through the Minister detailing all activities covered by this Act and specifying the progress made toward each of the objectives.  The annual report should also account for funds received and disbursed and shall contain estimates of funding needs and activities for the following year. The annual account statements shall be subject to an independent audit.

23.
Appeal of Decisions of the Regulator To Be Filed with the Electricity Appeals Tribunal- Insert a provision which allows any decision of the Regulator made under this Act to be made by way of a Notice.  The following matters are required for the filing of an appeal under this provision:

 
(a)
A Notice of Appeal must be served on the

Minister and must be accompanied by:

(i) a bank cheque in the amount of SAT$100,000;

and

(ii) a signed written undertaking by the appellant to pay damages and all costs from any appeal found by the tribunal to be clearly frivolous

(b) The appellant must also serve, on the same date, copies of the Notice of Appeal and accompanying documents on the Regulator and the Attorney General and where relevant, to the other person who may be a respondent or party to the appeal.

(c) The Notice of Appeal must be served within 30 days after the date of the decision of the Regulator which is the subject of the appeal.

(d) The Notice of Appeal must set out:

(i) the relevant section of the Act under which the decision appealed against was made; and

(ii) the grounds of appeal which must set out in sufficient detail so as to state -

(A) the grounds upon which the appellant contends that the decision appealed against was based on an error of fact or was wrong in law, or both;

(B) the grounds upon which the appellant is appealing against the exercise of a discretion by the Regulator.

24.
 Electricity Tribunal -  Insert a provision establishing the Electricity Tribunal to be comprised of a presiding member and two (2) other members appointed as follows:

(a) The presiding member shall be a Judge or a lawyer who is qualified to be a Judge, who shall be appointed from time to time by the Chief Justice when the Tribunal is required to hear and determine an appeal;

(b) The other two members shall be appointed by the presiding member from the Panel of Tribunal members, who shall be appointed by the Head of State acting on the advice of Cabinet, these persons are to have the following credentials:

(i) has qualifications and/or experience in economics or finance; or

(ii) has qualifications and/or experience in electrical engineering or electrical  business management; or

(iii) has legal qualifications with an electricity or power sector background.

(c)  Insert a provision which requires that prior to the commencement of a Tribunal proceeding, each member shall be required to state that he or she has:

(i) no personal interest or involvement in the matter under dispute; and

(ii) no association of any nature with any of the disputing parties which may be perceived as affecting the impartiality of the member.

25.
Remuneration of Tribunal Members - A Tribunal member shall be entitled to receive a sitting fee, allowance and other expenses approved from time to time by the Minister.  

26.
 Revocation of Appointment of Tribunal Members – Ensure that the Head of State, acting on the advice of Cabinet, has the power to revoke the appointment of any member of the Tribunal where the member:

(a) Becomes of unsound mind or otherwise becomes permanently unable to perform his or her functions by way of health;

(b) Is convicted of an offence punishable by a term of imprisonment exceeding five (5) years;

(c) Fails without reasonable excuse to carry out any of the functions conferred or imposed on him or her under this Act; or

(d) Engages in activities that are reasonably considered prejudicial to the interest of the Tribunal; or

(e) Has an interest in the proceedings which the member has failed to disclose.

27.
Ministry to Provide Necessary Administrative Support - Insert a provision imposing a duty upon the Ministry to provide the necessary administrative support to the Tribunal whenever it convenes.

28.
 Convening Tribunal Hearings -  Empower the Presiding Member to convene a meeting of the Tribunal as soon as is necessary for the Tribunal to hear and determine any dispute referred to the Tribunal. The Tribunal is to convene at such time and place, and shall conduct its proceedings as determined by the Presiding Member.

29.
 Tribunal Proceedings-  The Tribunal is to have powers and  protections applying to a Commission of Inquiry under the Commissions of Inquiry Act 1964.  Create an offence for any person who, after being summoned or ordered to attend before a Tribunal or to produce any books, papers, writings, or documents to a Tribunal:

(a) Fails to appear according to the requirements of such a summon; or

(b) Refuses to be sworn or to give evidence or to make answer to such questions as may be put to the person by any member of a Tribunal relating to the subject of the inquiry; or

(c) Fails to produce any such books, papers, writings, or documents.

The penalty is to be a fine not exceeding SAT$5,000 or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding six (6) months, or both.

30.
  Principles of Natural Justice To Be Observed - Ensure that each Tribunal proceeding shall be conducted in accordance with the principles of natural justice with the understanding that the matter is to be dealt with as expeditiously as possible.  Despite the desire for the matter to be dealt with in a timely manner, ensure that individuals have the following rights:

(a) Sworn statements be submitted by persons intending to provide evidence or make submissions to a Tribunal; and

(b) The right to cross examine any witness shall be restricted only to matters which the Tribunal considers to be of such a highly probative nature that they need to be tested under cross examination; and

(c) Each party, and any interested person permitted to participate in a Tribunal proceeding, prepare and submit written submissions, and that these be provided to other parties and their representatives on terms determined by the Tribunal; and

(d) Any other things be done or orders be complied with to permit the timely determination of a dispute.

31.
 Government May Be Represented in Any Proceeding- Empower the Attorney General to elect whether s/he wishes to represent the Government.  Where the Attorney General does so, the Government shall be regarded as a party to the dispute.  Ensure that no orders may be made for the payment of any costs associated with any Tribunal proceedings against the Government.

32.
 Tribunal Decisions-  Decisions of the Tribunal are validly made on a majority vote.  As much as possible, the Appeal Tribunal shall give due deference to the expertise of the Regulator; it cannot conduct a detailed economic or technical review of a decision by the Regulator unless it first finds – based on the initial submission from the appellant, the government and any other interested parties – a substantial likelihood that the decision being appealed is technically or economically erroneous.  If the Tribunal does so find, it may:
(a) Confirm, modify or reverse the decision or order of the Regulator;

(b) Refer the decision or order back to the Regulator for re-consideration by it, either generally or in relation to any matter specified by the Tribunal;

(c) Order that the decision of the Regulator to which an appeal relates shall not have effect until the appeal is determined;

 (d) Dismiss the appeal;

 (e) Order costs to be paid against any person but the Government.

33.
 Decision of Tribunal To Be Final - A decision of the Tribunal shall be final and binding on all parties, and all persons named in any order made by a Tribunal.

34.
Government Ministries and Agencies To Assist Tribunal- Impose a duty on all government ministries and agencies to cooperate with the Tribunal and to make available, at no cost, any document or record in its custody which the Tribunal requires, or which may assist in the consideration and determination of a dispute.

35.
Appeal To Bar Litigation- Insert a provision which prohibits individuals from commencing any action in Court regarding electricity unless they have first lodged an appeal with the Tribunal.  Ensure however that this Act is not to be seen as barring any action taken by way of judicial review in relation to a proceeding of the Tribunal.

36.
 Enforcement of Orders – Create an offence for any person who is directed by the Tribunal or under a legal obligation to implement an order made by a Tribunal under this Act, and who refuses or fails to implement the order.  The penalty should be as follows:

(a) In the case of a natural person to a fine not exceeding SAT$10,000 or to a term of imprisonment not exceeding 12 months, or both; or

(b) In the case of a company or other incorporated body, to a fine not exceeding SAT$100,000 for a first offence and SAT$200,000 for a subsequent offence.

37.
 Offences – Insert a general offences provision by imposing a fine not exceeding SAT$500,000 for any violation of this law
38.
 Regulations -  A provision should be inserted to give the Head of State power to make implementation regulations for the provisions of this Act.  In particular, make provision for the making of regulations relating to tariff setting, licensing, public consultation, least cost new power supply, penalties and fees. 

39.
 Transitional Provisions -  Ensure that the Electric Power Corporation is automatically issued a license to cover its existing generation and network service activities for ten years. The Regulator shall establish the appropriate conditions for such licenses in consultation with the licensee and with input from the public within one year of the establishment of the Office. Also ensure that the existing tariffs including fuel adjustment surcharges of the EPC are considered approved by the Regulator.  

40.

Consequential Amendments -  The following laws are to be amended accordingly as follows:

(a)  Electric Power Corporation Act

Section 15(h) – This subsection should be amended to require approval of the Regulator before selling or leasing property in relation to the generation, transmission, distribution or use of electricity.  Approval of purchases should not be required except as provided elsewhere in this law.

Section 15(i) – This subsection should be amended to require the approval of the Regulator of the terms and conditions for the sale of electricity.

Section 15(j) – This subsection should be amended to require the approval of the Regulator of arrangements pursuant to which EPC seeks to recover the capital costs of serving a new customer. 

Section 15A – Amend this provision so as to allow the Regulator to have the power to address any appeals regarding the entering onto the land by EPC employees and the trimming of people’s trees by EPC personnel.

Section 16 (Powers of Corporation) – This section should be amended to modify Section 16 (1) to read ”The Corporation has the power to do all things necessary for or in connection with or incidental to the efficient performance of its functions under this act, especially as required by the Regulator.” 

Section 21 (Accounts) – This section should be amended to require that accounts be kept in accordance with the requirements of the Regulator.  Ensure that the requirements are to be consistent with the Public Finance Management Act and also the Public Bodies Act.

Section 23A (Minister to determine an additional charge by notice) – This section should be repealed as the power of setting tariffs and charges would be transferred to the Office of Electricity Regulator

Sections 24-31 (Licensing) – Licensing of generation, transmission and distribution will be done by the Regulator, not by EPC.  These sections should be amended accordingly.
Section 41 (Claims against EPC for damage from power) – This issue will be covered by regulation in future, so this section should either be deleted or transferred to the regulatory law.
Section 51(h) (Tariff setting) – Tariff setting will be by the Regulator under the regulatory law, not by the Head of State, so this section should be deleted.
Section 51(f) (Fees to customers) – Fees chargeable to customers will be by the Regulator under the regulatory law, not by the Head of State, so this section should be deleted.
Section 51 (i) (Bill payments) – These will be by the Regulator under the regulatory law, not by the Head of State, so this section should be deleted.
Section 51 (j) (Disconnection regulations) – These will be by the Regulator under the regulatory law, not by the Head of State, so this section should be deleted.
A new requirement should be inserted to the effect that EPC is responsible either through building or by contracting with other providers, for assuring that adequate supplies of electricity are available for Samoa.
(b) The Fair Trading Act of 1998

Section 2 (Interpretation) – “Electricity” should be removed from the definitions of “goods” and of “services” because electricity tariffs and conditions of service will be regulated pursuant to this Act.
(c) Value Added Goods and Services Tax Act

Section 15(e) - Delete “under the Electric Power Corporation Act” because electricity might also be supplied by an independent power producer.

4.3.2 Drafting Instructions for Electricity Regulations of 2008 
The following are the detailed information to complete the laws on the Electricity/Power sector.  Ensure that these Regulations are to be called the Electricity Regulations 2008.  They are to commence on the date of assent by the Head of State.  The Regulations are to be divided into different parts to touch on tariffs, licenses, and public consultation. 

The following matters are to be included in the Regulations and ordered as set out as follows:

1. Definitions –  The following shall be the terms defined in the regulations:

“base tariffs” – means charges to be applied to electricity sales for the network service provider  to recover the reasonable costs including a reasonable return on investment. 

“annual revenue requirement” is the annual revenue needed by the network services licensee except for the revenues to be recovered through the fuel adjustment surcharges 

“licensee’s net assets” – Means the net value of all capital assets being used to serve customers minus the accumulated depreciation on those assets, however calculated. 

“rate of return” – Means the overall return on the licensee’s capital, including borrowed funds, equity capital, working capital, grants and capital contributed by customers. 

“depreciation” – Means the return of invested capital to the investor(s) over the estimated life of the asset.

“Operating expenses” – Means all non-capital expenditures for operating and maintenance in all aspects of network service operations, including fuel, purchased power, wages and salaries, materials, repairs, taxes,  administrative and overhead costs

“Licensee” – Means an electricity generation licensee or network services licensee.

“Network services” – Means owning and operating electricity transmission and distribution systems, arranging and purchasing adequate power supply for sale,  and providing metering, billing, collection, and other customer services to end-use consumers;

“Force majeure” means events beyond the reasonable control of, and without the
fault or negligence of the licensee, including acts of God, and actions of the government or municipal government, provided however that licensees must take all reasonable steps to insure  against force majeure conditions and to mitigate their duration.

“capital investment plan” is a plan the network service provider develops for power system (transmission and distribution network) expansion and rehabilitation as well as new energy supply to meet consumers’ electricity demand. The plan compares the costs and benefits of all alternatives (including energy demand side management options) in order to assure that those chosen are most beneficial in terms of costs and service; 

“license” is a document issued by the Regulator giving permission to render electricity generation and/or network service according to specific standards and conditions

“public” means all of the people of Samoa, including stakeholders.

“consultation” means an opportunity for public views to be provided verbally or in writing to the Regulator or a senior official from the Regulator’s office.

“stakeholders” means groups who have a particular interest in the electric sector or that may represent significant numbers of customers.  Stakeholders include Samoa Chamber of Commerce, Samoa Association of Manufacturers and Exporters, Samoa Hotel Association, Samoa Umbrella for Non-Government Organizations, business community and consumers, Electricity Power Corporation, Ministry of Works, Transportation and Infrastructure, Ministry of Finance, Attorney General Office, Ministry of Women, Community, and Social Development, Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Labor, and Ministry of Natural Resources, Environment, and Meteorology;

“test years” means the years to be used as the basis for the Regulator to establish revenue requirements and tariffs for the network service provider. 

“transparency” means openness to public scrutiny, including notice of proceedings, access to all information in the Regulator’s possession, opportunity to obtain information from the licensee and the Regulator, and written decision justifying all decisions.

A.

TARIFF REGULATION – Insert a Part specifically for addressing the issue of Tariff Regulation.

1.
Principles of Tariff Setting – Insert a provision which sets out the following principles to be followed by the Regulator when setting tariffs:
The principles should be as follows:
i. attract necessary investments to ensure adequate power supply and efficient operation of the power system,

ii. promote efficient use of electricity by consumers,
iii. ensure the financial viability of the sector,

iv. balance the interests of service providers and consumers,

v. promote fairness and minimize cross subsidies among consumer groups,

vi. simplicity, easy to understand and ease of implementation,
vii. affordability to low income households; 
2.
Independence of Tariff Setting – Ensure that the decisions of the Regulator on tariff matters shall be final unless overturned or modified by the Appellate Tribunal.  No consent from other government entities shall be required.

3.
Transparency of Tariff Setting – Ensure that tariff setting shall be conducted in an open and transparent process with constructive public participation. Insert a provision which ensures that the decisions of the Regulator are clearly explained in writing, showing the principles, methodologies and reasons used in reaching the decisions s/he comes to.

4.
Base Tariff Setting Schedules -  Impose a duty upon the Regulator to conduct within one year a broad and detailed review of the network service provider’s revenues, expenses, and investments in plants and equipment to establish electricity base tariffs for all consumer groups.  After the initial review, insert a provision which requires that the Regulator is to conduct a similar review every three years to reset the base revenue requirements and the base tariffs of the network service provider.

5.
Interim Tariff Adjustment Schedules -  Insert a provision to ensure that the  Regulator is to develop mechanisms and establish a schedule for adjusting tariffs automatically to reflect changes in fuel prices and/or foreign currency exchanges. These tariff adjustment mechanisms are to be reviewed and updated every year.

Ensure that the Regulator may, at his/her own instigation initiate a review of any existing tariff of service providers.
Insert a provision which allows  the network service provider to request the Regulator to conduct a tariff review between the triennial base tariff reviews upon a demonstration that such a review is warranted. Such a tariff review request shall not be made more than once a year.

6.
Tariff Management and Reporting Requirements – Ensure that the Regulator is to establish within one year: 

(i) an appropriate accounting system for the network service provider and generators to record and report all revenues and expenses taking into account EPC’s obligations under the Public Finance Management Act 2001, and the Public Bodies (Performance and Accountability) Act 2005.

(ii) reporting requirements including the types, contents and schedules of the reports in standardized formats for the network service provider and generators to report sale, financial, accounting, technical and operational data for the purpose of tariff  supervision.

(iii) monitoring procedures to ensure compliance of the tariffs charged by service providers with this Regulation.
 7.
Tariff Setting Process – Impose a duty upon the Regulator to establish in accordance with the Act within one year the process for tariff application, review and decision making, including:  

(i) process for filing tariff applications, acceptance of tariff applications, public notice, staff review of the applications, public consultation, technical consultation, and decision making.

(ii) the data and other requirements for filing a base tariff application including the recorded data for the past three years and forecast data for the next three years

(iii) acceptance of tariff applications by the Regulator
(iv) conducting public notices, community information dissemination workshops, public consultation, and technical consultation, and  

(v) decision making and appeal process

8.
Tariff Setting Methodologies – Impose a duty upon the Regulator to conduct public consultations and establish within one year the methodologies for setting base tariff and interim tariff adjustment mechanisms.

The general steps for setting base tariff should involve: 

(i) determining the total annual revenue requirement for providing service for the test years.

(ii)  allocating the total annual revenue requirement to various customer classes and setting base tariff structures and levels according to the costs of providing service to each customer class.

(iii)   adjusting the levels of the base tariffs established in the above step to reflect government policy related to subsidies for public interests.

Ensure that the methodology shall enable review of the reasonableness of the forecast revenue requirements and assessment of areas for efficiency improvement and cost reduction for the test years. The revenue requirements to be reviewed and analyzed  may include:

(i) fuel costs

(ii) purchased power costs

(iii) repairs and  maintenance costs

(iv) general and administrative costs

(v) overheads 

(vi) taxes,

(vii) depreciation

(viii) plant and equipment investments

(ix) technical and commercial (non-technical) losses

(x) revenue collection efficiency, and 
(xi) others

In addition, a methodology shall be developed to determine a rate of return on investment that is adequate to attract economic investments.

In reviewing the revenue requirements and rate of return requested by the network service provider, the Regulator may conduct technical consultation by engaging experts to perform studies of the efficiency and economy of operation and management of the service provider, and the cost of capital in Samoa.  

For the cost allocation, the Regulator shall require the network services provider to provide demand forecasts and load profiles of various customer groups including the methodologies used for the forecast. 

For the tariff fuel adjustment mechanism, the methodology shall consider: (i) the levels of fuel price fluctuations, (ii) existing and achievable diesel generation efficiency, (iii) impact of fuel price changes on the network service provider’s financial performance, (iv) opportunities for productivity improvement and cost cutting, and (v) the consistency of the movements of fuel prices and tariff adjustments.

For the foreign currency adjustment mechanism, the methodology shall take into account: (i) the impact of foreign currency exchanges on the network service provider’s financial performance, and (ii) fluctuations of foreign currency exchange rates.  

B.

LICENSING REGULATION – Insert another Part for the purpose of addressing the licenses to be issued by the Regulator
1.
Purpose of Licensing – Insert a provision detailing the purposes as set out as follows:
The purposes of licensing are

a. To assure that electric services in Samoa are provided by qualified entities

b. To set forth binding conditions for quality of service and for customer protection

c. To set forth the rights and responsibilities of licensees

d. To establish a clearly understood set of procedures for license issuance, renewal, transfer, suspension and revocation

e. To assure transparency in the granting of licenses

f. To assure public consultation in licensing decisions affecting matters of public concern

g. To assure that the national energy policies of Samoa are reflected in license conditions

2.
Scope of Licensing – Insert a provision setting out the scope whereby a license is required, in particular, note that any person or corporation generating electricity other than for their own use or providing electricity network services must have a license.
3.
Network Services License – Insert a provision dealing with network services license noting in particular the following:
a.
An applicant for a license to provide network services shall set forth in the application the following information and any additional information required by the Regulator:

i. The activities to be performed

ii. The requested duration of the license

iii. The requested service territory

iv. Evidence of the applicant’s financial and technical qualifications

v. Evidence of the applicant’s history of corporate conduct in Samoa and elsewhere, specifically including any criminal or civil proceedings in which the applicant or any corporate affiliate is involved or has been involved during the preceding five years

vi. A description of any proceedings in which the applicant or any corporate affiliate has filed for bankruptcy or has been adjudicated to be bankrupt in the preceding five years

vii. A commitment to comply with all applicable laws and regulations

viii. A commitment to pay all applicable assessments and license fees

b. Requirements for Issuing network services license

Impose a duty upon the Regulator to ensure that 

i. the applicant is financially capable of providing reliable services on an ongoing basis, including the ability to access necessary capital for short and long term need

ii. the applicant is capable of meeting applicable financial reporting requirements and eventually complying with internationally accepted financial reporting standards

iii. the applicant has obtained reasonable insurance against force majeure events

iv. the applicant is technically qualified to provide the licensed services

v. the applicant has a satisfactory history of corporate conduct in Samoa and elsewhere

vi. the public and stakeholders have had adequate opportunity to participate pursuant to the Regulation on  Public Consultation

vii. public concerns have been addressed in the Regulator’s decision

c. Ensure that a license for network services shall contain

i. A description of the services to be provided

ii. The duration of the license, including the effective date

iii. The service territory

iv. A description of the licensee

v. Any necessary technical and customer service conditions

vi. Any necessary financial conditions 

vii. Any necessary reporting requirements

viii. Compensation of service provider

ix. Performance reporting, monitoring and enforcement 

x. License suspension, revocation and renewable procedures

xi. Appeal procedure

d. Insert a provision to provide that a license for network services shall contain technical, and financial standards and a schedule for their improvements over time to be prescribed by the Regulator.  The technical and financial standards shall include:

i. Measurement and reporting of system technical losses.
ii. Measurement and reporting of system non-technical losses and revenue collection efficiency.
iii. Measurement and reporting of diesel generation efficiency, if applicable.
iv. Measurement and reporting of the system average frequency of interruptions.
v. Measurement and reporting to the Regulator of the system average duration of interruptions.

vi. Standards for metering and billing performance. 

vii. Standards for acceptable voltage and frequency fluctuations. 

viii. A condition that the licensee shall be excused from complying with the service standards in the event of force majeure circumstances

e. Ensure that a license for network services shall include a requirement for insurance of licensee facilities in accordance with generally accepted industry standards by procuring all coverage that is available on commercially reasonable terms.  The cost of insurance secured by licensee shall be recognized as a cost of service for the purpose of tariff setting
f. Ensure also that a license for network services shall contain customer service performance standards to be prescribed by the Regulator.  The customer service performance standards shall include:

i. Provisions designed to measure and reduce the number of complaints received.

ii. Provisions designed to measure and improve handling of customer complaints by the network service provider.

iii. Provisions designed to measure and improve response time to service calls and calls to emergency phone lines.

iv. Provisions designed to assure billing accuracy and timeliness

v. Standards governing disconnection and reconnection.

vi. A requirement that the licensee shall provide the Regulator access to the licensee’s records regarding a customer who disputes a bill  

vii. A condition that the licensee may disconnect service immediately in the event of danger to health and safety or theft of service.

viii. A condition that the licensee may require a reasonable deposit from a domestic customer who has previously been disconnected for non-payment or from any nondomestic customer whose credit history reveals a substantial risk of non-payment. 

g. A condition that the Regulator shall, in consultation with the licensee, have the power to modify the technical, financial and customer service performance standards through procedures consistent with the Regulation on Public Consultation.  If such modifications increase licensee operating expenses, those increased expenses shall be included in tariffs following the next tariff proceeding.

4.
Generation License – Make a provision for the purpose of generation licences to be issued, in particular, note the following:
a.
An application for a generation license shall contain a complete description of the technology involved, including the capacity, the fuel type, the expected output, the proposed schedule, proof of receipt of all necessary governmental permits, proof of consistency with the network service provider’s capital investment plan, proof of a contract with the network services licensee as well as any necessary interconnection agreement, and such other information as the Regulator may require.

b. Requirements for issuing generation licenses

Impose a duty upon the Regulator to ensure that 

i. the applicant is financially capable of providing reliable service on an ongoing basis, including the ability to access necessary capital for short and long term needs

ii. the applicant is technically qualified to provide the licensed services

iii. the applicant has a satisfactory history of corporate conduct in Samoa and elsewhere

iv. the amount of any guarantee or other measure that is needed to assure that the applicant will complete the proposed project on schedule

v. the proposed generation is consistent with the capital expansion plan and will provide electricity at optimal costs to Samoan customers

vi. the public and stakeholders have had adequate opportunity to participate pursuant to the Regulation on  Public Consultation

vii. public concerns have been addressed in the Regulator’s decision

c. Ensure that a license for generation shall include

i. Any applicable capacity limits

ii. The duration of the license, including its effective date

iii. The anticipated completion date

iv. Any applicable penalties for non-performance

v. Any applicable measurement and reporting requirements

vi. Any necessary technical conditions

vii. Any necessary financial conditions

viii. Performance reporting, monitoring and enforcement

ix. License suspension, revocation and renewal

x. Appeal procedure

5.
Procedural Requirements – Insert a provision to detail procedural requirements needed, in particular, note the following:
a.
Upon receipt of license application and upon concluding that all necessary information has been provided, the Regulator shall acknowledge the application and shall notify the applicant of the expected processing time and any application fees owing.

b. In any proceeding involving issuance, amendment, suspension, revocation, transfer or renewal of a license, the Regulator shall notify affected stakeholders and the general public and shall assure opportunities for effective participation pursuant to the Regulation on Public Consultation.

c. If a license application is rejected or the requested license is modified, the Regulator shall allow the applicant to reapply or to request reconsideration within 30 days.

6.
Monitoring and Compliance – Insert a provision which allows the following:
a.
 A condition that the Regulator shall have access to the licensee’s premises, equipment, personnel and documents in order to assess compliance with the law, and

b. A condition that the licensee will comply with all decisions and procedures of the Regulator pertaining to the conditions attaching to the license.

7.
Licence Renewal – Ensure that there is a provision for the renewal of licenses, in particular, note the following:
Upon an application from a licensee and payment of any applicable fees, a network service license may be renewed for up to fifteen years upon a finding that such a  renewal will further the public good.  In granting such a renewal, the Regulator shall also find that no available alternative arrangement would better serve the public good.

8.
License Transfer - Ensure that there is a provision for the transfer of licenses, in particular, note the following:

No license may be transferred or encumbered in any way without approval of the Regulator.  The Regulator shall only grant such approval upon finding that the proposed action will not impair service and will promote the public good.

9.
Termination, Suspension and Revocation- Ensure that there is a provision for the termination, suspension and revocation of licenses, in particular, note the following:

a.
A license may be terminated upon request of the licensee upon two years notice to the Regulator and upon a finding that adequate service to the public will be maintained

b.
The Regulator may suspend a license upon finding

i. The public health and safety so require, or

ii. The licensee no longer possesses the requisite financial or technical qualifications, or

iii. The licensee has repeatedly violated license conditions, and

iv. Adequate service to the public will be maintained

         c.
The Regulator may revoke a license that has previously been suspended upon finding that

i.  The conditions leading to the suspension have been repeated, and

ii.  Adequate service to the public will be maintained

d.
In any proceeding involving license suspension or revocation, the Regulator shall provide notice to the licensee and an opportunity for the licensee to examine the basis for the Regulator’s conclusions as well as to submit its own comments and evidence.

10.
Dispute Resolution - Include a provision which provides for the use of alternative dispute resolutions so that people do not immediately go to Court as a means of seeking redress for their complaints, in particular, note the following:

In the event of disagreement between the Regulator and a licensee over compliance with provisions of the license, the Regulator and the licensee will attempt to resolve the disagreement using Samoan alternative dispute resolution processes.  If these are unsuccessful, the licensee or other stakeholder who is party to the dispute may proceed to the Appellate Tribunal.

11.
Fees – Impose a requirement for fees to be collected for licenses issued under these Regulations
Licensees are obligated to pay all fees for license issuance, amendment and transfer as well as all assessments on operations
C.

PUBLIC CONSULATION REGULATION – Insert a separate provision to deal with the issue of public consultation, and for the following to be noted:
 1.
General Matters

a. The Regulator shall operate with transparency in all of its proceedings and shall assure that its information is widely available in a timely manner and an easily understood form.

b. The Regulator shall maintain and update a strategy for public education regarding matters of long term importance to the electricity sector, such as improvements in service, availability of low income assistance, reduction of energy theft, need for metering and disconnection policies.

c. The Regulator shall maintain a user friendly web site containing information on the status of major proceedings as well as information on schedules and the rights of the public to take part in such proceedings.

d. The Regulator shall maintain and distribute written materials describing the rights of electricity customers and providing other useful information on such matters as safety and reducing electricity use. 

e. In all proceedings, the Regulator shall assure that the public and all stakeholders have notice at the earliest possible date of the matter under consideration, the schedule and the rules for public consultation.

f. The Regulator shall affirmatively seek and encourage public consultation in regulatory proceedings to further both licensee responsiveness and a well informed public.

g. The public is entitled to all information in the possession of the Regulator except for which has been designated confidential.  The Regulator may charge a reasonable fee for the costs of processing requests for documents.

h. In all proceedings having an impact on the general public, the Regulator shall develop and make known processes by which the public can

i. Get access to the application and all supporting information provided by the applicant

ii. Ask questions of the applicant

iii. Get access to information from the Regulator

iv. Present written evidence and statements of position to the Regulator

v. Present oral statements to the Regulator at public consultation workshops if held 
vi. Exercise appeal rights 

2.
Public Consultation in Tariff and Licensing Proceedings – Ensure that the Regulator shall attend to the following:

a.
The Regulator shall maintain a current list of stakeholders for tariff review and licensing proceedings and notify stakeholders in time to enable them to prepare for participating in the proceedings

b.
In conducting the triennial base tariff review as well as all other proceedings with a widespread public interest, the Regulator shall require the network service provider to conduct at least one community information dissemination workshop in Savai’i and one in Upolu to explain the proceeding, and receive and record comments.

c.
The Regulator shall require the applicant to publish, at the applicant’s expense, public notices of its tariff application in the national newspaper with the greatest circulation.  Notice shall also be given to each stakeholder.  The public notices shall summarize the tariff changes proposed in the tariff application.  Additionally, the notices shall state how the interested parties can participate in the Regulator’s evaluation of the tariff application and where a copy of the application and information can be obtained.

d.
All stakeholders affected shall have the right to make submissions to the Regulator before the decision is made.

e.
A public record of all submissions must be kept.

f.

Each party affected should have the right to see and comment on the submissions made by others.

g.
The Regulator’s decision must be in writing that explains its response to all submissions received.

h.
The Regulator shall publish a draft decision and provide all stakeholders affected the opportunity to make comments for consideration prior to making the final decision.

i.

The decision must be provided to those stakeholders who express a wish to be notified and must be placed on the Regulator’s website.

3.
Confidentiality – Insert a confidentiality provision to ensure that the Regulator may withhold from public disclosure any information that involves national security, information that is commercially sensitive or that involves personnel matters.  These are exceptions to be narrowly construed in order to maximize the information available to the public.

4.
Advisory Committee – Provide for the power of the Regulator to appoint one or more advisory committees to advise it as necessary.  The committee will consist of representatives of consumer groups, key stakeholders, or service providers.

5. Background Paper on Stakeholder Assessment – Phase 2 

The sections of Samoan society that have a stake in the development and implementation of independent power sector regulations include: (i) the Government, (ii) electricity consumers, (iii) the EPC, and (iv) private generators. The interests, benefits and drawbacks of these key stakeholders regarding the proposed power sector regulatory reform are summarized in the following sections. 

5.1 Government
Government’s key interests in the power sector reform are stated in the SNEP 2007 to:
· improve the sector to provide efficient, reliable, affordable and sustainable electricity services, and
· establish a sound regulatory framework for private sector to participate in power generation. 
Government is interested in ensuring reliable and affordable electricity services to support the nation’s economic and social development. In addition, Government is interested in encouraging private investments in power generation so that it can use its limited budget for more pressing needs in social and economic development. 

However, the Government is currently acts as electricity sector policy maker, regulator, and owner of the EPC, and together with its agencies is a significant consumer of electricity.  The current arrangements mean that Government undertakes different roles with conflicting objectives that can result in potentially contentious decisions.  Thus, it is in Government’s best interest to pursue power sector reform to separate the governance and ownership/management of the power sector to improve the performance of the power sector.   

Under the proposed regulatory framework the Government would retain ultimate responsibility for electricity supply by appointing and holding the regulator accountable for his/her performance. The newly passed Electricity Act provides for delegation of many of the electricity sector oversight functions to the independent regulator, and for the implementation of procedures that are designed to ensure objective, transparent, and  consultative decisions on key issues such as the tariff, service quality standards quality and consumer protection.

For the Government a sound regulatory reform offers the following benefits:

· Government delegates the highly technical and complicated responsibility for setting tariffs to an expert and objective independent Regulator. 

· A sound regulatory framework improves the climate for attracting private capital to the power generation market, thereby reducing demands on the national budget.    

· Government’s stewardship responsibilities as owner of EPC and as a major consumer are separated from its responsibilities for approving the tariff – avoiding a conflict of interests in tariff decisions.  EPC’s Board of Directors are charged with safeguarding the interests of the owners of EPC, while the Electricity Regulator is charged with safeguarding the interests of consumers. 

· The Regulator provides expert and objective oversight of the electricity sector and can help provide input to Government on power sector policy. 

5.2 Electricity Consumers
Currently Samoa’s electricity customers rely upon EPC as their sole electricity supplier.  Electricity consumers’ main interests in power sector reform are:

· lowered cost of electricity services,
· improved reliability and quality of electricity services,
· more responsive consumer services, and 

· to be informed and given opportunities to provide input  before changes to the terms and conditions of electricity services.
Protection of the legitimate interests of electricity consumers is the over-riding objective of the new regulatory framework.  The benefits that can flow to consumers from an effective regulatory framework include:

· Improvements in the reliability and quality of electricity services - the Regulator would establish standards for the electricity services to consumers (reliability, power quality, supplier responsiveness to customer complaints etc.) and would monitor and enforce these standards.
· Reduced costs of electricity services - The Regulator would require the electricity services provider to identify and implement measures to improve efficiency and productivity, and reduce energy losses to cut the costs of electricity services. However, it should be noted that the diesel fuel prices for power generation are beyond the control of the Regulator.   

· Consumer protection – the Regulator would establish rules and procedures for consumers to register their complaints and resolve disputes with electricity services provider.

· Public Consultation - the Regulator would make provision for consumer participation in the development of decisions concerning the terms and conditions of electricity services.
· Transparent decision making – the Regulator would make decisions affecting the interests of consumers in an open process and prepare decisions in writing with explanations for the reasons for tariff and other key regulatory decisions.
5.3 Electric Power Corporation

The EPC’s interests in power sector regulatory reform are in alignment with those of the Government and electricity consumers. EPC, as stated in its corporate plan, aims to provide efficient, reliable and affordable electricity services to all consumers in Samoa. Furthermore, the Public Bodies Act (2001) mandates EPC to operate as a commercial business.  Thus, EPC, as a commercial business, has an interest in recovering fully its costs of providing electricity services including a reasonable return on its investment. 
However, EPC had been unable to run as a commercial corporation as timely adjustments to tariff in response to increased costs were not made. EPC’s electricity tariff remained unchanged since 2001 until May 2005 when a 15% increase was approved by the Government. As a result, EPC suffered financially and was forced to defer maintenance and repairs, further complicating the problems of the power system. 
The new regulatory reform would benefit EPC as follows:

· Improved financial health resulting from new tariff regulation – In accordance with the newly passed Electricity Act, tariff will be set based on published criteria and methodology with a specific time schedule for tariff decisions. This would provide EPC opportunities to earn a reasonable return on investment, and attract sufficient amount of capital needed for expanding and upgrading power system to meet the growing demand and improve electricity services.

· More focus on management and operation of utility’s core business to improve electricity services – The Electricity Act 2010 transfers EPC’s certain responsibilities that lie outside of its core business such as licensing, inspection of house wiring work, and tariff setting to the Regulator or other government agencies. This would enable EPC to focus on management of utility operation and improvement in electricity services.
· To be more commercially oriented – EPC would be able to operate as a business corporation as the Electricity Act 2010 mandates treatment of social subsidies more transparently and explicitly. The Act makes subsidies to the low-income households such as assistance to pay for electricity tariffs or rural electrification the responsibilities of the Government and be funded by the Government not EPC.   

On the other hand, the Act requires the Regulator to set new technical, management and service performance standards, and operation, accounting and financial reporting requirements that EPC would have to comply with. Thus, EPC would be required to take certain actions so it could comply with the requirements of  the new regulation. These include:

· Upgrade its financial management information and business management systems – EPC would need to do this to meet the expected reporting requirements of the Regulator.  This ideally involves the unbundling of EPC’s functional costs (generation, purchase/dispatch, network operations, and customer services), and the reporting of performance against several benchmarks that would provide the Regulator with essential information on the efficiency of EPC’s different functions. It is noted that ADB has provided a technical assistance to EPC for improvement of its financial accounting systems, ADB TA 4994-SAM Component 4: Resident Advisor for Financial Performance Improvement to EPC.
· Develop tariff design capacity – The Act requires the Regulator to set new criteria, methodologies, formulas, reporting requirements, public information and consultation requirements and procedures for establishing electricity tariff. EPC would need to develop its capacity in these new regulatory areas so it could prepare the required data and tariff applications and justifications to convince the Regulator (and the public) to approve its tariff applications.     

· Strengthen management capacity and employee training – Under the Act, EPC will be required as part of the licenses’ requirements to improve its efficiency, reliability and quality of electricity services and become more customer-oriented. This could be accomplished only by capable and motivated management and employees. In addition to the financial and accounting capacity building mentioned above, strengthening of EPC’s capacity in efficiency and productivity management, energy loss reductions, customer services and communication, customer complaint handling, and regulatory affairs would be necessary. In addition, appropriate employee training programs would need to be implemented to enable its employees to perform effectively and efficiently under the new regulation.

·  Prepare for private power generation – EPC would need to establish un- discriminatory interconnect requirements for all private generators to ensure the safety, security, efficiency and reliability of the power systems. In addition, EPC would need to develop power purchase agreements, power dispatch and control codes and bills settlement procedures to facilitate private power generation. These required documents would need to be approved by the Regulator prior to their implementation.      
5.4  Private Generators 
The Act encourages economic private power generation. Under the new regulatory framework, if a private generator could generate power at a cost less than that of EPC’s own generation, or provide positive benefits to the power system such as providing back-up power to maintain the power system safety and reliability, the new regulation would encourage such a private generator.

In 2008, there were about 9 MW of private diesel generation units in Samoa (per Samoa Chamber of Commerce). These were the back-up generators owned by large electricity consumers such as hotels, supermarkets, and others for use in the event of supply interruptions. Some of these private generators have generation capacity exceeding their own needs and have expressed interests in selling surplus power to EPC.  Others are interested in: (i) selling power to EPC during the system peak demand periods, and/or (ii) providing EPC their generation units as back-up generators for the power system when EPC’s generation units are not available.
As Samoa’s economy continues to grow and power demand continues to increase in the future, there would be need for new generation. The new regulation will require EPC to acquire the new power supply through a competitive bidding process. If a private generator could provide power supply less expensive than EPC’s own marginal cost of new power supply, EPC will be required to purchase new power supply from such a private generator to reduce overall power supply costs.
Samoa Strategic Action Plan for SNEP 2007 has established an ambitious goal of increasing the contribution of renewable energy for energy services and supply by 70% by 2030, and included actions to encourage private participation in the supply of renewable energy. Some consumers, e.g., hotel owners, have expressed interests in installing small scale renewable generation, such as photovoltaic (PV) panels for own use and sell any surplus power back to EPC. Such arrangements for private-owned small scale renewable energy such as solar PV power have been implemented in the United States, Germany and many other countries to promote private renewable energy. To help achieve the goal of increasing renewable energy, the Regulator would need to develop appropriate regulations to encourage installation of private small-scale renewable energy.
In a properly designed regulatory framework, private participation in power generation would result in positive benefits for key stakeholders. Owners of the existing back-up diesel generators in Samoa would improve the utilization of the generation units and increase earnings from their assets. New private power suppliers would profit from selling power to EPC.  EPC would be able to secure more economic power supply and reduce its need for reserved capacity, thus reducing overall cost of power supply and benefiting all electricity consumers.

Private generators would be expected to absorb some risks that go along with the potential rewards from the opportunity to profit from power sales to EPC:

· They would need to invest in additional equipment to ensure that their generation units meet the technical and operation standards required to interconnect with the network without jeopardizing the safety and stability of the power system.
· New power suppliers are generally structured to bear the risks that they are in the best position to manage, such as construction cost over-run, equipment operating cost increase (excluding purchased fuel) and equipment availability.  Costs outside of their control, such as fuel, are likely to be a straight pass through for recovery from the buyer.

5.5 Common Regulatory Risks to All Stakeholders
To realize the potential benefits to stakeholders described in the previous sections, the new regulatory framework must be properly designed and implemented. The potential risks or drawbacks faced by the new regulatory regime may include: 

· Difficulty in finding a suitably qualified Regulator and regulatory staff. 

· The Regulatory function is inadequately funded.  This can threaten both the quality of regulation and the independence of the Regulator.

· The Regulator’s performance below the expectations. 
· Government’s interference in regulatory decisions.
· Lack of Government funding for tariff subsidies to low-income families and for rural electrification that would be required to enable EPC to operate as a commercially oriented corporation.  

· “Capture” of the Regulator by stakeholders with interests that run counter to those of consumers.   

· Information asymmetry – the Regulator efforts to gain timely access to important information that is produced by licensees are frustrated.

The detailed regulations to be issued by the regulator in accordance with the Electricity Act 2010 shall be designed in way that helps mitigate these risks.
6. Public Commuincation and Consultation Strategy – Phase 2 
As summarized in the previous chapter, the Government, electricity consumers, EPC and private generators all have interests in the power sector regulatory reform. This Chapter summarizes the public communication and consultation process implemented in 2008 and 2009 for design of the new power sector regulatory framework and preparation of the Electricity Act 2010.
6.1 The Strategy

In consultation with the MOF and AG Office, we had developed a public communication and consultation strategy reflecting Samoa’s cultural and social situations. The aims of the strategy were to: (i) inform stakeholders of the proposed regulatory reform in a timely manner, and (ii) consult with stakeholders in the design of a new regulatory framework and preparation of Electricity Act 2010. The strategy focused on the following key stakeholders:

· Government Stakeholders – representing by the Power Sector Expansion Project Steering Committee (PSEPSC, comprising of the CEO of the MOF (chairperson), Office of the Attorney General, and the CEOs of the Ministry of Works, Transport and Infrastructure, Ministry of Natural Resources, Environment and Meteorology, Ministry of Women, Community and Social Services, Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Labor, EPC, and Samoa Water Authority), and the Ministry of Communications.  
· Electricity Consumers, Business Community and Private Sector Stakeholders – representing by village leader (mayors), village women councils, large electricity consumers, Samoa Chamber of Commerce, Samoa Association for Manufacturers and Exporters, Samoa Hotel Association, Samoa Association of Women in Business,  Samoa Umbrella for Non-Government Organizations, and other business community and private sector representatives.
The public communication and consultation strategy included the following key elements:
· Presentation of the proposed scope of the regulatory framework to Government stakeholders (PSEPSC) on 30 June 2008 – The power sector reform objectives and policy, and the options, key issues and general design of regulatory framework were discussed with the Committee and the Committee’s comments were received.
· Submission of a brief Cabinet Paper on the proposed power sector reform in late August 2008 – The Paper (presented in Chapter 4) summarized the objectives, policy and key features of the proposed regulatory framework and milestones. This paper was approved by Cabinet on 3 September 2008. Approval of this Cabinet paper was a precondition for the MOF and AG’s Office to conduct public consultation workshops.
· Conducting by MOF and the AG’s Office public consultation workshops to inform the public the proposed regulatory reform and seek public inputs on the detailed design of the proposed regulatory framework in November 2008 – Invitations were sent to over 350 people representing the key stakeholders mentioned above. Four public consultation workshops were held:
(i)      Vaisala, Savaii on 17 November 2008,
(ii) Lalomalava, Savaii on 18 November 2008, 
(iii) Mulifanua, Upolu on 20 November 2008, and 
(iv) Apia, Upolu on 21 November, 2008. 
The proposed regulatory reform objectives and preliminary design of the regulatory framework were presented to the workshops participants, and their comments and inputs were recorded for consideration in the design of the regulatory framework and drafting of the Electricity Bill and related regulations.
· Review and comment by Government stakeholders on the draft Electricity Bill and related Regulations in December 2008 – The draft Electricity Bill, Amendments to EPC Act, and related Regulations were prepared taking into account the comments received from the public consultation workshops. The MOF circulated these draft documents to other Government stakeholders mentioned above for review and comments. The comments received were incorporated into the final draft Electricity Bill and related Regulations for the MOF’s approval.
This public communication and consultation strategy was consistent with the public consultation requirements set forth in the Legislative Drafting Handbook issued by the Office of the Attorney General. 
6.2 Outcomes of Public Consultation Workshops

A total of over 250 participants attending the four public workshops held on 17, 18, 20 and 21 November 2008.  They were the representatives of the key stakeholders from the electricity consumers, business and international community, and government agencies, including village leaders (majors), village women council representatives, owners of private businesses (hotels, guest houses, etc.) and SOEs, and international donor agencies (Australian Agency for International Development and New Zealand High Commission).
At each workshop, a presentation of the slides on the proposed regulatory reform objectives and draft design of the proposed regulatory framework (Appendix B) was given first. Then, a question and answer session was conducted with the objective of soliciting comments from the audience. A number of comments were raised at each workshop and representatives of MOF and AG Office and TA consultants responded to comments from the audience for clarifications. 

Following the Workshop on 21 November the MOF staff and the TA consultants participated in a television interview on the regulatory reform proposal that was broadcast through-out Samoa on the Samoan TV3 channel.

Widespread support for the proposed power sector regulation was evident at all workshops, with endorsements largely confined to comments that benefits of regulation need to exceed the costs.  Some of the most important comments are summarized below.

1. Cost of regulation is proposed to be paid from license fees and/or surcharges to electricity tariff. This will add to the already high electricity tariff. 

2. Can the Office of Power Regulator be staffed with suitably qualified and experienced personnel?  Many participants expressed the hope that a Samoan could fill the role, but recognized that expatriate appointee and support are likely necessary – at least in the first one or two terms.  

3. Under the proposed regulation, electricity tariff would be set based on economic  and commercial principles and criteria. How would the proposed regulation address the affordability problems of the low-income households?

4. The proposed merging of the Office of Telecommunications Regulator with the Office of Power regulator into an Office of the Multi-sector Regulator in 2010 may be too hasty. 

A full list of comments received at all workshops is presented in Appendix C. All these comments were considered in the preparation of the draft Electricity Bill that was subsequently passed by Parliament in 2010 as Electricity Act 2010.
7. Electricity Act 2010 – Phase 2
The English version of the Electricity Act 2010 passed by the Samoan Parliament on 19 October 2010 is presented in Appendix D.
8. Implementation of the Regulatory Framework – Phase 3
This chapter summarizes the results of the tasks performed in Phase 3: Implementation of the Regulatory Framework. On 28 February 2011, ADB provided to the Consultant the revised terms of reference for the Phase 3 as shown below:
During Phase 3 the Consultant will assist the Government to establish the Office of Electricity Regulator as per the requirements of the Electricity Act. The Consultant is required to: 
1. Prepare in coordination with the MOF, a detailed budget and funding requirements for inclusion in the national budget for the fiscal year 2011-2012. 

2. Based on the identification of resource requirements, prepare detailed terms of references and qualifications for the regulator and key regulatory staff positions.
3. Assist the Government in advertising, identifying and recruiting a suitable candidate for the regulator and other key positions of the regulatory agency. 

4. Prepare regulatory procedures for performing the roles and the functions of the Office of the Electricity Regulator. 

5. In consultation with EPC, prepare templates for tariff submissions and establish procedures for approval of tariffs, taking into the need for public consultation.
8.1 Proposed Organizational Structure for the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator 
Subsection 4(8) of the Electricity Act 2010 provides that a person appointed as the Electricity Regulator may concurrently be appointed as the Telecommunications and Broadcasting Regulator, and subsection 8(12) stipulates that the Office of the Regulator established under the Telecommunications Act 2005 or the Broadcasting Act 2010 may be the same as the Office of the Electricity Regulator. Subsection 8(5)(b) of the Act further provides that the (multi-sector) Regulator may share support staff, office premises, and other resources in order to economize on the costs of regulation.

A meeting was held on 12 April 2010 with the staff of the Office of the Regulator established under the Telecommunications Act 2005, and with the current Regulator and the legal counsel again on 19 April 2011 to identify the support staff, office premises, and other resources that the Office of the Electricity Regulator could share with the Office of the Regulator for Telecommunications and Broadcasting. The participants generally agreed that the existing support staff, including corporate services staff (human resources, accounting, administration, logistics, information technology support, etc.), together with the existing legal, and regulatory staff could be shared with the Office of the Electricity Regulator. However, the Office of the Regulator has recently taken on additional responsibilities in the broadcasting and postal services sectors, and the current support staff do not have the capacity to handle responsibilities in the electricity sector without increases in staff numbers.  
Taking into account the staff and other resources available at the existing Office of the Regulator, the proposed organisational structure for the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator (for electricity, telecommunications, broadcasting and postal services) is shown Figure 8-1. A total 7 new positions, including 3 electricity sector specialists, 3 regulatory support staff and 1 driver, are proposed for the electricity regulation. It is proposed that the current Regulator for Telecommunications and Broadcasting sectors also cover Electricity Sector on an interim basis.  
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The proposal of the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator with shared support staff, office premises and other resources among the multiple sectors could create a potential problem that regulatory functions may be cross subsidized from one sector to another. This is because the Telecommunications Act, Broadcasting Act, and Electricity Act all stipulate that the funding for the sector regulation be provided from the license fees or levies from each respective sector.  To avoid the potential cross-subsidy problem, an appropriate method for allocating costs of shared support staff, office premises and other resources should be developed. For staff dedicated exclusively to electricity or to another regulated sector, their costs can be easily allocated to each individual sector. The costs of the Regulator’s Office attributable to each regulated sector should be billed to that sector to avoid potential cross subsidy. 
8.2 Terms of Reference for the Multi-Sector Regulator and Key Positions
The terms of reference for the Multi-sector Regulator and the proposed 6 new professional positions (3 electricity sector specialists and 3 regulatory positions) for the electricity sector shown in Figure 8-1 are provided below.

8.2.1 Terms of Reference for Samoan Multi-Sector Regulator
Primary Objective: To establish, develop and operate Samoa’s Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator to carry out the statutory functions of the Electricity Act 2010, the Telecommunications Act 2005, the Broadcasting Act 2010, and the Postal Services Act 2010. 

Responsible To: The Multi-sector Regulator will be appointed by the Head of State on the advice of the Cabinet, and submit annual reports to Parliament.
Duties: The successful candidate will manage the implementation of modern regulatory functions within Samoa’s electricity, telecommunications, broadcasting, and postal services sectors and will be empowered to take independent decisions that serve the public interest. The appointee will:
1. Manage the establishment and development of the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator by expanding the existing Office of the Regulator for telecommunications, broadcasting and postal services sectors;

2. Devise detailed rules, regulations, and procedures for effective implementation of the regulatory functions mandated by the Electricity Act 2010, the Broadcasting Act 2010, and the Postal Services Act 2010 (the rules and regulations for implementation of the Telecommunications Act 2005 have mostly been established); 

3. Undertake the statutory functions of the Multi-sector Regulator as defined in the Electricity Act 2010, the Broadcasting act 2010, the Postal Services Act 2010, and the Telecommunications act 2005; 

4.  Build appropriate relationships with consumers and the Government;

5. Ensure effective, impartial, and timely regulation; 

6. Construct and manage an annual work plan for the Office including budgets; 

7. Prepare and submit Annual Reports to Parliament; 

8. Provide strategic input to Government on electricity, telecommunications, broadcasting and postal services sector policies; 

9. Mentor local staff and drive the development of their capabilities and sector knowledge; 

10. Develop staff and systems to enable a successful succession within 3 years;

11.  Advocate the benefits of investing in Samoa’s electricity (generation), telecommunications, and broadcasting sectors.

Essential Capacities: 

Sector Expertise: A thorough understanding of the electricity supply industry (generation, transmission, distribution, and customer services) including generation by both public and private sector entities is required. Additional expertise in the telecommunications sector, the broadcasting sector, and/or the postal services sector is desirable.

Regulation: In-depth knowledge in key areas of electricity regulation including: (i) licensing, (ii) setting, measuring, monitoring, and improving power system operational performance and standards such as system reliability, technical and non-technical losses, power quality, interconnection, and power dispatch and control, (iii) power system expansion planning and capital investment, (iv) tariff setting and policy formulation, subsidies, and assessment, (v) establishing, monitoring and enforcing customer service, financial performance and productivity standards of licensees, (vi) consumer protection, (vii) public participation, (viii) dispute resolution,  and (ix) independent power production is required. Additional experience or knowledge in telecommunications, broadcasting or postal services regulation is desirable.

Communication: Ability to: (i) conduct the Regulator’s functions in an open and transparent manner, (ii) undertake public consultation and establish effective processes to deal with the outcomes of such consultations, (ii) establish effective and constructive relationships with Ministers and Government Officials, (iii) liaise with all stakeholders in an unbiased way, and (iv) work in a cross cultural environment and emerging economy.

Leadership: Direct projects and initiatives that will ensure that the required regulatory functions are delivered, and actively leads strategy and policy formulation. 

Management:  A respected professional with sound judgment and ethics who is experienced in: (i) mentoring and building the skills of individual staff and the capacity of organizations, (ii) providing timely and honest performance feedback, both directly and through an appraisal process, (iii) setting and managing individual’s expectations, (iv) developing a rapport with staff and can resolve staff issues or conflict. 

Selection Criteria:
1. Minimum 10 years of experience in the electricity supply industry (Essential); additional experience in the telecommunications, broadcasting, or postal services sectors (Desirable).
2. Comprehensive knowledge of the principles and practices that underpin economic and technical regulation in the electricity sector (Essential), additional knowledge in economic and technical regulation in the telecommunications, broadcasting, or postal services sectors (Desirable). 

3. An advanced degree; relevant qualifications could be in the fields of Engineering, Telecommunications, Broadcasting, Law, Economics, Finance, Accounting or a related discipline (Desirable).
4. Direct experience in electricity or telecommunications regulation; responsible for at least three regulatory decisions and/or determinations (Desirable).
5. Management experience and demonstrated leadership abilities (Essential).
6. High level of professionalism and ethics (Essential).
7. Excellent communications skills, both verbal and written (Essential).
8. Highly motivated and sound judgmental skills(Essential).
9. Willingness to be based full time in Apia for the term of the contract (Essential).
10. An appreciation of the cultural aspects of life in Samoa (fa’a-Samoa) (Desirable).
8.2.2 Terms of Reference for Assistant Chief Executive Officer, Electricity Sector Supervision 

The Samoan Government is now recruiting the personnel who will assist the Samoan Multi-sector Regulator to establish and staff the newly created Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator.  The ACEO, Electricity Sector Supervision will be a senior position with the successful appointee reporting directly to the Regulator.  
Duties: The successful candidate will be responsible for providing the Multi-sector Regulator with specialist technical and analytical support and assistance on matters concerning electricity regulation.  This includes managing the development of technical and economic regulations within Samoa, liaising with advisors on development of standards and tariff setting methodologies, and assisting the Regulator to implement the regulatory functions mandated by the Electricity Act 2010. The position will:

1. Lead the development of the technical and customer service standards and finalization of the resulting regulations, for both generation licenses and network service licenses, including but not limited to:

a. Power system reliability,

b. Power quality standards,

c. Power dispatch and control procedures,

d. Least cost power system planning and expansion,

e. Interconnection requirements for generators,

f. Power system technical and non-technical loss standards,

g. Metering and billing standards, and

h. Generation reliability and fuel efficiency standards.

2. Provide specialist analysis of electricity tariff applications submitted by licensees, conduct public consultation and recommend preliminary decisions to the Regulator for consideration.
3. Supervise the monitoring, evaluation and enforcement of the technical standards specified in generation and network service licenses. 

4. Provide specialist analysis and make recommendation to the Regulator for decision on (a) power system expansion plans and investment proposals, and (b) power purchase agreements submitted by licensees. 
5. Supervise analysis of the cost of power generation and network services including the forecast revenues requirements, capital investment requirements, and actual operation expenses submitted by the licensees.
6. Supervise resolution of technical issues in disputes between licensees, and between licensees and their customers that are referred to the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator.

7. Identify sector policy concerns and make recommendation to the Regulator for contributing to the development of energy sector policy by the Government.
8. Analyze and evaluate the tariff subsidies among various customer classes, and recommend tariff subsidy strategy as appropriate.
9. Provide specialist assessments and supports in the licensing, technical standards, and tariff setting proceedings for the electricity sector.  
10. Supervise preparation of the annual regulatory report for the electricity sector.

Essential Capacities: Candidates are required to possess:

1.  At least 7 years of experience in planning, operating, and/or managing power systems or power economic analysis with minimum of 3 years of experience in a senior management role, 

2.  An advanced degree in Engineering, Economics, Electrical, or a related discipline, and 

3.  Excellent analytical, negotiating, and communication skills (both written and verbal) and people skills in conducting public consultation and dealing with diverse stakeholders and consumers

8.2.3 Terms of Reference for Principal Economic and Financial Officer (Electricity Sector)
The Samoan Government is now recruiting the personnel who will assist the Samoan Multi-sector Regulator to establish and staff the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator.  This Office is being established in accordance with the requirements of the Electricity Act 2010.  The Government hereby seeks applications for the position of Principal Economic and Financial Officer.  The successful appointee will report to the ACEO Electricity Sector Supervision.
Duties: This position will provide analysis and assistance to the ACEO Electricity Sector Supervision in the economic and commercial aspects of electricity regulation. Specific duties include:

1. Assist in development and finalization of the electricity tariff regulations and accounting and reporting regulations under the guidance of the ACEO Electricity Sector Supervision, and finalization of the tariff review and approval procedures, including allowance for public consultation and the other tariff setting requirements of the Electricity Act 2010.

2. Identify issues of electricity tariff methodology and subsidy, and provide recommendations for improvement.  

3. Review and evaluate the cost of services for power generation, and for network services (transmission, distribution and customer services), including the effectiveness of the fuel and foreign currency adjustment mechanisms.  

4. Assess the reasonableness of the forecast revenue requirements for electricity supply services, by among other matters assessing cost allowances, benchmarking the allowances for cost recovery, and by taking into account the needs to balance different stakeholders’ interests. 

5. Monitor and assist in enforcement of electricity tariff regulations and license requirements. 

6. Analyze and evaluate the electricity tariff subsidies, and subsidy funding mechanisms.
7. Evaluate electricity licensees’ compliance with the Accounting and Reporting Regulations.

Essential Capabilities: Candidates are required to have:

1. 5 years of experience in electricity tariff setting, utility financial and accounting analysis, power economics or other relevant work.

2. A degree in Economics, Accounting, Finance, Business Administration or a relevant discipline. 

3. Excellent analytical (especially spreadsheet skills), negotiating, and communication skills (both written and verbal), including effective people skills for conducting public consultation and dealing with diverse stakeholders and consumers. 

8.2.4 Terms of Reference for Principal Electricity Sector Specialist

The Samoan Government is now recruiting the personnel who will assist the Samoan Multi-sector Regulator to establish and staff the newly created Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator.  The Principal Electricity Sector Specialist will report to the ACEO Electricity Sector Supervision.  

Duties: The successful candidate will be responsible for providing analytical, investigative, and research support to the ACEO Electricity Sector Supervision.  This includes support for the development and adoption of relevant technical standards and regulations during the initial phases of regulatory operations, and subsequently the responsibility for assisting the Regulator’s Office to review licensees’ performances, resolve issues between stakeholders, and to investigate and help evaluate complaints filed with the Regulator by electricity consumers.  Relevant duties include:

1. Monitor and evaluate the technical and customer service standards specified in generation and network service licenses; carry out field inspections as necessary; recommend enforcement measures to ensure full compliance with the established standards.

2. Review and assess (a) power system expansion plans and investment proposals, and (b) power purchase agreements submitted by licensees, and make preliminary recommendations for consideration. 

3. Analyze the technical and market potential for energy efficiency and demand-side management programs, and make preliminary recommendation for consideration the strategy for network service and generation licensees to promote cost-effective energy efficiency and demand-side management.

4. Evaluate and monitor demand and supply forecasts by the network service license, identify any potential power supply problems, and prepare remedial recommendations as appropriate.

5. Resolve technical issues in disputes between licensees, and between licensees and their customers that are referred to the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator.

6. Identify and investigate critical technical issues related to electricity sector regulation and recommend measures for cost-effective improvement. 

7. Provide technical supports in the licensing, technical standards, and tariff setting proceedings for the electricity sector. 

Essential Capacities: Candidates will need to have:

1. A University degree in Electrical Engineering or a related discipline,

2. Excellent analytical and communication skills (both written and verbal), and

3. 5 years of experience in the electricity sector.

8.2.5 Terms of Reference for Principal Regulatory Specialist (Electricity Sector)
The Samoan Government is recruiting the personnel who will perform regulatory support function for the electricity sector in the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator.  The Government hereby seeks applications for the position of Principal Regulatory Specialist.   

Duties: The successful candidate will report to the Manager of the Regulatory and Consumer Affairs of the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator and will be responsible for carrying out the following tasks:

1. Assist the Manager of Regulatory and Public Affairs in preparing and finalizing the regulatory procedures for the effective implementation of the statutory regulatory functions for the electricity sector.

2. Assist the Manager of Regulatory and Public Affairs in planning, coordinating, scheduling, and implementing all the regulatory processes, public consultation and public affair activities for the electricity sector.
3. Carry out electricity consumer protection, public participation, community and public information functions.
4. Monitor the network service licensee’s handling and resolution of consumer complaints, and enforce compliance with the consumer protection requirements of the license agreements.
5. Resolve consumer disputes between electricity licensees and consumers that are referred to the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator.
6. Identify any shortcomings of the regulatory procedures hindering the effective and efficient implementation of electricity regulations and recommend improvements for consideration.

Essential Capacities: This position will require:

1. 5 years of relevant experience in regulatory or consumer protection work related to utilities or public companies,

2.  A University degree in Public Policy, Public Administration, Political Science, Marketing,  or in a related discipline, and 

3.  Excellent negotiating and communication skills (both written and verbal). 

8.2.6 Terms of Reference for Principal Legal Officer (Electricity Sector)
The Samoan Government is recruiting the personnel who will carry out legal support function for the electricity sector in the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator.  The Government hereby seeks applications for the position of Principal Legal Officer.   

Duties: The successful candidate will report to the Legal Counsel of the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator and will be responsible for carrying out the following tasks:

1. Assist the Legal Counsel to provide legal support and advice to the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator.

2. Interpret the Electricity Act 2010 and other legislation and policies relevant to the electricity regulation.

3. Assist in providing legal advice and support in the negotiation and preparation of legal documents for generation and network service license agreements, consumer protection, dispute resolution and other electricity regulations, and conducting legal review of the power purchase agreements submitted by the licensees.

4. Assist the Legal Counsel in providing legal support in the court and Electricity Tribunal cases against the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator.

5. Assist in providing legal advice for the consumer and licensee disputes that are referred to the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator. 

6. Assist in providing legal advice in implementing the Government’s electricity sector policies.

Essential Capabilities: This position will require:
1. 5 years of relevant experience in legal or paralegal work related to utilities or public companies,  

2.  A University degree in Law or a related discipline, and 

3.  Excellent analytical, negotiating and communication skills (both written and verbal). 

8.2.7 Terms of Reference for Principal Corporate Services Officer (Electricity Sector)
The Samoan Government is recruiting the personnel who will perform corporate services function for the electricity sector in the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator.  The Government hereby seeks applications for the position of Principal Corporate Services Officer.   

Duties: The successful candidate will report to the Assistant CEO of Corporate Services within the Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator and will be responsible for carrying out the following tasks:

1. Assisting the Assistant CEO of Corporate Service in developing and implementing accurate methods to allocate costs of shared support staff, office premises and other resources among the electricity, telecommunications, broadcasting and postal services regulation.
2. Carrying out all the corporate service functions for the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator, including but not limited to:

a. Office management

b. Administration and clerk duties

c. Accounting and general ledges

d. Human resources duties

e. Logistics

f. Transportation and travel arrangements

g. Office equipment procurement or leasing

h. Information technology work coordination, and 

i. Other corporate service work

Essential Capabilities: Candidates will need to have:

1. 5 years of relevant experience in office management, administration, accounting, human resources, logistics and other administrative work.  

2.  A University degree in Public Administration, Accounting, Human Resource Administration, or a related discipline, and 
3.  Excellent communication skills (both written and verbal) and people skills.
8.3 Budget Proposal for the Office of the Electricity Regulator
Pursuant to the Electricity Act 2010, the Office of the Electricity Regulator shall establish its annual budget. The Electricity Regulator may levy an annual surcharge on retail electricity sale revenues and assess license fees in order to fund the Office, and the Regulator shall hold public consultation to determine the appropriate level of such annual surcharges and license fees. As the Regulator will not be appointed and hold the required public consultation to determine the appropriate level of annual surcharges and license fees for some time, the operations budget for the Office of the Electricity Regulator in the first year (i.e., fiscal year from 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012) will need to be provided from the national budget. It should be noted that the proposed budget for the Electricity Regulator is in addition to the budget of the existing Office of the Regulator for telecommunications, broadcasting and postal services. Thus, the budget of the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator shall be the sum of these two budgets, if approved by the Government.
In addition to the annual operating budget, funding should be provided for capacity building, training and institutional strengthening that are essential for effective implementation of electricity regulation in the initial years. However, due to the financial constraints of the government, only the operating budget covering salaries, wages and office operations has been prepared. This is summarized in the following section.
8.3.1 Proposed Operation Budget for Fiscal Year 2011/2012

In consultation with the State-Owned Enterprise Monitoring Division, a total budget of 1.37 million tala for the fiscal year 2011/2012 was submitted to the MOF for consideration. This proposed budget includes remuneration for staff (0.75 million tala) and limited office equipment and operating expenses (0.62 million tala). As noted previously, a total of 7 new positions for the electricity sector regulation (3 electricity sector specialists, 3 regulatory specialists, and 1 driver) were proposed. In addition, the budget for the new Electricity Regulator for the fiscal year was also included in the proposal. 
For the office spaces, the staff at the existing Office of the Regulator indicated that there will be sufficient office space to accommodate the proposed new positions once the Office of the Regulator moves to its new premises. Thus, the proposed 1.37 million tala budget does not include the expenses of new office spaces; only the office furniture and fittings, file cabinets, book shelves, and limited number of computers, copy machine, and multi-scanner are included in the budget proposal. 
8.4 Recruiting of the Multi-Sector Regulator and Key Electricity Regulatory Staff Positions

As noted previously, a paper seeking the government approval of the organizational structure of the proposed Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator (see Figure 8-1) had been prepared by the Consultant. Subsequently the MOF has finalized and translated the paper into Samoan, and submitted it to the Cabinet for approval. Once the proposed 7 new electricity regulatory positions and 2011/2012 budget for the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator are approved by the government, a committee should be established by the Public Service Commission for recruiting candidates for the Multi-sector Regulator and the new positions for electricity regulation. The terms of references for the Multi-sector Regulator and the 6 new technical and regulatory positions for the electricity sector have been prepared (see Section 8.2) for use in recruitment. 
It is noted that the contract of the existing Regulator for telecommunications will expire February 2012. There is a possibility that the contract of the existing Regulator may be extended for 6 months to August 2012. In any event, it is suggested that the recruitment of the new Multi-sector Regulator be started 6 months before expiration of the service contract of the existing Regulator to ensure there will be a smooth transition for the new Multi-sector Regulator.
Recruiting shall be carried out in accordance with the procedures of the Public Service Commission. For the Multi-sector Regulator position, it is recommended that it be advertised internationally and locally in Samoa. In addition to posting the position on the Public Services Commission’s website and Samoan newspapers, the following English speaking associations of utility regulators are recommended as the initial targets for advertisement. 

8.4.1 Recommended Forums for Advertising the Multi-Sector Regulator Position  
The East Asia and Pacific Infrastructure Regulatory Forum (EAPIRF) (http://www.eapirf.org/)   
This forum has 50 member organizations across 24 countries of the EAP region.  Membership consists of autonomous regulatory bodies and Ministry/Government departments performing regulatory functions in energy, water, sanitation, telecommunications, broadcasting and transportation, as well as some authorities with general competition monitoring powers.

The Australian Utility Regulators Forum (http://www.accc.gov.au/content/index.phtml/itemId/3894)

This forum was established to encourage cooperation between Commonwealth, state and territory based regulators. It has 12 member commissions, including the New Zealand Commerce Commission.

Organisation of Caribbean Utility Regulators (OOCUR) (http://www.oocur.org/index.htm)

This organization has the objectives to assist in the improvement of utility regulation, to foster transparent and stable utility regulation through autonomous and independent regulators in member countries, to undertake research, training & development.  OOCUR has 13 members, consisting of the region’s energy, telecommunications and water regulators, as well as fair trade commissions.
Council of European Energy Regulators (CEER) (http://www.energy-regulators.eu/portal/page/portal/EER_HOME/EER_ABOUT/CEER)

The CEER acts as a platform for cooperation, information exchange and assistance between national energy regulators and is their interface at European level with the European Commission.  The CEER has 29 members - the energy regulators from the 27 EU-Member States plus Iceland and Norway.

The Indian Forum of Regulators (FOR) (http://www.forumofregulators.gov.in/Default.aspx)

This forum has statutory functions aimed at improving and standardizing Indian regulation in the areas of tariff setting, standard setting and consumer protection.  It has 28 member commissions.

The U.S. National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissions (NARUC) (http://www.naruc.org/)

This umbrella organization consists of the members of all 50 U.S. state regulatory commissions.  Several federal commissions are members too, but for the most part their membership is less active than the states. The member regulatory commissions cover electricity, natural gas, telecommunications, trucking, and other sectors. NARUC is subdivided into a number of regional groupings with their own web pages.  It is not necessary to contact them individually.  There are also other regulatory groupings in the U.S. such as the National Regulatory Research Institute or the Institute of Public Utility Regulation.  It is recommended to call the advertisement to the attention of the directors of the organizations.
8.5 Templates for Electricity Tariff Applications
The Electricity Act 2010 provides for the Multi-sector Regulator to set the tariffs charged by Samoa’s electricity network service provider(s) including base tariffs and fuel cost and foreign currency adjustment mechanisms.  The tariffs shall be set to enable an electricity network services licensee to recover reasonable costs including a return on its investments.  The Act requires that base tariffs be reviewed every three years. The Act also makes provision for the Regulator to initiate tariff reviews at any time, and allows for licensees to apply for tariff changes other than at the three year review; the intent being to resolve tariff issues should there be unforeseen and significant change in circumstances.  

The draft templates for electricity tariff applications have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Act and the associated draft Electricity Regulations shown in Appendix E to this report. Table 8-1 provides the contents of the electricity tariff application forms. Appendix F includes the full tariff application forms and the general instructions. 
The completed application forms will provide the operational and financial information to enable the Multi-sector Regulator to assess the efficiency of the generation and network service licensees (fuel / thermal efficiency of generation plant, plant utilization, network losses, billing and collection performance, etc.) and determine the reasonableness of the requested revenue requirements including allowance for returns on investment.

It should be noted that the incoming Multi-sector Regulator will need to finalize the Electricity Regulations, and submit them to the Cabinet for approval. Then, the draft templates for electricity tariff application included in this report shall be finalized to ensure consistency with the approved Electricity Regulations. Once finalized, the templates for tariff applications should be public and posted on the Regulator’s website. It is recommended that training on the electricity tariff setting methodologies and use of the finalized tariff application templates be conducted for the staff of the Regulator, electricity network service licensee, and other stakeholders of the electricity sector. 
8.6 General Regulatory Procedures

The draft Regulatory Procedures for performing the roles and the functions of the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator have been prepared in accordance with the Electricity Act 2010, and the draft Electricity Regulations shown in Appendix E to this report. The incoming Multi-sector Regulator will be required to finalize the Electricity Regulations and submit them to the Cabinet for approval.  The draft regulatory procedures, presented in Appendix G to this report, should then be updated to ensure consistency with the finalized Electricity Regulations.  Then, the final Regulatory Procedures should be posted on the Regulator’s website.

               Table 8-1: Contents of Electricity Tariff Application
[image: image5.emf]I. Summary of Electricity Tariff Proposal 

A.  Revenue Requirement and Tariff Proposal

B.  Key Indicators and Other Data

II. Proposed Revenue Requirement

A. Licensee's Proposed Method to Determine Revenue Requirement

B. Generation and Power Purchases

C. Operation and Maintenance Costs

D. Depreciation

E. Debt & Finance Costs

F. Investment Base and Return

G. Other Revenues

H. Summary of Proposed Revenue Requirement

III. Retail Tariff Cost Allocation

A. Description of Methodology

B. Load Research Data

C. Summary by Tariff Schedule

D. Supporting Schedules

IV. Proposed Tariffs

A. Summary of Tariff Classes

B. Tariff Schedules and Conditions of Service

V. Operational and Technical Information

A. Licensee's Energy Balance

B. Power Purchase Data

C. Customer Accounts Receivable and Collection Data

VI. Compliance with the Electricity Regulator's Directives 

A. Statement of Compliance with the Regulator's Directives

B. Results of Programs to Reduce Energy Losses (example)

Appendix A: Financial and Operational Reports 

Appendix B: Assumptions Used in the Financial Projections  and 

  Revenue Requirement Calculations

Appendix C: The Capital Investment Information 


APPENDIX A: 1Review of Representative Energy Regulators in Small Countries 
TA 4994: Implementing the National Energy Policy, Component 3: Regulatory

and Policy Reform in the Power Sector

Review of Representative Energy Regulators in Small Countries

November, 2008

Selection of Countries/Regulators for Review

•
Similar to Samoa as a small country with limited human resources, or

• 
Has certain aspects of the regulatory practices or experiences that may be desirable for Samoa

• 
The regulator at least 5 years old and functioning satisfactorily

• 
The regulatory framework is generally sound

Regulators Reviewed

Representative Regulators in the Caribbean:

• 
Barbados (population: 264,000, 160 MW system peak demand)

• 
Belize (population: 287,730, 68 MW system peak demand) Bahamas (population: 320,000, 175 MW system peak demand)

• 
Trinidad & Tobago (population: 1,360,000, 1,160 MW system peak demand)

• 
Jamaica (population 2,700,000, 1,190 MW system peak demand)

Representative East Asia and Pacific

Regulators:

• 
Mongolia (population 2,790,000, 540 MW system peak demand)

• 
Philippines Energy Regulatory Commission (91 million population, 6,500 MW peak demand in Luzon power system)

Review Parameters (per TA TOR)

• 
Regulatory Structure:

– A commission ( a chairperson and several commissioners make decisions by a majority of votes), or

– Individuals, a Director General and Deputy Director Generals who make decisions

• 
Sector(s) Covered – Single- or multi-sector

• 
Functions & Responsibilities

• 
Decision Making Process : public hearing, consultation and advisory, or quasi-judicial process (a trial-type proceeding that involves utility filing of an application (e.g. rate increases), discovery, pre-hearing conferences, oral and/or written testimony and rebuttal, cross-examination, administrative law judge decisions, a final commission decision or order.

• 
Regulator Appointment/Location: Who appoint the regulator, whether it is an autonomous entity

• 
Sources of Fund: Government budget, fees and/or levies

• 
Legal Authorities

Barbados’ Fair Trading Commission (FTC)

Barbados has one of the oldest autonomous regulatory agency, Public Utilities Board (PUB) established in 1995. PUB was replaced by the FTC in 2001

• 
Structure – Commission (consisting of 11 commissioners, part-time positions)

• 
Sectors – Initially electricity, telecommunications, and water (included in subsequent years)
• 
Functions – Tariff and quality of service standards setting and enforcement, consumer protection and fair competition

• 
Regulatory process – Public hearing, and consultative

• 
Regulator Appointment/Location – Commissioners appointed by the Minister of Commerce, Consumer Affairs and Business Development, an autonomous entity, but annual reports to the Ministry

• 
Sources of Fund: Government grant and levies on service providers

• 
Legal Authorities - empowered by the Fair Trading Commission Act 2001 to make independent decisions & carry out the statutory functions

Belize’s Public Utilities Commission (PUC)

Established in 1999 with a 2-person staff, growing to more than 15-person staff

• 
Structure – Commission (7 commissioners, full/part-time positions, Chairperson is responsible for the day-to-day operations of PUC)

• 
Sectors – Initially electricity, then water (in 2001) and telecommunications (in 2002)

• 
Functions – Tariff and quality of service standards setting and enforcement, licensing, consumer protection

• 
Regulatory process – Public hearing, and consultative

• 
Regulator Appointment/Location – Commissioners appointed by the Ministry of Public Utilities, Transport, Communications and National Emergency Management, an autonomous entity, but annual reports to the Minister

Belize’s Public Utilities Commission (PUC) -continued

• 
Sources of Fund: consolidated revenue fund

• 
Legal Authorities - empowered by the Public Utilities Act 1999, Electricity Act amendment 1999, Water Industry Act 2001, Telecommunications Act 2002 to make decisions and carry out duties independently.

Bahamas’ Public Utilities Commission (PUC)

Established in 2000

• 
Structure – Commission (3 commissioners, a full-time chairperson and two part-time commissioners, the Law allows 3 to 5 commissioners)

• 
Sectors – Established for telecommunications, electricity and water sectors, but currently regulates telecommunications only

• 
Functions – Tariff (for dominant services) and quality of service standards setting and enforcement, consumer protection, licensing

• 
Regulatory process – Public hearing, and consultative

• 
Regulator Appointment/Location – Commissioners appointed by the Governor General on the advice of Prime Minister, an autonomous entity, but annual reports to the Ministry of Finance and Prime Minister

• 
Sources of Fund: Levy on regulated utilities, government appropriations, and license fees.
• 
Legal Authorities - empowered by the Public Utilities Act 1993 and amendment 1999 to make independent decisions.

Trinidad and Tobago Regulated Industries Commission (RIC)

The former public utility commission established in 1966, was replaced by the RIC in 1999

• 
Structure – Commission (a chairperson, a deputy chairperson, and 4 part-time commissioners)

• 
Sectors – Electricity, water and sewage (initially, the RIC regulates the telecommunications. After 2001, a separate regulatory authority was established to regulate the telecommunications sector)

• 
Functions – Tariff and quality of service standards setting and enforcement, consumer protection

• 
Regulatory process – Public hearing, and consultative

•
Regulator Appointment/Location – Commissioners appointed by the President, an autonomous entity, but annual reports to the Parliament and the Ministry of Finance







• 
Sources of Fund: Levy on regulated utilities, license fees, and grant funds.

• 
Legal Authorities - empowered by the Regulated Industries Act 1998 to make independent decisions.

Jamaica Office of Utilities Regulation (OUR)
The OUR was established in 1996.

• 
Structure – Individuals (1 Director General, and 2 Deputy Directors General, all full time positions)

• 
Sectors – Electricity, water and sewage, telecommunications, and transport

• 
Functions – Tariff and quality of service standards setting and enforcement, consumer protection, licensing 

• 
Regulatory process – Public hearings,
consultative process
•
 Regulator Appointment/Location – Director General appointed by the Governor General and Deputy Directors General by the Prime Minister, an autonomous entity, but annual reports to the Parliament

• 
Sources of Fund: Levy on regulated utilities, and license fees.

• 
Legal Authorities - empowered by the Office of Utilities Regulation 1995 to make decisions and carry out functions independently.

Mongolia Energy Regulatory Authority (ERA)

The ERA was established in 2001.

• 
Structure – Regulatory Board (1 Chairperson, and 2 regulators, all full time positions)

• 
Sectors – Electricity, and heating

• 
Functions – Tariff and quality of service standards setting and enforcement, consumer protection, licensing

• 
Regulatory process – Public hearings, the Energy Law also creates a part-time advisory board consisting of representatives from consumers and licensees to provide advices to ERA on important cases.

• 
Regulator Appointment/Location – All the regulators appointed by the Prime Minister, an autonomous entity, but annual reports to the Cabinet

• 
Sources of Fund: license fees and charges for regulatory services provided to licensees

• 
Legal Authorities - empowered by the Energy Law 2001 and amendment 2002 to make decisions and carry out duties independently.

Philippine Energy Regulatory Commission (ERC)

The ERC was established in 2001. The ERC was transformed from the former Energy Regulatory Board established in 1987

• 
Structure – Commission (1 Chairperson, and 4 commissioners, all full time positions)

• 
Sector – Electric Power

• 
Functions – Tariff and quality of service standards setting and enforcement, consumer protection, competitive power market

• 
Regulatory process – Quasi-judicial (trial-type) hearings

• 
Regulator Appointment/Location – Commissioners appointed by the President, an autonomous entity, but annual reports to the Congress

•
Sources of Fund: Government budget

•
Legal Authorities - empowered by the Electric Power Industry Reform Act of 2001 to make decisions and perform duties independently.

Key Observations of Relevant International Experiences

• 
The regulatory frameworks (in terms of model, independence, accountability, funding sources, functions, legal authorities, etc.) reviewed are generally satisfactory as all of them were designed with assistance from international experts

• 
Multi-sector regulator is popular in small countries as it has the advantages of synergy and cost savings from sharing of resources; the best practice is to start with a single sector regulator and then transform into a multi-sector regulator in phases (more in the next presentation)

• 
One of the most critical common factors influencing the success of a regulator in small countries is the availability of qualified personnel

• 
Relative to the technical regulations, small developing countries typically lack in-country expertise in the economic regulations such as tariff regulation, cost of services analysis, transparent regulatory procedures and decision making processes, dispute resolutions and consumer affair regulation.

• 
Regulators in small countries build their capacity with a coherent strategy of in-country capacity building combined with effective use of expatriate experts, especially in the initial years (even in developed countries, consultants are frequently used by the regulators to perform complicated tasks such as marginal costs of power supply, price cap performance based pricing, and utility productivity studies)

• 
The best practice for small countries clearly identifies at the outset what capacity will be built and build it in phases with focus on on-the-job training. When expatriate experts/consultants are used, capacity building requirements are specified and exit strategy established.

• 
For small developing countries, continued funding and technical supports in capacity building from international donor organizations in the initial years are essential to the success of the regulators in the long run.
APPENDIX B:  Workshop Presentation on the Proposed Power Sector Regulatory Reform 
Public Consultation Workshops

Proposed Power Sector Regulatory Reform

The Ministry of Finance &

The Attorney General Office

November 2008

Agenda

I. Power sector reform and need for an dependent regulator

II. Relevant International Experiences

III. Design of the Power Sector Regulator

IV. Transition into a Multi-Sector Regulator


V. Milestones

Objectives of Power Sector Reform (Samoa National Energy Policy 2007)

• 
Improve the sector to provide efficient, reliable, affordable and sustainable electricity services

• 
Establish a receptive environment for private sector’s participation in power generation

Key Strategy to Achieve the Objectives

• 
Establish an independent Power Sector Regulator to perform government oversight of the power sector in accordance with the national energy policy
•
Why an Independent Regulator?

• 
Move away from the current situation:

– Using rugby game as an analogy, EPC currently acts as a player and the referee.

– Needs an independent referee.

• 
Overseeing power sector involves very technical and detailed tasks:

– Technical and operation performance

– Tariff design, price setting, and cost of services

– Closely monitor and enforce the performance

– Licensing regulations

– Most cost-effective and practical to delegate the tasks to an independent Regulator

International Experiences

• 
A number of small, developing countries have achieved similar reform objectives by establishing an independent regulator:

Caribbean countries (similar to Samoa) - Belize; Trinidad & Tobago; Jamaica; Guyana, etc.

Asian countries – Mongolia; the Philippines;

Samoa’s Experience of Telecomm Regulator

• 
Since its establishment in July 2006;

– More mobile phone services are available

– Prices have declined

• 
Can expect similar benefits from the Power Sector Regulator if it’s properly designed

–  Design of the Power Sector Regulator

• 
Roles of the Regulator

• 
Functions of the Regulator

• 
Key features of the Regulatory Process

Roles of the Power Sector Regulator

• 
To oversee and enforce power sector performance

• 
To balance the interests of consumers and power services providers

• 
To resolve disputes

• 
To implement National Energy Policy

Key Functions of the Power Sector Regulator

• 
Price setting, tariff design, tariff monitoring

• 
Setting, monitoring and enforcing service performance standards

• 
Issuing licenses, and monitoring and enforcing license conditions

•
Consumer protection

• 
Dispute resolution

Key Features of the Regulatory Process

Key features designed to enhance the Regulator’s credibility:

• 
Act in accordance with the national policy

•
Conduct businesses in transparent manner

• 
Seek public participation in the decision making

• 
Accountable to the Government

Power Tariff Design & Price Setting

• 
The Regulator shall:

– Establish & publish the principles, formula and process for power tariff setting

– Conduct detailed analyses of the costs of electricity generation, transmission and distribution to determine the base tariffs for all customer categories within one year after its establishment

– Then, conduct a similar detailed analysis every three years to reset the base tariffs for all customer categories

– Evaluate the existing tariff fuel surcharge method and establish a new, transparent tariff fuel adjustment mechanism

– Assess areas of improvement in energy loss, operation efficiency and productivity, and incorporate the targeted improvements in the tariff setting

– Reflect affordability of the low-income households in the tariff design

– Publish public consultation procedures and seek public input in all the tariff decision making

– Make all tariff decisions in writing with explanations to justify the decisions

– Allow grieved parties to appeal the decisions to the appeal tribunal.

Setting & Enforcing Service Performance Standards

• 
The regulator shall:

– Consult with the services providers and public to determine appropriate service standards

– Monitor & enforce the established standards:

• 
Power reliability (frequency & duration of power interruptions)

• 
Power quality (voltage & frequency fluctuations)

• 
Response time to service calls

• 
No. of complaints received

• 
Complaints handling

Issue & Enforce Licenses

Two types of licenses:

I. 
Network services license - owning & operating electricity transmission and distribution networks; generating & purchasing adequate power supply to meet customers’ demand; providing metering, billing and customer services

• 
EPC shall be granted a network services license automatically for 10 years

II. 
Generation license - generating power for sale (generating power for own use does not need a license)

• 
EPC shall be granted a generation license automatically for 10 years

•
 Independent power producers will need to apply for a generation license

–Establish technical, financial and other requirements for license applicants

–Define licensee’s obligations, services, and compensation

– Include technical, financial and customer service standards in the licenses

–Establish monitoring & enforcement procedures, including penalties & revocation of license

Public Consultation in Regulatory Process

• 
Inform the public and stakeholders of regulatory proceedings in advance

• 
Provide information to the public on how, when and where they can participate in the regulatory proceedings

• 
Require the network service provider to hold community information workshops on the proposed tariff increases

• 
Make the information in the possession of the Regulator accessible to the public except for confidential information

• 
Encourage the public to comment in writing, or make oral statements at public workshops if held

• 
All stakeholders affected shall have the right to provide comments to the Regulator before a decision is made.

• 
All the regulatory decisions shall be in writing to explain its response to the comments received

Accountability of the Regulator

• 
The Regulator is accountable to the Government & required to submit annual reports to Cabinet summarizing its accomplishments and plan for the subsequent year, and account statements for the funds received and disbursed.

• 
The Regulator shall strictly follow the code of ethics.

• 
A regulatory decision can be appealed to an appeal tribunal

Office of the Power Regulator

• 
Location:

– An independent institution

• 
Appointment of the Regulator:

– By the Head of State on the advice of Cabinet

• 
Removal of the Regulator:

– Can be removed only by following the established rules, not arbitrary reasons

• 
Funding Sources:

– Earmarked sources:

Licensing fees; levies on electricity consumptions; penalties; regulatory service charges, etc.

Legal Mandates

• 
To prepare for the Parliament’s consideration:

– a new Electricity Act to establish and empower the Power Sector Regulator

– Amendments to the EPC Act to be consistent with the new Electricity Act

Amendments to the EPC Act

– Tariff setting (transferred to the Regulator)

– Wholesale power purchase (new responsibility)

– Licensing (transferred to the Regulator)

– Service performance standards & consumer affairs (new responsibilities)

Transition into a Multi-sector Regulator

• 
Establish the Power Sector Regulator first to perform important oversight of the power sector performance as soon as possible

• 
Coordinate with the existing Telecomm Regulator in staff recruiting and capacity building to avoid redundancy

•
 Merge with the Telecomm Regulator to become a multi-sector Regulator in 2010 or later

• 
Expand to cover the water sector when its reform has progressed in the future

Advantages of the Multi-sector Regulator

• 
More cost-effective by sharing resources

• 
Offering synergies and opportunities of transfer of skills, experiences and insights across sectors

• 
Less likely to be captured by dominant utilities

•
Office of the Power Regulator

(OPR) (9 positions filled by June 2010)

Office of the Telecom Regulator

(11 positions filled by June 2010)

Office of the Multi-Sector Regulator

(21 positions by July 2010, or later)

Milestones

• 
Sept. 2008 - Cabinet approved the power sector reform proposal

• 
Nov. 2008 - Public consultation

• 
Dec. 2008 - Draft Electricity Act & Amendments to the EPC Act for AG’s approval

• 
Mar. 2009 - Submission of Draft Electricity Act & Amendments to the EPC Act for Parliament consideration

• 
July, 2009 - Appoint the Power Sector Regulator

• 
July, 2010 (or later) – Merge with Telecomm Regulator to become a Multi-Sector regulator
APPENDIX C: List of Comments Received at Public Workshops

The following is the list of questions and statements received at the various workshops.  With one exception all questions were in Samoan and have been translated to English.

a. Workshops in Savai’i

First public consultation workshop on 17 November 2008 and second public consultation workshop on 18 November 2008: 
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b. Workshops in Upolu

Third public consultation workshop on 20 November 2008 and fourth public consultation workshop on 21 November 2008:
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APPENDIX D:  The Electricity Act 2010
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Arrangement of Provisions
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5. 
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24.
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PART VI
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26.
Regulator’s functions relating to disputes between consumers and electricity network services licensee

PART VII
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27.
Power system expansion plan

28.
Review of power system expansion plan 

29.
Regulator’s prior approval for issuance of stock or long term debt

30.
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37.
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38.
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43.
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44.
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45.
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47.
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48.
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PART XI
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49.
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2010, No. 23
AN ACT to provide for a new legislative framework for regulating the electricity sector, the establishment of the post of the Electricity Regulator and the Office of the Regulator, and for related matters.     [19th October 2010]
BE IT ENACTED by the Legislative Assembly of Samoa in Parliament assembled as follows:

PART I

PRELIMINARY

1. Short title and commencement- (1) This Act may be cited as the Electricity Act 2010.

(2) This Act commences, in whole or in part, on a date or dates nominated by the Minister.

2. Interpretation - In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires:

“assets” means any real or tangible property which is essential for generating electricity or for providing electricity network services;

“base tariffs” means charges to be applied to electricity services in order for the electricity network services licensee to recover its reasonable costs  including a rate of return on investment consistent with other investments of comparable risk;

“Electric Power Corporation” means the Electric Power Corporation established under the Electric Power Corporation Act 1980;

“electricity network services” means electricity transmission and distribution systems ending at electricity meters or power supply entering points at consumers’ premises, supplying power for resale, and metering, billing, collection, and other services to end-use consumers;
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“electricity network services licensee”, means any entity that is granted a licence to provide electricity network services;
“Electricity Regulator” or “Regulator” means the Regulator appointed under section 4;

“electricity services” means electricity generation or electricity network services, or both;

“formal decision” means a written decision containing all necessary findings, reasoning, principles and conclusions  issued by the Regulator to conclude any tariff approval or licensing proceeding or any other proceeding of substantial public significance;

“generation licence” means a licence to generate electricity for sale under the provisions of this Act;

“independent power producer” means any generator of electricity for sale to the electricity network services licensee that is not owned by the electricity network services licensee;

“Judge” means a Judge of the Supreme Court of Samoa;

“licence” means a licence granted under section 13;

“licensee” means a person required to be licensed under section 13;

“Minister” means the Minister responsible for the power or electricity sector;

“Ministry” means the Ministry responsible for the power or electricity sector;

“Notice of Appeal” is a notice issued and served under section 35;

“Panel of Tribunal members” means a panel of the Electricity Tribunal members appointed under section 36(1)(b);

“rate of return” means the return allowed on the licensee’s capital investment, including borrowed funds and equity capital;

“reasonable costs” means all costs not resulting from conduct determined by the Regulator to be inconsistent with prudent electric power industry practice; 
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“Samoa Bureau of Statistics” means the Government body responsible for the preparation of Government statistics and census;

“power system expansion plan” is a plan required under section 27;

“price discrimination” means charging different tariffs to consumers within the same consumer class or charging tariffs such that one (1) class of consumers subsidizes another;

“service licensee” is any entity licensed to provide  electricity generation and/or network services to consumers;

“stakeholders” means  any individual, group or organisation with an interest or stake in the Electricity Regulator’s decision-making activities;

“Tribunal” or “Electricity Tribunal” means the Electricity Tribunal established under section 36.
3. Objectives of this Act - The objectives of this Act are:

(a) to establish the position of the Electricity Regulator who shall exercise independently and transparently the responsibilities, functions and duties assigned or transferred to him or her under this Act;

(b) to separate governance and operational responsibilities in the electricity sector;

(c) to promote economy, efficiency, reliability and affordability of electricity provided by service licensees;
(d) to promote efficient use of electricity by consumers;
(e) to promote competition in the generation of electricity;

(f) to promote the use of new technology by service licensees to generate, transmit or supply electricity;

(g) to create a financially sound electricity sector capable of meeting the needs of consumers and the Samoan economy;
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(h) to assure protection of consumers, responsiveness to public concerns and effective dispute resolution in the electricity sector; 

(i) to assure the safeguarding of the environment ;

(j) to promote the prevailing national energy policies; and

(k) to promote the prevailing national policies on combating climate change. 
PART II

The regulator

4.  Appointment of the Regulator-(1) Subject to section 5, there shall be appointed by the Head of State, acting on the advice of Cabinet, a Regulator who shall have and exercise the responsibilities, functions and duties conferred by this Act and any other applicable law.

(2) The appointment of the Regulator shall be for a term of three (3) years, which term may be renewed by the Head of State, acting on the advice of Cabinet, for additional terms of three (3) years each.

(3) The appointment of a Regulator under this section shall be in accordance with the terms approved by Cabinet, and shall be implemented and administered in accordance with a contract approved for that purpose by the Attorney General.

(4) A person may be removed as Regulator prior to the completion of a three (3) year term of an appointment where the person:

(a) at the time of appointment and while holding the position of Regulator, has a conviction or is convicted for any offence, in Samoa or elsewhere -

(i)  involving dishonesty or corruption; or

(ii) where the penalty imposed by the Court for such offence includes imprisonment for any period, irrespective of whether such penalty has been or is imposed concerning such conviction; or
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(b) is an undischarged bankrupt; or

(c) is determined by a registered medical practitioner to be unable to perform the Regulator’s responsibilities, functions, and duties due to any physical or mental incapacity; or

(d) breaches the Code of Conduct in section 19 of the Public Service Act 2004, excluding paragraphs (j) and (l).

(5) The Head of State, acting on the advice of Cabinet, may appoint the Minister or another person to exercise the responsibilities, functions and duties conferred by this Act and any other applicable law on the Regulator, on an interim basis, during:

(a) the period until the first Regulator is appointed;

(b) any period of time after a Regulator ceases to hold office and before a replacement is appointed; and

(c) a period of temporary absence or incapacity of the Regulator.

(6) A person appointed under subsection (5) may exercise all of the responsibilities, functions and duties conferred on the Regulator by this Act and any other applicable law notwithstanding any other provision of this Act.

(7) An appointment under subsection (5) may not continue for a period longer than six (6) months.

(8) For the avoidance of doubt, a person appointed under subsection (1) may concurrently be appointed as the Regulator appointed pursuant to the Telecommunications Act 2005 or a legislation on broadcasting, or both. 

5. Disqualification-(1) Subject to this section, a person is not eligible to be appointed or to continue as the Regulator or as a member of the professional staff of the Regulator if the person, directly or indirectly, as owner, shareholder, director, officer, partner or otherwise, has any pecuniary or proprietary interest in:

(a) a service licensee; or
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(b) a manufacturer or supplier of electricity facilities, except where the supply is incidental to the general merchandising of goods by wholesale or retail.

(2) Where any interest prohibited by subsection (1) vests in the Regulator or a member of the professional staff by will or succession for the benefit of the Regulator or a member of the professional staff, such interest shall be absolutely disposed of within three (3) months of vesting, and any failure to act in accordance with this subsection shall make the Regulator or member of the professional staff liable to disqualification under subsection (1).

(3) For the purpose of this section:

(a) a pecuniary or proprietary interest shall include, but is not limited to, a pecuniary or proprietary interest held by a spouse, parent, child, brother or sister of the Regulator or member of the professional staff; and

(b) the professional staff of the Regulator shall be any member of staff of the Regulator nominated as such by the Regulator, as a class of such persons or individually, or both.

6. Responsibilities, functions and powers of the Regulator - The Regulator shall:

(a) be responsible for the proper and effective administration of  this Act;

(b) be responsible for providing advice to the Minister and to Cabinet on matters of electricity sector policy;

(c) be responsible for ensuring that decisions required of him or her under this Act are made independently and transparently, and are in accordance with this Act;

(d) set, monitor and enforce electricity tariffs to be charged by the electricity network services licensee;

(e) issue, monitor and enforce licences;

2010, No. 23                            Electricity                                   9
(f) protect the interests of consumers of electricity; 

(g) enforce the standards of electricity services;

(h) review and approve the electricity network services licensee’s power system expansion plan and power purchase agreements; 

(i) implement the national energy policy;

(j) assure the safeguarding of the environment; 

(k) support the national policy on combating climate change;

(l) provide electricity sector policy advice to the Minister and the Government;

(m) impose and collect licence fees or surcharges on retail electricity sale revenues to cover its costs of operation;

(n) impose sanctions including penalties for non-compliance with terms and conditions attaching to licences;

(o) require licences to provide all information necessary to carry out regulatory monitoring and enforcement functions;

(p) inspect and monitor service licensee’s operations including entering licensees’ premises in order to assure compliance with the licence conditions; and 

(q) order licensees to engage independent consultants approved by the Regulator to carry out studies of efficiency and economy of operation and of performance by licensees.

7. Post employment restriction-(1) Subject to subsection (2), any person who has been appointed as the Regulator under this Act shall not seek employment nor be employed by any person or entity that is granted a licence under this Act.

(2) This section shall not apply to a person who has ceased to be a Regulator appointed under this Act, for a period which is not less than two (2) years.
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(3) Any person who contravenes the provisions of subsection (1) commits an offence and, upon conviction, shall be liable to a fine not exceeding 1,000 penalty units, and 10 penalty units for each day that the offence continues.

(4) In this section, “employment” means to receive any remuneration for services provided, including but not limited to consultancy services and board membership.

8. Office of the Regulator-(1) There is hereby established an Office of the Electricity Regulator, which shall function in accordance with this section.

(2) The Regulator shall be responsible for the management of the Office of the Electricity Regulator.

(3) The Office of the Electricity Regulator shall consist of the Regulator, the staff of the Office of the Electricity Regulator and such other persons as may be seconded or appointed in accordance with this section.

(4) Except as provided in this Act, the Regulator and the Office of the Electricity Regulator shall function in accordance with the laws governing the public service and the finances of the Government of Samoa, and in particular:

(a) the staff of the Office of the Electricity Regulator shall be appointed or employed under the Public Service Act 2004;

(b) the Public Service Commission shall appoint such staff on the recommendation of the Regulator; and

(c)  subject to section 9, the budget of the Office of the Electricity Regulator shall be approved pursuant to the national budgetary process for the Government taking into account any fees or surcharges  collected pursuant to this Act.

(5) The Minister, acting on the advice of the Chief Executive Officer of the Ministry and of the Regulator, may by notice in writing:

(a) designate one (1)  or more persons employed by the Ministry or other Ministries or Government organisations to work with the Office of the Electricity   Regulator  on   a  secondment  basis.
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Such secondments may be part-time or full time, and shall last for such period of time as indicated in the notice; and

(b) determine that the Office of the Electricity Regulator may share or otherwise utilise support staff, office premises and other resources of the Ministry, or another Government organisation that will include, but not be limited to, the office of the Regulator established pursuant to the Telecommunications Act 2005 or a legislation on broadcasting, or both.

(6) A person who has been appointed or seconded to the Office of the Electricity Regulator and to whom the Regulator delegates a responsibility or function or duty in writing, shall perform such responsibilities, functions and duties of the Regulator as specified in the delegation, and a delegation under this subsection may:

(a) authorise a person to make orders or issue licences;

(b) restrict the delegation to specific types of matters, or to a specific period of time;

(c) be subject to terms, conditions or restrictions; and

(d) be revoked by notice in writing.

(7) In addition to the persons appointed or seconded to the Office of the Electricity Regulator under this section, the Regulator may appoint such consultants as may be necessary for the efficient performance of the functions of the Regulator.

(8) All persons appointed or seconded under this section shall work under the direction of the Regulator in the discharge of their responsibilities, functions, and duties.

(9) The Regulator shall conduct the affairs of the Office of the Electricity Regulator in an open and transparent manner.  To this end, the Regulator shall, from time to time, publish or cause to be published, notices, rules and procedures governing the operation of the Office of the Electricity Regulator and the Office’s dealings with the public.

(10) The Regulator shall establish an official website for the Office of the Electricity Regulator to increase the transparency of the Office’s affairs to persons inside and outside of Samoa.
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(11) All rules, orders, codes of practice, notices and other important documents issued by the Office of the Electricity Regulator regarding the regulation of the electricity or power sector shall be posted on the Regulator’s official web site, and published in any other media that the Regulator considers necessary to provide adequate notice to interested persons.

(12) The Office of the Regulator established under the Telecommunications Act 2005 or a legislation on broadcasting, or both may be the same office or may be deemed to be the Office of the Electricity Regulator under this Act.

9. Budget of the Office of the Regulator-(1) The Regulator shall establish an annual budget for the operations of the Office of the Electricity Regulator in line with the fiscal year of the Government of Samoa.

(2) The Regulator may levy an annual surcharge on retail electricity sale revenues and assess licence fees in order to source funds for the Office.

(3) The Regulator shall hold public consultation to determine the appropriate level of such annual surcharges and licence fees under subsection (2).

10. Judicial enforcement-(1) An order of the Regulator may be made an order of the Supreme Court by filing with the Registrar of the Court a copy of the order certified by the Regulator and may be enforced in the same manner as an order of the Court.

(2) The Regulator may enforce any order of the Regulator made under this Act whether or not the order has been made an order of the Supreme Court under subsection (1).

(3) An order of the Regulator may be enforced from the date of the order and not from the date of filing such order with the Court under subsection (1).

(4) The Commissioner of Police and all police officers shall provide such reasonable assistance to the Regulator as the Regulator requires in undertaking the Regulator’s responsibilities, functions and duties under this Act and any other law.
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11. Civil liability-(1) Claims made by or against the Regulator shall be made pursuant to the Government Proceedings Act 1974.

(2) Despite any other law, no suit or proceeding for any act or omission in connection with the responsibilities, functions or duties imposed on the Regulator by this Act shall be brought or maintained against:

(a) any person who has been or is the Regulator where such person has been or is acting in good faith; or

(b) any person who has been or is acting under the authority of the Regulator under the Act where such person has been or is acting in good faith.

PART III

LICENsING

12. Types of licences - The Regulator may issue two types of licences:

(a) electricity network services licences; and

(b) generation licences.

13. Application and grant of licence-(1) Any person wishing to generate electricity other than for their own use or to provide electricity network services must apply in writing to the Regulator for a licence to do so.

(2) The Regulator, may upon receiving an application under subsection (1), grant a licence to the applicant provided that the applicant meets the prescribed requirements for obtaining a licence.

(3) A licence granted under this section, shall specify the following matters:

(a) the term of the licence;

(b) the services governed by the licence;

(c) the conditions, including service standards, of the licence;

(d) licence fees; 

(e) compensation for the licensee;

14                                Electricity                             2010, No. 23
(f) monitoring and enforcement of the conditions of the licence;

(g) avenues for dispute resolution.

(4) Any licence issued under this Act may be granted for a period which is not less than 15 years and may be renewed by the Regulator in accordance with this Act.

(5) Where the Regulator refuses an application made under this section, the Regulator shall provide reasons for the refusal in writing to the unsuccessful applicant.

14. Suspension of licence-(1) Any licence granted under this Act may be suspended by the Regulator where the Regulator is satisfied that there is or has been a repeated breach of this Act or of the licence conditions.

(2) Where the Regulator decides to suspend a licence under this section, the Regulator must, prior to suspending a licence, provide notice to the licensee and reasonable time for the licensee to comment on the proposed licence suspension. 

(3) In this section, “repeated breach” means a reported breach of this Act or of a licence condition occurring not less than five (5) times.

15. Revocation of licence-(1) The Regulator may revoke a licence at any time or after restoration of a suspended licence where a licensee commits a further breach or a serious breach or of this Act or of the licence conditions.

(2) Where the Regulator decides to revoke a licence under subsection (1), the Regulator must, prior to revoking a licence, provide notice and reasonable time for the licensee to comment on the proposed licence revocation.

(3) In this section:

“further breach” means a reported breach or violation of this Act or of a licence condition occurring more than once after the restoration of a suspended licence; and

“serious breach” means a reported breach or violation of this Act or of a license condition that results in great public harm, including loss of life, or property damage in excess of  $100,000.
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16. Offence for operating without a licence-(1) No person shall generate electricity or provide electricity network services unless the person is licensed to do so under this Act.

(2) Any person who breaches subsection (1) commits an offence and upon conviction shall be liable to a fine not exceeding 1,000 penalty units, and 10 penalty units for each day that the offence continues.

17. Regulations for issuing of licence - The Head of State, acting on the advice of Cabinet, may make regulations for the issuing, monitoring and enforcing of licences granted under this Act.

18. Electricity network services licensee not to sell, transfer or lease assets - An electricity network services licensee shall not sell, transfer or lease for more than six (6) months to any person any assets, related to the licence without the prior written approval of the Regulator.

PART IV

TARIFFS

19. The Regulator to set tariffs-(1) The Regulator shall set all tariffs charged by a licensee.

(2) The Regulator shall set the base tariffs of the electricity network services licensee, including a fuel cost adjustment mechanism, within every three (3) year period.

(3) When setting the tariffs of an electricity network services licensee, the Regulator must consider the following factors:

(a) the likelihood of the tariff to recover the reasonable costs of providing services and to earn a rate of return on investment for the licensee consistent with other investments of comparable risk;

(b) the ability of the low income households to pay for electricity services;

(c) the ability of the tariff to promote economy and efficiency of electricity services;
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(d) whether the tariff will encourage the efficient use of electricity;

(e) whether the tariff will avoid price discrimination;

(f) whether the tariff is easy to understand and to apply.

(4) Subject to any financial or other resource constraints, the Regulator shall conduct public consultations prior to making a decision on setting and changing tariffs charged by the electricity network services licensee.

(5) Any licensee who fails to comply with the tariffs set by the Regulator under this section commits a breach of the licence conditions and shall, upon conviction, be liable to a fine not exceeding 1,000 penalty units, and 100 penalty units for each day that the breach continues.

20. Changes to tariffs-(1) An electricity network services licensee proposing to change its tariffs at any time other than the review period specified under section 19(2) shall apply to the Regulator in writing for the Regulator’s approval of the change in tariff proposed.

(2) When making an application under subsection (1), the licensee must provide the Regulator all the necessary supporting information and any other information which may be requested by the Regulator regarding the reasons for the change.

(3) The Regulator must make a decision to accept, reject or modify any application regarding tariff change within six (6) months of receiving the application.

(4) Where the electricity network services licensee applies for a tariff change, the licensee must arrange for the notification to the public of such change through the media as well as inserting such information in its bills to consumers who receive regular electricity bills.

(5) The Regulator shall not consider a tariff change for the electricity network services licensee until the notification required under subsection (4) is arranged. 

21. Power to review tariffs-(1) Despite any other provision of this Act, the Regulator may at any time, at the Regulator’s own instigation initiate a review of any tariffs imposed by an electricity network services licensee.
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(2) In carrying out a review under subsection (1), the Regulator must carry out consultations with the licensee and the public.

(3) Where the Regulator finds, following a review under this section, that the tariff is not consistent with the factors listed in section 19(3), the Regulator may direct an electricity network services licensee to propose a new tariff subject to the Regulator’s approval under this Act.

(4) Any failure of an electricity network services licensee to follow a direction of the Regulator made pursuant to subsection (3) constitutes a breach of the electricity network services licence’s conditions and shall be sufficient grounds for the suspension or the revocation of a Licence.

22. Tariff subsidies-(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Regulator may direct that tariff subsidies be granted to specified consumers.

(2) In making a direction for subsidies under subsection (1), the Regulator must:

(a) ensure that such subsidies are targeted to such consumers as may be determined by the Regulator from time to time to be from low income households;

(b) ensure that such subsidies are explicit and transparent; and 

(c) seek Cabinet approval, for the subsidies in tariffs to be funded by the Government.

(3) In determining what is a low income household under this section, the Regulator shall, prior to making a determination, seek the advice of the Samoa Bureau of Statistics.

23. Setting tariff regulations – The Head of State, acting on the advice of Cabinet, may make regulations prescribing the principles, methodologies and processes for setting tariffs for the Regulator to implement. 
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PART V

STANDARDS OF ELECTRICITY SERVICES

24. Standards of electricity services to be developed by the Regulator-(1) The Regulator shall develop standards necessary for the provision of reliable, efficient, and safe electricity supply, and quality of consumer service.

(2) In developing service standards required under this Act, the Regulator shall, prior to formalizing any service standards, consult with consumers, technical experts and service licensees.

(3) Service standards developed under subsection (2) shall be formalised by way of regulations made under the provisions of this Act.

(4) Compliance with any service standards developed under this section may be imposed as part of the conditions for the issuance of a licence under this Act.

25. Regulator to consult with Government for provision of electricity services to rural areas - The Regulator shall consult with the Government to set standards governing the provision of electricity services to remote rural areas in Samoa, and assist the Government in providing options for funding sources for extending these services. 

PART VI

CONSUMER PROTECTION

26. Regulator’s functions relating to disputes between consumers and electricity network services licensee-(1) The Regulator shall, for all intents and purposes, be the Government’s representative responsible for resolving disputes between consumers and electricity network service licensees.

(2) The Regulator shall, in performing his or her functions under this section:

(a) review and approve the terms of service for the electricity network services licensee, including standards for consumer deposits or other measures  to secure payments;
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(b) monitor the response by the electricity network services licensee to consumer complaints;

(c) set standards for metering, billing and collection of tariffs and fees;

(d) investigate and resolve complaints of consumers as to their failure to obtain redress from the electricity network services licensee regarding rates, billings or unsatisfactory services;

(e) determine the requirements for fair and reasonable compensation to consumers where damage is proven to have occurred through the electricity network services licensee’s  operations;

(f) appoint a consumer advisory committee, as needed, to advise on issues of importance to consumers, including quality of service, efficiency in attending to emergencies  and handling of consumer complaints. 

PART Vii

POWER SYSTEM EXPANSION 
PLANNING AND REVIEW

27. Power system expansion plan-(1) An electricity network services licensee must develop a power system expansion plan.

(2) A power system expansion plan required under subsection (1) must be produced by the electricity network services licensee and must be submitted to the Regulator at the commencement of the Regulator’s fiscal year for 2011 or such other year as may be decided by the Regulator.  

(3) The power system expansion plan shall be updated one (1) year before the triennial tariff review conducted pursuant to section 19(2) and must indicate the electricity network services licensee’s plan for the next five (5) years, describing capital expenditures for proposed network expansion or rehabilitation as well as new power supply requirements.
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(4) Where a new power supply is proposed under subsection (3), the plan shall consider and compare, in accordance with criteria determined in writing by the Regulator, all feasible alternatives to ensure the most economic new power supply is selected.

(5) In approving a power system expansion plan, the Regulator shall give preference to cost effective measures and methods that improve the efficiency of the power system and minimise losses of electricity or waste of energy.

(6) Subject to this Act, any investments made consistently with an approved power system expansion plan may be recovered through electricity tariffs.

(7) In developing a power system expansion plan, the electricity network services licensee shall consider and compare all feasible alternatives of new power supply, including independent power producers and consumer owned generation.  

28. Review of power system expansion plan-(1) The Regulator may review an electricity network services licensee approved power system expansion plan.  

(2) In reviewing a power system expansion plan, the Regulator must consider whether the power system expansion plan:

(a) provides a reliable electricity supply consistent with the applicable service standards;

(b) is economically efficient; and 

(c) is consistent with the Samoa national energy, economic, environmental and Government community service obligations policies, and other interests. 

29. Regulator’s prior approval for issuance of stock or long term debt-(1) An electricity network services licensee who intends to issue stock or enter into a long term debt with any financial institution or person must first apply to the Regulator in writing for approval.

(2) The Regulator may, upon receipt of an application under subsection (1), approve the application where the Regulator is of the opinion that the issuance of stock or long 
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term debt is consistent with the electricity network service licensee’s approved power system expansion plan.

(3) An electricity network services licensee who fails to seek prior approval under this section commits a breach of the licence conditions, and shall, upon conviction, be subject to a fine not exceeding 1,000 penalty units.

(4) In this section, “long term” means a period exceeding one (1) calendar year. 

30. Regulator’s prior approval for entering into power purchase agreements with independent power producers-(1) An electricity network services licensee who intends to enter into a power purchase agreement with an independent power producer must first apply to the Regulator in writing, for the Regulator’s approval.

(2) The Regulator may, upon receipt of an application under subsection (1), approve an application where the Regulator is of the opinion that the purchased power is at least cost, and that the contract is consistent with the electricity network services licensee’s approved power system expansion plan.

(3) An electricity network services licensee which fails to seek prior approval under this section commits a breach of the license conditions, and shall, upon conviction, be subject to a fine not exceeding 1,000 penalty units.

PART VIII

PUBLIC CONSULTATION

31. Public input and consultation-(1) Subject to any financial or other resource constraints, the Regulator shall seek public input in all matters having widespread public impact arising from the exercise of his or her duties, functions or responsibilities under this Act, and shall provide opportunities for consultation with affected stakeholders arising from any proceedings undertaken under this Act.

(2) In seeking public input and carrying out consultations under this section, the Regulator must have regard to the following:
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(a) the Regulator must ensure that the Government is kept fully informed of pending proceedings;

(b) the Regulator may, where he or she thinks it appropriate to do so in the public interest, keep the public fully informed of pending proceedings;

(c) the Regulator must consult with licensees, representatives of consumers and other stakeholders it considers have an interest in the matters before it; 

(d) the Regulator shall establish and publish public consultation procedures;

(e) the Regulator shall require the electricity network services licensee to prepare and distribute                a statement of consumer rights and responsibilities;

(f) the Regulator shall maintain an informative and user friendly web site and shall require the electricity network services licensee to do so.

PART IX

DISPUTE RESOLUTION

32. Disputes between electricity network services licensee and independent power producers-(1) Any dispute arising between electricity network services licensee and independent power producers may be referred to the Regulator.

(2) Any dispute referred to the Regulator under subsection (1) may be resolved by the Regulator in a manner which the Regulator considers appropriate, and in so doing, the Regulator shall consider setting terms of interconnection with power network and approving any power purchase agreement.  

33. Disputes between electricity network services licensee and consumers-(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Regulator may take one (1) of the following actions regarding disputes between the electricity network services licensee and its consumer or group of consumers:
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(a) assign a member of the Regulator’s staff or consultant to attempt to mediate the dispute; or

(b) hear the dispute and issue an order to resolve the dispute.

(2) The Regulator may only take action under subsection (1) where the electricity network services licensee certifies in writing that an initial dispute resolution attempt between it and the consumer or consumer group has failed.

(3) Where an electricity network services licensee does not attempt initial dispute resolution between it and the consumer or consumer group, the Regulator may direct the electricity network services licensee to make necessary arrangements in order to hold an initial dispute resolution.

(4) In this section, “initial dispute resolution” is a process of resolving any disputes between the parties concerned and which does not include the participation of the Regulator.

(5) The Regulator’s costs under subsection (1), including but not limited to any travel or other expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Regulator in connection with the Regulator’s assistance or intervention, shall be paid to the Regulator by the parties to the dispute.

PART x

APPEALS

34. Appeal of decisions of the Regulator to be filed with the Electricity Tribunal - Any appeal relating to a decision made by the Regulator under this Act shall be made, in writing, to the Electricity Tribunal.

35. Notice of Appeal-(1) Every appeal regarding any decision of the Regulator shall be commenced by way of a notice.

(2) Every Notice of Appeal under this Act must be served upon the Minister and must be accompanied by:

(a) a bank cheque payable to the Minister in the amount of -

(i) in the case of an incorporated body, $100,000 tala; or
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(ii) in the case of a natural person, an amount not exceeding $50,000 to be determined by the Tribunal having sufficient regard to the merits of the appellant’s case, 

to defray the costs of the Tribunal; and

(b) a signed written undertaking by the appellant to pay damages and all costs from any appeal found by the Tribunal to be frivolous.

(3) The appellant must also serve, on the same date, copies of the Notice of Appeal and accompanying documents on the Regulator and the Attorney General and where relevant, to any other person who may be a respondent or a party to the appeal.

(4) The Notice of Appeal must be served within 30 days after the date of the decision of the Regulator which is the subject of the appeal.

(5) The Notice of Appeal must set out:

(a) the relevant section of the Act under which the decision appealed against was made; and

(b) the grounds of appeal which must set out in sufficient detail -

(i) the grounds upon which the appellant contends that the decision appealed against was based on an error of fact or was wrong in law, or both; and

(ii) the grounds upon which the appellant is appealing against the exercise of a discretion by the Regulator.

(6) Any deposited funds required under section 35(2)(a) which have not been used for the purpose of expediting an appeal shall be returned to the Appellant upon the final determination of the appeal.

36. Electricity Tribunal-(1) There shall be an Electricity Tribunal to be comprised of a presiding member and two (2) other members, appointed as follows:
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(a) the presiding member shall be presided over by a Judge or a lawyer who is qualified to be a Judge, who shall be appointed by the Chief Justice when the Tribunal is required to hear and determine an appeal;

(b) the other two (2) members shall be appointed by the presiding member from the Panel of Tribunal members, who shall be appointed by the Head of State acting on the advice of Cabinet. These persons are to have the following credentials -

(i) qualifications and/or experience in economics or management finance; or

(ii) qualifications and/or experience in power engineering or power business management; or

(iii) legal qualifications with a power or electricity sector background.

(2) Prior to the commencement of a Tribunal proceeding, each member shall be required to state that he or she has:

(a) no personal interest or involvement in the matter under dispute; and

(b) no association of any nature with any of the disputing parties which may be perceived as affecting the impartiality of the member.

37. Remuneration of Tribunal members - A Tribunal member shall be entitled to receive a sitting fee, allowance and other expenses approved from time to time by Cabinet.

38. Revocation of appointment of Tribunal members – The Head of State, acting on the advice of Cabinet, shall have the power to revoke the appointment of any member of the Tribunal where the member:

(a) becomes of unsound mind or otherwise becomes permanently unable to perform his or her functions by way of health;

(b) is convicted of an offence for which he or she is sentenced to any period of  imprisonment;
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(c) fails without reasonable excuse to carry out any of the functions conferred or imposed on him or her under this Act; or

(d) engages in such activities as are reasonably considered prejudicial to the interest of the Tribunal; or

(e) has an interest in the proceedings which the member has failed to disclose.

39. Ministry to provide necessary administrative support - The Ministry responsible for justice and courts administration shall provide the necessary administrative support to the Tribunal whenever the Tribunal convenes under this Part of the Act.

40. Convening Tribunal hearings-(1) The presiding member shall convene a meeting of the Tribunal as soon as is necessary for the Tribunal to hear and determine any dispute referred to the Tribunal.

(2) Where the Tribunal is to convene, it shall do so at such time and place, and conduct its proceedings, as determined by the Presiding Member.

41. Tribunal proceedings-(1) The Tribunal shall have such powers and protections applying to a Commission of Inquiry under the Commissions of Inquiry Act 1964.

(2) Any person who, after being summoned or ordered to attend before a Tribunal or to produce any books, papers, writings, or documents to a Tribunal:

(a) fails to appear according to the requirements of such a summons; or

(b) refuses to be sworn or to give evidence or to make answer to such questions as may be put to the person by any member of a Tribunal relating to the subject of the inquiry; or

(c) fails to produce any such books, papers, writings, or documents,

commits an offence, and upon conviction shall be liable to a fine not exceeding 50 penalty units or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding six (6) months, or both.
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42. Principles of natural justice to be observed-(1) Every Tribunal proceeding shall be conducted in accordance with the principles of natural justice.

(2) Despite anything in this Act, any matter that is referred to the Tribunal shall be dealt with as expeditiously as possible, and the Tribunal shall have powers to do anything or issue orders to be complied with to permit the timely determination of a dispute.

(3) During any Tribunal hearing, the following matters shall be observed: 

(a) sworn statements are to be submitted by persons intending to provide evidence or make submissions to a Tribunal; and

(b) the right to cross examine any witness shall be restricted only to matters which the Tribunal considers to be of such a probative nature that they need to be tested under cross examination; and

(c) each party, and any interested person permitted to participate in a Tribunal proceeding, may prepare and submit written submissions, which are             to be provided to other parties and their representatives on terms determined by the Tribunal.

43. Government may be represented in any    proceeding-(1) In any proceeding under this Part, the Attorney General may elect whether he or she wishes to represent the Government.

(2) Where the Attorney General chooses to represent the Government, the Government shall be regarded as a party to the dispute.

(3)  Despite anything in this Act, no orders may be made for the payment of any costs associated with any Tribunal proceedings against the Government.
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44. Tribunal decisions-(1) Every decision of the Tribunal shall be validly made on a majority vote.

(2) The Tribunal shall give due deference to the expertise of the Regulator.

(3) Subject to subsection (4), the Tribunal may conduct a detailed economic or technical review of a decision by the Regulator if in its opinion, finds that the decision being appealed is technically or economically erroneous.

(4) Where the Tribunal conducts an economic or technical review of a decision by the Regulator, it must first consider the initial submission from the appellant, the Government and any other interested parties.

(5) Where the Tribunal finds that the Regulator made an erroneous decision, it may:
(a) confirm, modify or reverse the decision or order of the Regulator;

(b) refer the decision or order back to the Regulator for re-consideration, either generally or in relation to any matter specified by the Tribunal;

(c) order that the decision of the Regulator to which an appeal relates shall not have effect until the appeal is determined;

(d) dismiss the appeal;

(e) subject to subsection (6), order costs to be paid against any person.

(6) Despite subsection (5)(e), costs may not be awarded against any Government Ministry or statutory body, other than an electricity network services licensee.

45. Decision of Tribunal to be final - A decision of the Tribunal shall be final and binding on all parties, and all persons named in any order made by a Tribunal.

46. Government Ministries and agencies to assist Tribunal-(1) All government Ministries and agencies shall cooperate with the Tribunal and make available, at no cost to the Tribunal, any document or record in its custody which the Tribunal requires, or which may assist in the consideration and determination of a dispute.
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(2) Any dispute arising between the Tribunal and any government Ministry or agency over the disclosure of information required under subsection (1) shall be referred to the Attorney General for determination on the matter.

47. Appeal to bar litigation-(1) Subject to subsection (2), no person may commence any proceedings in Court regarding a decision of the Regulator unless they have first lodged an appeal with the Tribunal.  

(2) Despite subsection (1), every person shall be entitled to commence proceedings in a Court of law for matters relating to the judicial review of the procedures undertaken by the Tribunal.

48. Enforcement of orders - Any person who fails or refuses to obey an order of the Tribunal, commits an offence and upon conviction shall be liable to the following penalties: 

(a) in the case of a natural person, to a fine not exceeding 100 penalty units or to a term of imprisonment not exceeding 12 months, or both; or

(b) in the case of a company or other incorporated body, to a fine not exceeding 1,000 penalty units for a first offence and 2,000 penalty units for a subsequent offence.

PART XI

MISCELLANEOUS

49. Advice to Minister - The Regulator shall provide advice to the Minister and the Government on matters of electricity sector policy from time to time, and upon any specific request from the Minister to do so.

50.  Rules and procedures-(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Regulator shall determine rules and procedures for the processing of tariffs and licence applications as well as dispute resolution proceedings as the Regulator deems fit.
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(2) Despite subsection (1), where in making any decision required under this Act and in any proceedings undertaken under this Act, the Regulator must provide his or her decision in a formal decision stating the basis of his or her decision.

51. Annual reports-(1) The Regulator shall, within six (6) months after June 30th of each year, provide annual reports to Cabinet and Parliament through the Minister which shall set out all the activities of the Office of the Regulator and the status of Office of the Regulator and its progress in achieving the objectives of this Act.

(2) The annual report shall provide an account for funds received and disbursed and shall contain estimates of funding needs and activities for the following year.

(3) The annual financial reports of the Office of the Regulator shall be subject to an independent audit.

52. Offences and penalties - Any person who contravenes any provision of this Act for which a penalty has not been provided for shall, commits an offence and upon conviction, be liable to a fine not exceeding 5,000 penalty units or a term of imprisonment not exceeding five (5) years, or both.

53. Reporting of offences to the Attorney General-(1) The Regulator shall report all breaches of this Act to the Attorney General and shall advise the Attorney General as to any necessary prosecutions which the Regulator believes ought to be pursued against any person.

(2) Upon the receipt of advice for prosecution under subsection (1), the Attorney General may, subject to resource constraints, consider the laying of charges against such person.

54. Regulations-(1) The Head of State, acting on the advice of Cabinet, may make such Regulations as are necessary or expedient for the implementation of this Act.

(2) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), regulations made under this Act may make provision for:
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(a) prescribing the principles, methodologies and processes for setting tariffs for the Regulator to implement; 

(b) the issuing, monitoring and enforcing of licences granted under the provisions of this Act, in particular, to provide for the following matters relating to the issuing of a licence under this        Act -

(i) the term of the licence;

(ii) the services governed by the licence;

(iii) the conditions, including service standards, of the licence;

(iv) licence fees; 

(v) compensation of licensee;

(vi) monitoring and enforcement of the terms and conditions of the licence;

(vii) avenues for dispute resolution;

(c) specifying procedures, forms or fees relating to tariff setting, licensing, public consultation and least cost new power supply measures; and

(d) prescribing service standards for electricity service providers required under this Act.

(3) Regulations made under this Act may prescribe offences and may impose penalties in respect of the commission of any offence, being fines not exceeding 100 penalty units or imprisonment for terms not exceeding six (6) months, or both.

55. Claim for failure of electricity supply-(1) A consumer of electricity supplied or sold to that consumer by an electricity network services licensee may not bring a claim against an electricity network services licensee where there is an increase, diminution or discontinuance of the supply of electricity:

(a) caused by accident, drought or other natural phenomenon or other unavoidable cause; or

(b) caused by an electricity network services licensee in the proper performance of its functions.

(2) In any filings referred to the Regulator or any proceedings taken to Court against an electricity network services licensee by a consumer for a claim of damages, the 
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burden of proof shall be on an electricity network services licensee to establish the defence provided to it under   subsection (1).
56. Transitional provisions - Despite anything in this Act:
(a) the Electric Power Corporation shall be issued the following licences under this Act upon the commencement of this Act -

(i) a licence to cover its existing generation activities for 10 years from the commencement of this Act; and

(ii) a licence to cover  its existing electricity network services activities for 10 years from the commencement of this Act;
(b) all existing tariffs and any additional charge that is charged to compensate the Electric Power  Corporation for the cost of fuel used for the supply of electricity that are in force at the commencement of this Act are deemed to be approved by the Regulator under this Act.  

57. Consequential Amendments - The following enactments are to be amended as follows:

(a) the Electric Power Corporation Act 1980 is amended as follows -

(i) section 3 is amended by inserting a new definition immediately after the definition of the term “Minister” as follows:

“Regulator” means the Electricity Regulator appointed under the Electricity Act 2010.”;
(ii) section 15 is amended by deleting the words “The functions of the Corporation are” where they appear in this section and substituting them with the following words: 

“Subject to the provisions of the Electricity Act 2010, the functions of the Corporation are:”;
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(iii) section 15A is deleted and substituted with the following:

“15A. Protection of lines-(1) Where any tree growing on any land causes or is likely to cause damage to an electric line, the General Manager may give written notice to the owner or occupier of that land to remove the tree or any part of the tree. 

(2) Any person given a notice under subsection (1) must comply with the notice.

(3) Despite subsection (2), any person who receives a notice under subsection (1) and is dissatisfied with the notice may appeal in writing to the Regulator.

(4) Where the Regulator receives an appeal under subsection (3), the Regulator shall make a determination on the matter within 14 days of receiving the appeal.

(5) In making a determination under this section, the Regulator must consider all the circumstances of the matter, and particularly the degree of damage that the tree is causing to the power lines and the effect, if any, the removal of the tree will have on the person claiming to own the tree.

(6) Once an appeal is lodged with the Regulator under this section, the General Manager and staff of the Corporation shall not enter the affected land to remove any tree or part of a tree until the Regulator determines the appeal.

(7) Any person who wilfully fails to comply with a notice under this section or who interferes with or attempts to interfere with a person attempting to comply with such notice commits an offence and upon conviction is liable to a fine not exceeding 20 penalty units or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding three (3) months, or both.

(8) Despite anything in this section, in cases of imminent danger to life or health or the integrity of the power system, the General Manager shall not be required to provide a notice under this section.”;
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(iv) section 16 is amended by deleting subsection (1) and substituting it with the following:

“(1) Subject to any direction, approval or authorisation by the Regulator under the Electricity Act 2010, the Corporation has power to do all things necessary or convenient to be done or in connection with, or as incidental to, the performance of the functions under this Act.”;
(v) a new section 17A is to be inserted immediately after section 17 as follows:

“17A. Corporation to provide adequate supply of electricity - Subject to any financial or other resource constraints, the Corporation shall ensure that an adequate supply of electricity is made available for all of the people of Samoa.”;

(vi) section 21 is amended by:

(a) deleting the word “The” where it first appears in subsection (1) and substituting the following:

“Subject to subsection (3), the”; and

(b) inserting a new subsection immediately after subsection (2)  as follows:

“(3) Despite anything in this section, the Corporation shall be required to maintain its accounts in accordance with such directions, instructions or requirements as may be issued by the Regulator from time to time.”;

(vii) section 23A is repealed;

(viii) section 24 is amended by deleting the phrase “or generate or distribute electricity”;

2010, No. 23                           Electricity                                  35
(ix) section 25(3) is amended by deleting the phrase “or generating or distributing electricity.”;

(x) section 48 is repealed; 

(xi) section 51 is amended by deleting paragraphs (f), (h), (i) and (j).

(b) section 2 of the Fair Trading Act 1998 is amended by deleting the word “electricity” where it appears in the definitions of the terms “goods” and “services”;

(c) section 15 of the Value Added Goods and Services Tax Act 1992/1993 is amended by deleting the phrase “under the Electric Power Corporation Act 1980” where it appears in paragraph (e).

_________
The Electricity Act 2010 is administered 
by the Ministry of Finance.
Printed by the Clerk of the Legislative Assembly,

by authority of the Legislative Assembly.
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REGULATIONS

PART 1
PRELIMINARY

1. Title and commencement – (1) These regulations shall be cited as the Electricity Regulations 201X.
(2)  These Regulations commence on the commencement of the Electricity Act 2010. 
2.
Interpretation - (1) In these Regulations, unless the contrary intention appears:
“demand side management” means measures designed to reduce electricity consumption and/or demand  by consumers either through reduction of unnecessary use or more efficient use of electricity, or through shifting of the timing of electricity demand;

“Electricity Act” means the Electricity Act 2010;

“force majeure” means events beyond the reasonable control of, and without the
fault or negligence of the licensee, including acts of God, and actions of the government;
 “licensee’s net asset value”, means the net value of all capital assets being used to serve consumers less the accumulated depreciation on those assets, however calculated.

“non-technical losses”, means the difference between the electricity output of all generating plants in the power system and the electricity delivered to all consumers that is not attributable to system technical losses.
“revenue collection efficiency”, means a percentage consisting of the total revenue collected divided by the total revenue that would have been collected if all energy and capacity provided to consumers had been fully billed and paid for;
“stand-by electricity tariff”, means the tariff to be applied to electricity sold by an electricity network services licensee to consumers who normally generate power onsite to meet some or all of their load;
 “technical losses”, means the difference between the electricity output of all generating plants in the power system and the electricity  delivered to all consumers that is attributable to electrical, mechanical or other technical factors within the electricity transmission and distribution systems;
PART 2

     REGULATION OF TARIFFS



3.
Principles of tariff setting – (1) The Regulator shall set tariffs and tariff structures designed to:
(a) attract the investment necessary to ensure adequate power supply and efficient operation of the power system;

(b) promote efficient use of electricity by consumers;

(c) ensure the financial viability of the sector;

(d) balance the interests of service licencees and consumers;

(e) promote fairness and minimize price discrimination except when implemented with transparency as needed to pay the cost of community service obligations not funded by the Government;

(f) be easily understood, and easy to administer; and

(g) be affordable to low income households.


4.
Decision of Regulation on Tariffs to be Final -  Any decisions of the Regulator on issues relating to tariffs shall be final unless reversed or modified by the Electricity Tribunal.  



5.
Tariff setting to be done with full transparency– (1) Tariff setting shall be conducted in an open and transparent process with public participation pursuant to Part 5 of these regulations. 

(2)  Every decision of the Regulator shall be specified as a formal decision. 


6.
Base tariff setting schedules – (1) The Regulator shall conduct a comprehensive review of the electricity network services licencee’s revenues, expenses, and investments in plant and equipment within 2 years of the enactment of these Regulations.  

(2)
At the conclusion of review under subregulation (1), the Regulator shall establish base electricity tariffs for all consumer classes, including a stand-by electricity tariff, in accordance with Regulations 9 and 10.

  
(3)
After 3 years from the effective date of the base tariffs established under subregulation (2), the Regulator shall reset the base revenue requirements and the base tariffs of the electricity network services licensee in accordance with regulations 9 and 10.  

(4)
The process under subregulation (3) shall be performed at 3 year intervals after the initial process under subregulation (3). 



7.
Tariff adjustments - (1) Despite regulation (6), the Regulator may at any time review any tariff in accordance with Regulations 9 and 10.  

(2)
The electricity network services licensee may apply to  the Regulator to conduct a tariff review between the triennial base tariff reviews under regulation 6 provided that the license must demonstrate to the Regulator’s satisfaction  that such a review requested is necessary to attain the principles in regulation 3.  
(3)
 A review under subregulation (2) shall:

(a)  proceed in accordance with the procedures and methodologies set forth in regulations 9 and 10; and

(b)  not be made more than once a year.

(4)
Subject to regulations 11, the Regulator shall establish a schedule and develop mechanisms to adjusting tariffs on a monthly basis to reflect changes in fuel prices and foreign currency exchange rates.  



8.
Tariff management and reporting requirements - Within 1 year from the commencement of these regulations, the Regulator shall establish:

(a) an appropriate accounting system for the electricity network services licensee to record and report all revenues and expenses taking into account Electric Power Corporation’s  obligations under the Public Finance Management Act 2001, and the Public Bodies (Performance and Accountability) Act 2005;

(b) an appropriate accounting system for generation licensees to report such accounting information as the Regulator may require to monitor compliance with the Electricity Act, these regulations and the generation licenses; 

(c) reporting requirements,  including the types, content and schedules of the reports in standardized formats  for the electricity network services licensee to report sales, financial, accounting, technical and operational data;

(d) appropriate reporting requirements for generation licensees to report such information as the Regulator may require to monitor compliance with the Electricity Act, these Regulations and the generation licenses; 

(e) monitoring procedures to ensure that the tariffs charged by the electricity network services license comply with the Electricity Act, these regulations and the license.

9.
Tariff setting process – (1) Within 1 year from the commencement of these regulations, the Regulator shall cause to be established a process for tariff setting, including:  

(a) a model schedule for filing tariff applications, acceptance of tariff applications, public notice, staff review of the applications, issuing of questions to the licensee, public consultation, technical consultation, filing of comments and positions and decision making;

(b) the information that must be included in an application for a base tariff review under subregulation 7 (2) for application to be considered complete, which shall include actual data for the most recent 3 years and the forecast data for the next 3 years;

(c) for cost allocation, the electricity network services licensee shall provide demand forecasts and load profiles of consumer classes including the methodologies used for the forecast;

(d) the procedure for public consultation and a model schedule for public notice (including information to accompany electric bills if appropriate), community information dissemination workshops, public consultation, and technical consultation; and  

(e) the process for reaching a final formal decision in compliance with Part 5 of these regulations and  initiating process for  appeals to the Electricity Tribunal.



10.
Tariff setting methodologies – (1) Within 1 year from the commencement of these regulations, the Regulator shall cause to be established, in accordance with Part 5 of these regulations, the methodology for setting base tariffs and interim tariff adjustments.  

(2) The methodology for setting base tariffs and tariff structures should include any formulae to be used to:

1.   determine the annual revenue requirement for the test year or years;

2. determine a reasonable rate of return;  

3. allocate the total annual revenue requirement among the consumer classes so as to assure that base tariff structures reflect the costs of providing service to each consumer class;

4. adjust the base tariffs established pursuant to regulation 3(e) to recover any revenue deficiency; 
5. assess the reasonableness of all forecast revenues and revenue adjustments including;

(i) fuel costs;

(ii) purchased power costs;

(iii) repair and  maintenance costs;

(iv) general and administrative costs;

(v) overhead;

(vi) taxes;

(vii) depreciation;

(viii) plant and equipment investments;

(ix) technical and non-technical electricity losses;

(x) revenue collection efficiency; and

(xi) incentives for efficiency improvement and cost reduction. 
11.
Mechanism for adjusting tariffs to reflect fuel cost changes - (1) Within 1 year from the commencement of these regulations, the Regulator shall cause to be established, in accordance with Part 5 of these regulations,   a methodology for adjusting tariffs on a monthly basis to reflect fuel cost changes.  

(2)  The methodology under subregulation (1) shall reflect:

(a) the amount of fuel price fluctuations since the most recent tariff setting decision;

(b) existing diesel generation efficiency and the potential for improvement;

(c) the impact of the fuel price changes on the financial condition of the electricity network services licensee; and

(d) opportunities and incentives for improved productivity.

12.
Mechanism for adjusting tariffs to reflect foreign currency exchange rate changes – (1) Within 1 year from the commencement of these regulations, the Regulator shall cause to be established, in accordance with Part 5 of these regulations, a methodology for adjusting tariffs periodically to reflect foreign currency exchange rate changes.  

(2) The methodology under subregulation (1) shall reflect:

(a) changes in foreign currency exchange rates since the most recent tariff setting decision; and

(b) impacts of foreign currency exchange rate changes on the financial position of the electricity network services licensee.

   PART 3

REGULATION OF LICENSES

13.
Electricity network services license - (1) An applicant for a license to provide electricity network services shall specify in an application for a license the following information:

(a) details of the applicant;

(b) the activities to be performed under the license;

(c) the requested duration of the license;

(d) the requested geographical service territory to be covered by the license;

(e) evidence of the applicant’s financial qualifications to provide the services to be included in the license;

(f) evidence of the applicant’s technical qualifications to provide the services to be included in the license;

(g) disclosure of any criminal or civil proceedings in Samoa or elsewhere in which the applicant or any corporate affiliate is involved or has been involved during the preceding 10 years;

(h) a description of any proceedings in which the applicant or any corporate affiliate has filed for bankruptcy or has been adjudicated to be bankrupt in the preceding 10 years; and

(i) any additional information required by the Regulator.

(2)
Before issuing an electricity network services license to an applicant, the Regulator shall be satisfied of the following matters, and include these matters in his or her findings in a formal decision:

(a) that the applicant is financially capable of providing reliable services on an ongoing basis, including the ability to access necessary capital for short and long term need;

(b) that the applicant is capable of meeting applicable financial reporting requirements and will within three years of the issuance of the licence be able to comply with internationally accepted financial reporting standards;

(c) that the applicant is not involved in business activities not covered by the electricity network services licence except as approved by the Regulator;

(d) that the applicant is technically qualified to provide the licensed services;

(e) that the applicant has a satisfactory history of corporate conduct in Samoa and elsewhere;

(f) that the public and stakeholders have had adequate opportunity to participate pursuant to the Electricity Act and Part 5 of these regulations; and

(g) that each public concern raised during the public consultation process has been specifically and adequately addressed.
(3)  The Regulator shall include in the license to provide electricity network services:

(a) a description of the services to be provided, including the obligation of the licensee to provide the services in compliance with the license, the Electricity Act, and these Regulations;

(b) an undertaking by the licensee to recognize the Regulator as the regulatory, monitoring and enforcement body of the Government of Samoa for purposes of the license and to comply with all decisions of the Regulator;

(c) the duration of the license, including the effective date for the license;

(d) the geographical area covered by the license;

(e) a description of the licensee, including the licensee’s ownership and business address;

(f) a requirement that the licensee comply with technical standards as established by the Regulator;

(g) a requirement that the licensee comply with consumer service standards as established by the Regulator;

(h) a requirement that the licensee comply with all applicable laws, regulations and requirements as to accounting and reporting of information;

(i) a requirement that the licensee pay all applicable assessments and license fees;

(j) a requirement that the licensee afford all generation licensees equal and non-discriminatory access to the network and to information about the network  on the same terms as generation facilities owned by the electricity network services licensee as needed for the conduct of their generation activities;
(k) a requirement that the licensee obtain insurance covering the licensee’s facilities in accordance with generally accepted industry standards by procuring all coverage that is available on commercially reasonable terms, such requirement shall include a condition that recognizes the entitlement of the licensee to recover the reasonable cost of insurance through the tariff;
(l) any financial conditions necessary to assure the provision of adequate and reliable services;

(m)  a provision giving the licensee a right to compensation consistent with the regulations on tariff-setting in these Regulations;

(n) a provision for license  renewal consistent with regulation 17;
(o) a provision for license suspension consistent with regulation 19;

(p) a provision for license revocation consistent with regulation 19.
(4)
The Regulator shall include technical and financial standards in the license to provide electricity network services which shall include:

(a) a method and schedule for measurement and reporting to the Regulator of system technical losses and a schedule for their improvement over time;

(b) a method and schedule for measurement and reporting to the Regulator of system non-technical losses and a schedule for their improvement over time; 

(c) a method and schedule for measurement and reporting to the Regulator of revenue collection efficiency and a schedule for the licensee’s improvement over time;

(d) a method and schedule for measurement and reporting to the Regulator of the system average frequency of interruption of service and a schedule for its improvement over time;

(e) a method and schedule for measurement and reporting to the Regulator of the system average duration of interruption of service and a schedule for improvement over time;

(f) standards specifying acceptable ranges of error for meter performance and requirements for the testing and replacement of meters;

(g)  a standard specifying acceptable voltage and frequency    fluctuations and a schedule for improvement over time;

(h) a provision that the licensee shall be excused from complying with some or all of these standards specified in subregulation (4) (f) and (h) for the duration of any period in which the Regulator determines that force majeure circumstances make such compliance unfeasible. 

(5)  A license for electricity network services shall contain consumer service performance standards to be prescribed by the Regulator which shall include:

(a) a method and schedule for recording and reporting to the Regulator of the number of consumer complaints received and a schedule for reducing the number of such complaints;

(b) a method and schedule to measure and improve resolution of consumer complaints by the electricity network services licensee;

(c) a method and schedule to measure and improve response time to service calls;

(d) a requirement that the licensee comply with the disconnection and reconnection standards in Part 4 of these regulations;

(e) a requirement that the licensee prepare, update and test plans for responding to emergency situations, including generation shortages and damage from storms or cyclones or other natural forces, and shall provide

(i) notification of outage schedules and duration to consumers on as timely and accurate a basis as possible;

(ii) interruptible rates for consumers willing to have their service curtailed when such curtailment would reduce the severity of the outage;

(iii) appeals to the public to reduce energy use during times of shortage;

(iv) use of generating facilities owned by consumers subject to appropriate safety measures and compensation.

(6)  An electricity network services license shall stipulate that the Regulator may, in consultation with the licensee, modify the technical, financial and consumer service performance standards through procedures consistent with the Part 5 of these regulations.  

(7)  Where a modification under subregulation (6) increases licensee’s operating expenses, those increased expenses shall be included in tariffs when they are next reviewed by the Regulator.

14. Generation licence – (1) Any person wishing to generate electricity other than for their own use shall apply for a generation licence from the Regulator. The Regulator shall conduct public consultation to determine the thresholds of generation capacity or annual amount of electricity to be sold or supplied to others above which a generation licence is required. 

(2)   An applicant for a licence to provide electric power generation shall specify in the application the following information: 

(a) details of the applicant;

(b) a complete description of the technology involved, including the generating capacity, the fuel type, the expected output, and the expected  capacity factor;

(c) the proposed schedule for construction and entry into operation if it is a new generation pant;

(d) proof of the applicant’s financial capability to construct and maintain the proposed generating plant if it is a new generation plant;

(e) proof of the applicant’s technical capability to construct, operate and maintain the proposed generating plant if it is a new generation plant;

(f) proof of receipt of all necessary governmental permits and certificates, including relevant certification by an authorized government body of compliance with environmental impact assessments and mitigation requirements;

(g) proof of consistency with the power system expansion plan of the electricity  network services licensee;

(h) evidence of compliance with the interconnection requirements established by the electricity network services licensee; 
(i) proof of the applicant’s history of good corporate conduct in Samoa and elsewhere, specifically including disclosure of any criminal or civil proceedings in which the applicant or any corporate affiliate is involved or has been involved during the preceding 10 years;

(j) a description of any proceedings in which the applicant or any corporate affiliate has filed for bankruptcy or has been adjudicated to be bankrupt in the preceding 10 years; and

(k) any other information that the Regulator may require.

(3)  Before issuing a license to provide electric power generation to an applicant, the Regulator shall be satisfied of the following matters, and include these matters in his or her findings in a formal decision:

(a) that the applicant is financially capable of providing reliable services on an ongoing basis and will have the ability to access necessary capital for construction, operation and maintenance;
(b) that the applicant is technically qualified to provide the licensed services;
(c) that the applicant has a satisfactory history of corporate conduct in Samoa and elsewhere;
(d) that the applicant has provided financial assurance that is needed to assure that the applicant will complete the proposed project on schedule if it is a new generation plant;
(e) that the proposed generation is consistent with the power system expansion plan  and will provide electricity at optimal costs to consumers;
(f) that the public and stakeholders have had adequate opportunity to participate pursuant to the Electricity Act and Part 5 of these regulations;
(g) that each public concern raised during the public consultation process has been specifically and adequately addressed.
(4)
The Regulator shall include in every license to provide electric power generation:

(a) a description of the generation services to be provided, including the obligation of the licensee to provide the services consistently with the license, the Electricity Act, and these regulations;

(b) the obligation of the licensee to recognize the Regulator as the regulatory, monitoring and enforcement body of the Government of Samoa for purposes of the license;

(c) any necessary limitations on the capacity output of the generating station;

(d) any necessary limitations on the electricity output of the generating station;

(e) the duration of the license, including its effective date;

(f) the anticipated date of operation of the generating station;
(g) any applicable penalties for non-performance;

(h) any applicable measurement and reporting requirements;

(i) any necessary technical conditions;

(j) a requirement that the licencee comply with all applicable laws, regulations and requirements as to accounting and reporting of information;
(k) a requirement that the licensee pay all applicable assessments and license fees;

(l) any financial conditions necessary to assure the provision of adequate and reliable services;
(m)  a provision for license  renewal consistent with regulation 17;
(n) a provision for license suspension consistent with regulation 19;
(o) a provision for license revocation consistent with regulation 19.
15.
Rules and procedures for license application and decision – (1)   The Regulator shall conduct public consultation consistent with Part 5 of these regulations to establish rules and procedures for licence application submission, review and evaluation of license applications, and a decision making and award or rejection schedule for licenses.

(2) After receiving a license application and concluding that all necessary information has been provided, the Regulator shall acknowledge the application and shall notify the applicant of the expected licensing schedule in accordance with the rules and procedures prescribed under the subregulation (1) and any application fees owing.

(3) In any proceeding involving issuance, amendment, suspension, revocation, transfer or renewal of a license, the Regulator shall notify affected stakeholders and the general public and shall assure opportunities for effective public participation pursuant to Part 5 of these regulations.
(4)  If a license application is rejected or the requested license is modified, the Regulator shall allow the applicant to re-apply or to request reconsideration within a time period in accordance with the prescribed rules and procedures.

16.
Monitoring and compliance – (1) Subject to subregulation (2), the Regulator shall have access to the licensee’s premises, equipment, personnel and documents in order to assess compliance with all legal requirements in relation to the Electricity Act, these regulations or the license .

(2)   The Regulator shall provide a reasonable notice to the licensee before exercising his or her powers under subregulation (1) unless the giving of the notice is likely to defeat the purposes of the inspection.
(3)  In this regulation, “a reasonable notice” means a written notice indicating the Regulator’s desire for access to the licensee’s premises, equipment, personnel and documents, such notice must be delivered to the licensee’s registered office not less than 24 hours from the time of access.
17.
License renewal – (1) The holder of an electricity services license must: 

(a)  seek renewal of the license 1 year prior to the expiration of the license where the licensee wishes to renew the license; or 

(b)  notify the Regulator 2 years prior to the expiration of the license if the licensee does not intend to renew the license.  

(2) Subject to subregulation (3), the Regulator may renew an electricity services license up to a maximum of 15 years upon approving an application from a licensee and payment of applicable fees
(3) Before granting a renewal under subregulation (2), the Regulator shall conduct a public review pursuant to Part 5 of these regulations and shall find that 

(a) such a renewal will promote the public good;  and

(b) no available alternative would better promote the public good.

18.
License transfer - (1) No license may be transferred or encumbered in any way without approval of the Regulator.  

(2)  The Regulator shall only grant such approval upon: 

(a) finding that the proposed action will not impair services and will promote the public good; and

(b) payment of any applicable fees.

19.
Termination, suspension and revocation - (1) A licensee wishing to terminate a license shall give notice to the Regulator 2 years before the proposed termination date.  

(2)
The license may be terminated on the proposed date if the Regulator finds in a formal decision that adequate services to the public will be maintained.

(3)
The Regulator may suspend a license upon finding in a formal decision that:
(a) the public health and safety requires suspension of a license; or

(b) the licensee no longer possesses the requisite financial or technical qualifications; or

(c) there has been either serious breach or repeated breach of a condition or conditions of a license; and 
(d) adequate services to the public will be maintained.

(4) 
The Regulator may revoke a license regardless whether the license has been suspended previously upon finding in a formal decision that: 
(a) there has been a serious breach of a condition or conditions of a license; or

(b) the conditions leading to the suspension of a license have been repeated, where applicable; and

(c) adequate services to the public will be maintained.

(5)
In any proceeding involving license suspension or revocation, the Regulator shall provide notice to the licensee and reasonable time in the circumstances for the licensee to examine the basis for the Regulator’s conclusions as well as to submit its own comments and evidence, either in support or objecting to the Regulator’s conclusions.
20.
  Dispute resolution - (1) In the event of disagreement between the Regulator and a licensee over issues pertaining to compliance with provisions of the license, the Regulator and the licensee must attempt to resolve the disagreement using a process provided for under the Alternative Dispute Resolution Act 2007.   


(2)  
If these are unsuccessful, the licensee or other stakeholder who is party to the dispute may appeal to the Electricity Tribunal.



21.
Fees - Licensees must pay all fees for license issuance, renewal and transfer as well as all assessments on operations

PART 4

CONSUMER SERVICE CONTRACTS AND STANDARDS 

22.
Consumer service contracts – (1) Electricity services shall be supplied to consumers only on the basis of a consumer contract with the licensee which complies with the Electricity Act, these regulations and the electricity network service license.

(2)  The Regulator shall require that consumer contracts:

(a) are understandable;

(b) state the effective date of the contract;

(c) state the existing applicable tariff and the fact that it is subject to change by the Regulator;

(d) explain the process of disconnection;

(e) explain the consumer’s right to have the meter checked; and
(f) explain the consumer complaint and dispute resolution procedures.

23.
Disconnection and reconnection standards – The Regulator shall establish standards governing disconnection and reconnection of consumers, including but not limited to:

(a) standards governing disconnection and reconnection that provide reasonable notice and reasonable time for the consumer to make arrangements to pay the overdue amount as long as current bills are paid;

(b) a requirement that the licensee shall provide the Regulator access to the licensee’s records regarding a consumer who disputes a bill;

(c) a standard that the licensee may disconnect service immediately in the event of danger to health and safety or theft of electricity;

(d) a standard that the licensee may require a reasonable deposit from a domestic consumer who has previously been disconnected for non-payment or from any non-domestic consumer whose credit history reveals a substantial risk of non-payment.
24.
Standards for compensation for damage to consumer equipment – (1) Subject to subregulation (2), the Regulator shall consult with the public, the electricity network services licensee and other experts to establish standards governing compensation for damage to consumer equipment caused by failure of electricity supplied or sold by electricity services licensee in accordance with the Electricity Act.  

(2) Any compensation awarded under subregulation (1), shall not exceed the reasonable value of the equipment and shall not include any consequential damage caused by the unavailability of the equipment.
   PART 5

PUBLIC CONSULTATION

25.
General matters - (1) The Regulator shall operate with transparency in all of his or her proceedings and shall assure that notice of proceedings and information in his or her possession are widely available in a timely manner and an easily understood form.
(2) The Regulator shall maintain and update a strategy for public information dissemination and involvement regarding matters of long term importance to the electricity sector, such as improvements in service, availability of low income assistance for paying for electricity, demand side management, reduction of energy theft, and need for metering and disconnection policies.

(3)
The Regulator shall maintain a user friendly web site containing information on the status of major proceedings, copies of important documents and information on schedules and the rights of the public to take part in such proceedings.

(4)
The Regulator shall maintain and distribute written materials describing the rights of electricity consumers and providing other useful information on such matters as safety and efficient use of electricity. 

(5)
In all proceedings, the Regulator shall assure that the public and all stakeholders have notice at the earliest possible date of the matter under consideration, the schedule and the rules for public consultation.

(6)
Subject to any financial or other resource constraints, the Regulator shall affirmatively seek and encourage public participation in regulatory proceedings to further both licensee responsiveness and a well informed public.

(7)
The public is entitled to all information in the possession of the Regulator except for which has been designated or identified as confidential.  

(8)  
The Regulator may charge a reasonable fee for the costs of processing requests for documents.

(9)
In all proceedings having an impact on the general public, the Regulator shall develop and make known processes, including time limits, by which the public may:

(a)
access an application for a license and all supporting information provided by the applicant;

(b) ask questions of the applicant and request relevant information from the applicant;

(c)
subject to subregulation (7), access  information from the Regulator;

(d)
present written evidence and statements of position to the Regulator;

(e) present oral statements to the Regulator at public consultation workshops;

(f) 
exercise appeal rights.

26.
Public consultation in tariff and licensing proceedings:  (1) The Regulator shall maintain a current list of stakeholders for tariff review and licensing proceedings and notify stakeholders of new proceedings in time to enable them to prepare to participate in the proceedings.

(2)
In conducting the triennial base tariff review under regulation (6) as well as all other proceedings with a widespread public interest, the Regulator shall require the electricity network services licensee to conduct at least 1 community information dissemination workshop in Savai’i and 1 in Upolu to explain the proceeding, and receive and record comments.

(3) 
The Regulator shall require the applicant to publish, at the applicant’s expense, public notices of the applicant’s tariff application in the Savali newspaper.  

(4) 
Public notices required under subregulation (3) shall:
(a) be given to each stakeholder;

(b) summarize the tariff changes proposed in the tariff application;
(c) state how the interested parties can participate in the Regulator’s evaluation of  the tariff application; and
(d) state where a copy of the application and information can be obtained.

(5)
All stakeholders affected shall have the right to make submissions to the Regulator before the decision is made.

(6)
A public record of all submissions received under subregulation (5) must be kept.

(7)
Each party affected should have the right to see and comment on the submissions made by others.

(8)
The Regulator’s decision must:

(a) be a formal decision that responds to all submissions received;
(b) give a clear and detailed explanation of the facts relied upon; and
(c) provide the reasons for the conclusions reached.

(9)
The Regulator shall publish a draft decision and provide all stakeholders affected the opportunity to make comments prior to making the final decision.

(10)
The decision must be provided to those stakeholders who express a wish to be notified and must be placed on the Regulator’s website.

27.
Confidentiality – (1) The Regulator shall withhold from public disclosure any information that:
(a) 
would harm national security;
(b)  
is commercially sensitive;
(c) 
relates to licensee personnel actions; or

(d) 
any information that would infringe upon the privacy of individual consumers.
(2)
The exceptions to public disclosure provided for under subregulation (1) are to be narrowly construed in order to maximize information to be made available to the public.

28.
Advisory committees – (1) The Regulator may appoint 1 or more advisory committees to advise it as necessary.  

(2)
Committees appointed under subregulation (1) may include representatives of consumer groups, affected stakeholders, or electricity services licensees.
(3)
Members of any advisory committee established under this regulation, shall be paid such remuneration as may be approved by Cabinet.

APPENDIX F: Templates for Electricity Tariff Applications
Office of the Electricity Regulator

Electricity Tariff Application Forms

Submitted by Licensee: _______

Date:
[image: image8.emf]The Electricity Regulator

The Regulators' Office 

Government Building

Apia

5.Totheextentreasonablyapplicable,theinformationcontainedinthisreportshallbepreparedandpresentedinconformance,in

all material respects, with accounting standards established by The Electricity Regulator.

6.Itislicensee'sresponsibilitytoclearlyandtransparentlysetforthinthisreportthemethods,assumptions,conventionsand

sources of information needed to fully support its tariff application.

7.Thelicenseeshallsubmitanysupplementalinformationdeemedusefulornecessarytoprovidesupportingdetailsforthe

amounts in the schedules contained in this report.

9.LicenseeshallsubmitthisreporttoTheElectricityRegulatorbothinelectronic(unprotected)format,asspecifiedbyThe

Electricity Regulator, and as an original signed paper document together with three conformed copies.

General Instructions

1.Thepurposeofthisreportistocollectinformationforconsiderationofachangeinelectricitytariffpricesbyagenerationand/or

network services Licensee that is subject to the provisions of the Electricity Act 2010.

2.LicenseeshallcompleteandsubmitthisreporttotheRegulatoreitherattherequestoftheRegulatororasapartofarequest

from the Licensee for a change in the tariff.  

3. Licensee shall certify that the information contained in this report is true and correct by having the Licensee's authorized signatory 

sign and submit an original hard copy (paper) version of this report to the Office of the Regulator.

Electricity Tariff Application Forms

12. Licensees shall submit this report to:

4.TheRegulatormayrejectanychangetoelectricitytariffsunlessthisreporthasbeendulysubmittedinproperformusingrelevant

and up to date information, including but not limited to the Licensee's most recent audited financial statements.  

11.TheElectricityRegulatormayrequestsuchsupplementaldataorinformationfromlicenseeinconnectionwithitstariff

application as The Electricity Regulator deems useful or necessary to conduct its review.

8. All amounts included in this report shall be reported together with a clear designation of the applicable units of measure.  

10.TheElectricityRegulatorshallensurethatanyinformationfurnishedbytheLicenseeandidentifiedasbeingconfidentialisnot

disclosed to any third party except as may be provided under The Electricity Act 2010.

The symbol $ or $T means the Samoan Tala.

In the event of any conflicting data or information the original signed paper document will be the official version.
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C. Summary by Tariff Schedule

D. Supporting Schedules
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B. Tariff Schedules and Conditions of Service

V. Operational and Technical Information
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B. Power Purchase Data

C. Customer Accounts Receivable and Collection Data

VI. Compliance with the Electricity Regulator's Directives 

A. Statement of Compliance with the Regulator's Directives

B. Results of Programs to Reduce Energy Losses (example)

Appendix A: Financial and Operational Reports 

Appendix B: Assumptions Used in the Financial Projections  and 

  Revenue Requirement Calculations

Appendix C: The Capital Investment Information 

OFFICE OF THE ELECTRICITY REGULATOR

Contents

Note:theschedulesinthisreportformareindicativeoftheminimuminformationrequirementsfor

licensee'sapplicationforachangeintariffs.Licenseeshouldamendandsupplementtheseformsas

ppropriate to provide comprehensive and clear support for its tariff application.

Electricity Tariff Application Forms
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Note: amend as appropriate to address different tariff structures and/or requested changes in tariff structures from those shown below.

A.  Revenue Requirement and Tariff Proposal

Actual

Current 

AuditedAuditedProvisionalBudgetProposed Proposed Proposed Notes

Year  to [30 June]

(Licensee's Fiscal Year)

Define N-1N-2N-1NN+1N+2N+3

Operating and Maintenance Expenses

Generation Base Cost (including depreciation)$000

15,620

Fuel (including coconut oil & others) Cost$000

6,600

Power Purchases Cost$000

800

Network Services Cost (including depreciation)$000

18,700

Total Operating Cost$000

41,720A1+A2+A3+A4

Return on Net Fixed Assets plus Working Capital 

Generation$000

4,400

Network Services$000

4,400

Total Return on Capital$000

8,800B1+B2

Total Revenue Requirement

Generation

27,420

Network Services

23,100

Subtotal Revenue Requirement

-10050,520

Allowable Collection Efficiency (%)

-10095%

Allowable Revenue Requirement

53179

Less Non-tariff Revenue

-100

Less Tariff Subsidy 

-100

Adjusted Total Revenue Requirement

52979

Allocated Revenue Requirement (Base Rate)

Domestic Block 1$

Domestic Block 2$

Non Domestic Consumption$

Wheeling (thirty-party energy)*$

Proposed Customer Tariff - for Sales of Electrical Energy

Base Rate

Domestic Block 10 to 50 kWh per month$ per kWh0.69

Domestic Block 2Over 51 kWh per month$ per kWh0.82

Non Domestic Consumption$ per kWh0.82

Wheeling$ per kWh

Average Customer Tariff$ per kWh

Overdue Penalty (Reconnection Fee)$ per kWh20.00

Power Factor Penalties

Electricity Sales by Tariff Category

Domestic Block 1GWh

Domestic Block 2GWh

Non Domestic ConsumptionGWh

Total SalesGWh

Wheeling* GWh

* Wheeling revenue refers to charges applied to third-party energy for use of power network services

* Wheeling energy refers to the amount of third-party energy transmitted through power network

ActualForecast

Information Submission for Electricity Tariff Review

I. Summary of Electricity Tariff Proposal 
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Energy Supply

Net Generation outputs to NetworksMWh sent out

74,375

Power Purchases from IPPsMWh received

2,000

Allowable Energy Losses% MWh into Grid 

12%

Allowable Energy LossesMWh

9,165(G1+G2)*G3

Power Billed to ConsumersMWh billed

67,210G1+G2-G3

Key Indicators

Average Generation Base Cost$ per kWh sent out

0.21(A1 / G1)

Average Fuel (including coconut oil) Cost$ per kWh sent out

0.09(A2 / G1)

Average Power Purchase Cost$ per kWh purchased

0.40(A3 / G2)

Average Network Services Cost$ per kWh delivered

0.34(A4 / G4)

Average Cost of Service$ per kWh delivered0.75

(A5+B3 / G4)

Allowable Collection Efficiency% 95%

Average Tariff to End Users

0.79

Net Fixed Assets & Working Capital

Generation

$000

Network Services

$000

Non Regulated Operations

$000

Quality of Service

System Average Interruption Duration Index (SAIDI)

Hours per Customer / Year

Number of Complaints per 1,000 Customers

#

Distribution Voltage Tolerances

%

Gross Generation Forecast

UpoluMWh

Savai'iMWh

TotalMWh

Power Purchase Prices

Upolu - Peak(Specify Peak Hours)

$ per kWh

Upolu - Off Peak

$ per kWh

Upolu Average Price

$ per kWh

Savai'i - Peak(Specify Peak Hours)

$ per kWh

Savai'i - Off Peak

$ per kWh

Savai'i Average Price

$ per kWh

System Average Price

$ per kWh

Power Purchases

Upolu

MWh

Savai'i

MWh

Total

MWh

Operational Efficiency

Plant Load Factor

Diesel - Upolu

%

Hydro - Upolu

%

Diesel - Savai'i

%

Fuel Use Efficiency (diesel+coconut oil generation)litres/kWh generation

Peak load per kVA of Transformer 

Upolu Network

MW / kVA

Savai'i Network

MW / kVA

Energy Losses (=energy received - energy billed)

GWh

Energy Losses (% of Energy received)

% Energy

Covenant Compliance

Self Financing Ratio> 12% to 2015, then > 20%

#

Debt Service Ratio > 1.3

#

Accounts Receivable < 2 months sales

months sales

I. Summary of Electricity Tariff Proposal 
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Generation Operation and Power Purchase Costs

Net Work Operation & Maintenance costs 

Depreciation expense

Capital investment bases - for both Generation and Network Services

Note: detail assumptions on allocation of general assets to the generation and the distribution asset bases.

Interest cost of debt capital

Rate of return on equity

Overall return on Investment

Allocation of revenue requirements to tariff classes

Changes in tariff revenues

Changes in conditions of service

A. Licensee's Proposed Method to Determine Revenue Requirement

II. Proposed Revenue Requirement

Describe the method being proposed by the licensee to determine total Revenue Requirements.

Themethodmustaddressthefollowingcomponentsataminimumandbesupportedbythe

schedules, including supplemental schedules provided by licensee, comprising this report:


[image: image13.emf]Own Generation 

Year to 30 June

200720082009201020112012201320142015

Unit - Upolu

Sub Total

Unit Savai'i

Sub Total

Total0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0

Power Purchases 

Year to 30 June200920092010201020112011201220122015

IPPs - Upolu

MW

Sub Total

IPPs Savai'i

Sub Total

Total0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0

Power Purchases 

Year to 30 June200920092010201020112011201220122015

IPPs - Upolu

Wieghted Average Cost

IPPs Savai'i

Wieghted Average Cost

Total Weighted Average Cost

Historical Purchase Price  $ / kWhForecast Purchase  $ / kWh

II. Proposed Revenue Requirement

B. Generation and Power Purchases

Historical Purchase / MWhForecast Purchase / MWh

MW

Historical Generation / MWhForecast Generation / MWh


[image: image14.emf]DescriptionN-1NN+1N+2N+3

$$$$$

Generation and Power Purchase (Energy)

Fuel (including coconut oil)

Power Purchase

Employee Cost

Repairs and Maintenance

Other Operating Costs

Total Energy

Network Service (Distribution & Customer Services)

Employee Cost

Repairs and Maintenance

Other Operating Costs

Total Network Services

Administrative and General

Employee Cost

Repairs and Maintenance

Other Operating Costs

Total Administrative and General

Tax Expense

TOTAL OPERATIONAL COSTS

Licensee shall provide supporting schedules:

(a)  for all adjustments to historic data; and

(b) for all functional allocations of costs.

II. Proposed Revenue Requirement

C. Operation and Maintenance Costs

Fiscal Year


[image: image15.emf]Fiscal YearN-2N-1N-0N+1N+2N+3

$$$$$$

Generation Assets

Net Fixed Assets

Opening Balance 

Add Assets Brought Into Service

Less Disposals

Less Depreciation

Closing Balance

Distribution & Customer Services

Net Fixed Assets

Opening Balance 

Add Assets Brought Into Service

Less Disposals

Less Depreciation

Closing Balance

General Equipment

Net Fixed Assets

Opening Balance 

Add Assets Brought Into Service

Less Disposals

Less Depreciation

Closing Balance

Total Depreciation

Licensee shall provide work papers describing and 

illustrating basis for calculating depreciation 

expense for the various asset classes.

Licensee shall provide work papers showing the 

basis for allocation of expenses to functional 

II. Proposed Revenue Requirement

Depreciation

   D. Depreciation 


[image: image16.emf]Summary of Loans

(ST$ thousand - current prices)

Budget

200920102011201220132014

Additions to Debt

Principal Repayment

Ending Debt (including current portion)

Current Portion of Debt

Operating Interest

Above summary from EPC Financial Model.  If requested EPC will need to provide the detailed calculations to prepare the above summary.

ActualProjected

$ thousand

II. Proposed Revenue Requirement

E. Debt & Finance Costs


[image: image17.emf]II. Proposed Revenue Requirement

ActualCurrent

Fiscal Year

N-1

NN+1N+2N+3

$$$$$

Rate Base - Generation

Net assets 

Net Working Capital (generation)

Less: Customer Contributions toward Construction

Less: Customer Deposits held by licensee

Rate Base - Distribution

Net assets 

Net Working Capital (distribution)

Less: Customer Contributions toward Construction

Less: Customer Deposits held by licensee

Return on Investment Base

Cost of CapitalXX.XX %

(See Below)Return Generation

Return Distribution

Cost of Capital

% of 

CapitalCost %

Weighted 

Cost

(a)(b)

Debt%DDebt Cost(a) x (b)

Equity%EROE(a) x (b)

Total100%XX.XX %

F. Investment Base and Return

Forecast


[image: image18.emf]N-1NN+1N+2N+3

Source($T)($T)($T)($T)($T)

I. Government Subsidies

For ………………

For Domestic Consumers

Other (itemize each category)

Total Subsidies

II. Other Income and Miscellaneous Revenue

(Itemize each component)

Total Other Income and Revenue

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE

G. Other Revenues

II. Proposed Revenue Requirement


[image: image19.emf]Amount

Cost Component$TGenerationDistributionWheeling

1. Purchase Power and Generation Costs

2. Network Operation & Maintenance Costs

3. Depreciation

4. Return on Investment

Total Annual Costs

5. Less Other Revenues

Total Revenue Requirement

II. Proposed Revenue Requirement

H. Summary of Proposed Revenue Requirement

Functional Allocation of Costs


	III. Retail Tariff Cost Allocation

	A. Description of Methodology

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	The licensee is required to allocate the proposed Revenue Requirement to each Tariff Class based on an analysis of cost responsibilities reasonably assigned to each tariff class.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	This schedule shall contain a description of the methodologies used and results obtained from licensee's allocation process. Supplemental sheets should be inserted as necessary.


[image: image20.emf]Tariff ScheduleOn PeakOff PeakTotal

Non-coincident 

Peak Demand

Coincident with 

System Peak

On PeakOff PeakTotal

Non-coincident 

Peak Demand

Coincident with 

System Peak

(MWh)(MW)(MW)(MWh)(MW)(MW)

Resident Block 1

Resident Block 2

Other

 (Revise list as appropriate)

TOTALS

Notes:licensee is to complete the above schedules using the best estimation methods feasible

  given the data available.

Descriptions of the estimation methods are to be provided

FORECAST PERIODs (one set each year)

Number of 

Customers

Electricity SalesEst. Class Peak Demand

III. Retail Tariff Cost Allocation

B. Load Research Data

Electricity SalesEst. Class Peak Demand

Number of 

Customers

HISTORICAL PERIOD


[image: image21.emf]Tariff Schedule

List 

 (Revise list as appropriate)

TOTALS

Tariff Revenue 

Requirements

III. Retail Tariff Cost Allocation

C. Summary by Tariff Schedule

($T)

Licensee shall provide the details of each allocation in this 

summary schedule

Purchase 

Power Costs


	III. Retail Tariff Cost Allocation

	D. Supporting Schedules

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Include here schedules showing the data, assumptions and analysis used to allocate the cost components of tariff revenue requirements to each class of customer.


[image: image22.emf]Tariff 

Code

Existing Tariff Schedules

Domestic Block 1

Domestic Other

Other

Requirements for eligibility

Service Voltage

Customer Charge

Demand Charge

 (List as appropriate)Other Fixed Charges

Energy Charges

Minimum Charge

Deleted Tariff Schedules

Added Tariff Schedules

For each tariff schedule, describe changes 

to service conditions or prices, such as:

IV. Proposed Tariffs

A. Summary of Tariff Classes

TitleService VoltageChanges to Conditions of Service


	IV. Proposed Tariffs
	

	B. Tariff Schedules and Conditions of Service
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Licensee is required to attach the following documents:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	1. Proposed tariff schedules applicable to all customer classes.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	2. Currently effective and approved tariff schedules applicable to all customer classes.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	3. Other changes, if any, proposed to the Conditions of Service applicable to customers.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


[image: image23.emf]V. Operational and Technical Information

A. Licensee's Energy Balance

EPC Network(s) Energy Balance

Instructions

Budget

N-3N-2N-1

NN+1N+2N+3

EPC's energy balance, not the national (electrical energy balance).

Year to 30 June2008200920102011201220132014

Electrical Energy by Source 

Provide details by grid and by type of generation

Upolu System

By network

Gross GenerationDiesel

Energy produced at the generator terminals

Less Station Use & Losses 

Energy  Sent Out (to Grid)

Energy transferred to netowrk at power station bus bars

Gross GenerationHydro

Less Station Use & Losses 

Includes station use and losses at the power station

Net Generation Sent Out

Power PurchasesIPPs

Power purchased at entry to grid

Wheeled Energy *

Energy received for transport through network

Total Energy (into Grid)

Savai'i System

Gross GenerationDiesel

Less Station Use & Losses 

Energy  Sent Out (to Grid)

Gross GenerationHydro

Less Station Use & Losses 

Net Generation Sent Out

Wheeled Energy *

Power PurchasesIPPs

Total Energy (into Grid)

Isolated Systems(Provide location(s))

Apolima etc.

Gross GenerationDiesel

Less Station Use & Losses 

Energy  Sent Out (to Grid)

Gross GenerationOther

Less Station Use & Losses 

Net Generation Sent Out

Wheeled Energy *

Power PurchasesIPPs

Total Energy (into Grid)

Total Energy Inflow

Total energy transferred to the licensee's networks 

Energy Losses in Networks

Show assumptions & methods used to estimate losses

Upolu System Provide details of losses by voltage level

Savai'i System

Isolated Systems

Total Losses in Networks

Wheeled Energy Deliveries Note assumptions on losses allocated to wheeled energy

Upolu System

Savai'i System

Isolated Systems

Total - Delivered

Sales by Tariff Group 

Upolu System

Provide breakdown if energy sold at different voltage levels

Domestic

Non-Domestic

Total0000000

Savai'i System

Provide breakdown if energy sold at different voltage levels

Domestic

Non-Domestic

Total0000000

Isolated SystemsProvide breakdown if energy sold at different voltage levels

Domestic

Non-Domestic

Total0000000

Total Energy Outflow 

(from Grid)

* Wheeled energy refers to the amount of third-party energy transmitted through power network on which a wheeling charge will impose

ActualProjected

MWh


[image: image24.emf]Contract Name

(Years)(MW)(MWh)(MWh)(MWh)(MWh)(MWh)

Agreement No. 1

Agreement No. 2

(List power purchase contracts)

TOTALS

[firm, system power, 

interruptible, etc.]

NN-1N+3

Net Output

N+1N+2

V. Operational and Technical Information

B. Power Purchase Data by Contract

Effective 

Date

Contract 

Term

Contract 

CapacityContract Type


[image: image25.emf]C. Customer Accounts Receivable and Collection Data

AmountAmountWrittenAmountAmountWrittenAmountAmountWritten

Consumer CategoriesBilledCollectedOffOtherBilledCollectedOffOtherBilledCollectedOffOther

$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

Domestic

Industrial

Commercial

Hotels

Government

Religious & Charities

Schools

 Revise as appropriate

TOTALS

Ending 

Balance

N

Opening 

Balance

Activity During the Period

Ending 

Balance

Activity During the Period

V. Operational and Technical Information

N+1

Opening 

Balance

Activity During the Period

Ending 

Balance

Opening 

Balance

N-1


[image: image26.emf]Order No.Date

Order No. 11. Investigate…

2. Determine…

3. Propose actions…

4. Report findings…

Order No. 11. Investigate…

2. Determine…

3. Propose actions…

4. Report findings…

Order No. 11. Investigate…

2. Determine…

3. Propose actions…

4. Report findings…

Status / Planned Actions

[Expand as 

needed]

Results AchievedSubjectActions Ordered by Regulator

Licenseeshalllistallregulatoryordersreceivedsinceitslasttariffreviewthatincluded

directivesfromtheERforactionstobeundertakenbythelicensee,unlessrelievedof

this requirement in writing for good cause shown in a specific case.

VI. Compliance with the Electricity Regulator's Directives 

A. Statement of Compliance with Electricity Regulator's Directives

Actions Taken by Licensee


[image: image27.emf]   

Thereportshallincludebothhistoricandforecastinformationonoperating,maintenance,andcapital

costs associated with [loss reduction] initiatives.

Thelicenseeshallalsopresentitsplanforfuture[lossreductions]actions,includingtheexpected

costs and benefits of its plan forecast for the next five years.

VI. Compliance with the Electricity Regulator's Directives 

B. Efforts to [

Reduce Technical and Commercial Losses]

Thelicenseeshallincludeastatementoftheefforts,sinceitsprevioustarifforderwasissued,to

[reduce technical and commercial losses on the transmission and distribution system].

Illustrative -directives could cover any relevant aspect affecting costs of service, such as fuel 


[image: image28.emf]Appendix A: Financial and Operational Reports 

The following information is to be provided in the Excel spreadsheet formats shown below, and 

accompanied by hard copies of relevant and appropriate source documents (Audited Accounts,

Provisional Financial Statements, Budgets, and Operational Reports etc.).

1. Key Performance Indicators

2. Statement of Income

3. Balance Sheet

4. Statement of Retained Earnings

5. Statement of Cash Flows

6. Notes to Financial Statements    

1. Key Performance Indicators

N-3N-2N-1NN+1N+2N+3

Budget

2008200920102011201220132014

A.Average Tariffs

 Base Tariff 

($/kWh)

 Fuel Surcharge 

($/kWh)

 Base Tariff + Fuel Surcharge 

($/kWh)

Average Generation Cost

$ / kWh sent out

Average Power Purchase Cost

$ / kWh received

Average Transport (Distribution) Cost

$ / kWh delivered

Energy transport cost: includes network operating costs, cost of losses, and returns on distribution rate base

B.Financial Efficiency 

Rate Base$

After Tax Return on Rate Base% per year

After Tax WACC% per year

Accounts Receivable months sales

C.Operating Performance

Licensee Generation Capacity UpoluMW

Diesel

Hydro

Other

Plant Load Factor Upolu

IPP Contracted Capacity (Upolu)

Licensee Generation Capacity Savai'iMW

Diesel

Hydro

Other

Plant Load Factor Savai'i

IPP Contracted Capacity (Savai'i)

Generation & Sales 

MWh

Gross Diesel Generation

Gross Hydro Generation

Other Gross Generation

Total Generation

MWh

Power Purchases

MWh

Total Supply

MWh

Energy Sales (MWh)MWh

Licensee's Energy Losses (%)

Own Generators' Fuel ConsumptionLitres

2. Statement of Income

Budget

2009201020112012201320142015

Revenue

Electricity Revenue

Base Tariff

Fuel Surcharge

Less: Discount Allowed

Net Sales

Other Revenue

Non-Electricity Sales

Fuel Levy Subsidy

Interest on Overdue Accounts

Other Income

Total Revenue

Direct Costs Electricity Sales

Fuel

Insurance

Motor Vehicle Costs

Operating Expenses

Labor Costs

Repair & Maintenance

Depreciation

Other Expenses

Total Direct Costs

Direct Costs Non-Electricity Sales

Gross Profit

Selling & Distribution Expenses

Administration Expenses

Net Finance Costs

Other Expenses

Net Profit

3. Balance SheetInsert from EPC financial model for the relevant years (N-2 to N+3)

4. Statement of Retained EarningsInsert from EPC financial model for the relevant years (N-2 to N+3)

5. Statement of Cash FlowsInsert from EPC financial model for the relevant years (N-2 to N+3)

6. Notes to Financial Statements    Insert from EPC financial model for the relevant years (N-2 to N+3)

Actual 

Projected

Actual Audited

Projected


Appendix B to the Tariff Application Forms should include the key assumptions used in the financial projections and revenue requirement calculations included in the tariff application. These assumptions that can be obtained from EPC financial model, Sheet 4: Inputs for Financial Projections, include: 
A. Basic Inputs

B. Inflation, interest rates, and exchange rates

C. Revenue

D. Direct costs and sales

E. Selling and distribution expenses

F. Administration expenses

G. Dank charges and other expenses

H. Depreciation and disposal of fixed assets

I. Cash flow statement inputs

J. Balance sheet inputs, and

K. Calculations.

Appendix C to the Tariff Application Forms should include the information on the capital investments included in the financial projections and revenue requirement calculations included in the tariff application. This information that can be obtained from EPC financial model, Sheet 4: Inputs for Financial Projections, includes: (i) capital expenditures, work in progress, and assets entering service, (ii) financing plan, and (iii) loan balance and interest calculations.

APPENDIX G:   Regulatory Procedures
These draft Regulatory Procedures for performing the roles and the functions of the Office of the Electricity Regulator were prepared in accordance with the Electricity Act 2010 (hereafter the Act), and the draft Electricity Regulations shown in Appendix E to this report  (hereafter the Regulations). The incoming Multi-sector Regulator should finalize the Electricity Regulations and submit them to the Cabinet for approval.  The draft Regulatory Procedures presented in this appendix should then be updated to ensure consistency with the final Electricity Regulations.  
These regulatory procedures provide guidance for carrying out of the functions of the Office of the Electricity Regulator specified in the Electricity Act 2010.  To that end, the procedures are divided by function (i.e., tariff setting, licensing, etc). Where appropriate, the procedures are further divided into guidance for the Office of the Multi-sector Regulator and guidance for stakeholders.

I.
TARIFF SETTING
A.
General Procedures for the Office of the Regulator to Review and Approve Tariffs
1.
To comply with the Act and the Regulations, and provide guidance to the network services licensee and to the public as to their rights and obligations in tariff setting proceedings, the Regulator should follow the schedules set forth in the Act:
a.
Section 56(b) of the Act grants approval to all tariffs (including the fuel adjustment charge and fuel adjustment charge method) that were in place at the time of the Act’s passage.  Consequently, no immediate tariff setting action by the Regulator is required. 
b.
Within one year of the commencement of the Regulations, the Regulator   has several responsibilities:

i. To develop a system of accounts [Regulations, Section 8(a) and (b)];

ii. To establish reporting requirements for the network services licensee [Regulations, Section 8(c)];

iii. To reporting requirements as needed for the generation licensee [Regulations, Section 8(d)];

iv. To establish monitoring procedures to assure that the tariffs charged by the licensee comply with the Act, the Regulations and the license [Regulations, Section 8(e)];

v. To develop a tariff setting methodology [Regulations, Section 10]; 

vi. To develop a methodology for adjusting tariffs on a monthly basis to reflect fuel cost changes [Regulations, Section 11];

vii. To develop a methodology for periodically adjusting tariffs to reflect foreign currency exchange rate changes [Regulations, Section 12].

2.
To discharge the foregoing responsibilities, the Regulator should commence a public proceeding as described in Procedure VIII(A)(2) below.  The subjects of the proceeding would be the issues described in Procedure I(A)(1)(b) above.  This proceeding could take the form of an umbrella proceeding with several subparts, or it could be divided into several separate proceedings.  

3.
In each proceeding, the Regulator should order the licensee to submit its views as to the subject matter within three months, during which the Office of the Regulator can also obtain outside assistance as needed for these tasks.

4.
Following receipt of the licensee proposals, the public should be given one month to file comments.

5.
Following receipt of public comments, the Regulator should develop its proposed decision within three months. 
6.
The proposed decision should be published for comment.  One month should be allowed for public and licensee comments.

7.
To meet the one year deadline in Section 8 of the Regulations, the final decision on each of these items must be published within four months after receipt of comments on the proposed decision.  

8.
Upon the completion of the tasks set forth in the Procedure IA(1)(b) above, the Regulator shall begin the process of establishing base tariffs for the network services licensee. The base tariffs for the network services licensee should be completed within two years following the commencement of the Act. 

9.
The Regulator shall reset the base tariffs for the network services licensee every three years, or at more frequent intervals if necessary.  

.  

B.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator for Setting Tariffs at the Initiative of the Regulator
1.
In addition to the base tariff setting proceeding, any other tariff setting proceedings initiated by the Office of the Regulator should follow the procedures for public hearings set forth in Procedure VIII (A)(2) below and should begin with notice to the licensee and to the public of the tariffs being reviewed and the scope of the proceeding.

2.
In the notice of the proceeding, the Regulator should set forth the aspects of the revenue requirement and other matters that will be reviewed and the information that the licensee is required to file using the tariff application forms available on the Regulator’s website. 

3.
Once the required information has been fully provided, the Office of the Regulator should formally enter the proceeding into the regulatory docket.  The Regulator should then establish and publicize a schedule for public consultation regarding the tariff change, including the schedule and opportunities for members of the public to request information and to make their views known.  The Regulator should follow the public hearing guidance set forth in Procedure VIII(A)(2) of this document.
4.
The procedure for setting tariffs at the initiative of the Regulator should then follow the procedures set forth in Procedure I(C)(5-12) below. Within three years of the time that the Regulator first establishes base tariffs, it must reset the revenue requirement and the tariffs of the network services licensee.

C.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator to Set Tariffs at the Initiative of the Licensee
1.
Any tariff proceeding initiated by the licensee should begin with submission of a tariff application using the forms available on the Regulator’s website. 

2.
After receiving an application for a tariff change, the Office of the Regulator must review the application to be sure that it contains all of the required information.  If it does not, the licensee should be informed in writing of all information necessary to complete the application to begin processing it.
3.
Upon receiving an application for a tariff change, the Office of the Regulator should assure that the applicant has complied with its obligation to give public notice pursuant to Section 20(4) of the Act.
4.
Upon determining that an application is complete and any requisite fee has been paid, the Regulator should formally enter the proceeding into the regulatory docket.  The Regulator should then establish and publicize a schedule for public consultation and complete review of the tariff change (which is required to be completed within 6 months by Section 20(3) the Act), including the schedule and opportunities for members of the public to view the application and to request information and to make their views known.  The Regulator should follow the Public Hearing guidance set forth in Procedure VIII(A)(2) of this document.
5.
After reviewing the application, the Office of the Regulator should send to the applicant in writing within 45 days all questions necessary to obtain the information to make the findings set forth in Section (19)(3)(a-f) of the Act as well as each of the factors required by Section 3(1)(a-g) of the Regulations.
6.
Upon receiving the answers to the questions in Procedure I(C)(5) above, the Office of the Regulator should review them for completeness and should make them public.  If additional information is necessary to satisfy the statutory requirements, the Office of the Regulator may ask follow-up questions. 
7.
Upon receiving answers to all written questions, the Office of the Regulator should provide an opportunity for public comments.
8.
If significant issues remain unresolved between the applicant and the Office of the Regulator or are raised in the public comments, the Regulator should schedule a public hearing.
9.
At the public hearing, the applicant must respond to questions from the Office of the Regulator and, if the Regulator approves, from members of the public.
10.
Before reaching a final decision, the Regulator should provide a draft decision to the applicant and to other formal participants for their comment.
11.
When the Regulator reaches a final decision, it should be in writing and should include a careful description of the evidence relied upon and the reasoning that justifies the decision.  Any decision allowing a change in the existing tariffs (whether the change was requested by the licensee or was determined by the Regulator), should discuss each of the factors required by Section (19)(3)(a-f) of the Act as well as each of the factors required by Section 3(1)(a-g) of the Regulations.
12.
The Regulator’s final decision should be public and posted on the Regulator’s website and should be provided to applicant and to all other formal participants in the proceeding 
D.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator in Calculating and Granting Tariff Subsidies

1.
Section 22 of the Act allows the Regulator to direct that tariff subsidies be granted to low income households. 

2.
To develop a definition of “low income household” Section 22 of the Act requires the Regulator to seek the advice of the Samoa Bureau of Statistics.

3.
In any decision setting such subsidies, the Regulator should make explicit findings as to the definition of low income household, the ability of low-income households to afford electricity service, the size of the subsidy, the mechanism for delivering the subsidy, the number of eligible customers, the revenue required by the subsidy and whether it is to come from other customers or from the government of Samoa.

4.
The decision should also make clear what customers must do to receive the subsidy, and ensure that only eligible customers receive the subsidy.  

5.
The Regulator should seek Cabinet approval of any Government funding for the subsidy in accordance with Section 22(c) of the Act.

6.
If funds for the subsidy must come from other customers, the Regulator should make clear what the required tariff adjustments are and approve them.

E.
Procedures for the Licensee in Tariff Setting Proceedings
1.
To assure expeditious and efficient tariff decisions, the licensee should comply fully with the system of accounts and the reporting requirements.

2.
When applying for a tariff change, the licensee is responsible for submitting a complete application according to forms specified by the Electricity Regulator and available on the Regulator’s website.  
3.
To assure an expeditious proceeding, the licensee should be sure that its initial application is complete and accurate.

4.
The licensee is also responsible for notification of the public of the proposed change through the media as well as inserting such information in bills to customers who receive regular electricity bills.

5.
Upon receiving the Office of the Regulator’s questions and follow-up questions, the applicant should answer them within 21 days or any other period set by the Regulator.

6.
The applicant should be prepared to explain its position in any public proceeding scheduled by the Regulator.  If the proceeding includes a public hearing, the applicant should be prepared to answer questions that are within the scope of the hearing.

F.
Procedures for Other Stakeholders in Tariff Setting Proceedings
1.
Any person or company that has an interest in a pending tariff proceeding may seek status as a formal participant in the proceeding.  With this status, a formal participant  will receive copies of all non-confidential information submitted by the applicant or by the Office of the Regulator, and has the right to ask questions of the applicant or to request additional data.  
2.
Without “formal participant” status, any person may still submit comments to the Regulator. 
II.
LICENSING 

Licenses are an instrument by which the Regulator can grant specific rights and can control the quality of service in the electric sector.  They are an important tool for attracting private investment, for controlling licensee conduct and for introducing elements of competition and customer choice. 

The following procedures are designed to produce a decision within three months of the docketing of a completed application, assuming that the applicant complies with its obligation to provide requested information.

A.
Procedures for the License Applicant

1.
The applicant is responsible for submitting a complete license application according to forms specified by the Electricity Regulator and available from the Regulator’s website.  To assure an expeditious licensing proceeding, any Applicant should be sure that its initial application is complete and accurate.

2.
Upon receiving notice that the application is complete and a statement setting forth the amount of the processing fee, the applicant must pay the fee to begin the evaluation process.

3.
Upon receiving the Office of the Regulator’s questions (Procedure IID(8) below) and follow-up questions (Procedure IID(9) below), the applicant should answer them within 21 days.

4.
The applicant should be prepared to explain its position in any public proceeding scheduled by the Regulator.  If the proceeding includes a public hearing, the applicant should be prepared to answer questions that are within the scope of the hearing.

5.
At least one year before the expiration of a license, the licensee must notify the Regulator if it intends to seek renewal.

6.
At least two years before the expiration of a license, the licensee must tell the Regulator if it does not intend to seek renewal.

B.
Procedures for Other Stakeholders

1.
Any person or company that has an interest in a pending generation license application may seek status as a formal participant in the proceeding.  
2.
With this status, a formal participant will receive copies of all non-confidential information submitted by the applicant or by the Office of the Regulator, and has the right to ask questions of the applicant or to request additional data.
3.
 Without formal participant status, anyone may still submit comments to the Regulator.

C.
Procedures for the Regulator in Issuing the Initial License

1.
Section 56(a) of the Act requires that the Regulator issue to the Electric Power Corporation (EPC) upon commencement of the Act a license to cover its existing generation activities for 10 years and a license to cover its electricity network services for 10 years.

2.
Because these two licenses must be issued promptly to cover ongoing activities (which cannot be legally conducted without licenses), they should be issued without a public consultation or a public hearing.

3. The licenses issued to the EPC should include the terms set forth in Section 13(3) of the Act as well as Section 13(3-6) of the Regulations (for the network services license) and Section 14(4) of the Regulations (for the generation license).

4.
To the extent that these sections of the Act and the Regulations require that the licenses include terms not yet in existence (standards of service, for example), the initial license should include reference to required terms to be developed later.

D.
Procedures for the Regulator in Issuing Licenses Other Than the Initial Licenses Required by Section 56(a) of the Act.

1.
Before considering applications for generation licenses the Regulator must undertake a public consultation to establish procedures and schedules for license submission, review and evaluation (Section 15(1) of the Regulations).  Schedules are important to give guidance as to when a decision may be expected, and the Regulator might establish a goal to complete licensing proceedings within three months of receiving a complete license application.  However, the Regulator must also maintain flexibility to deal with complex situations or situations in which an applicant furnishes incomplete or inaccurate information. 
2.
Before granting a new generation license the Regulator must conduct a public consultation in order to determine the capacity of the plant or the amount of electricity to be sold to persons other than the generator that will trigger a requirement to obtain a generation license (Section 14(1) of the Regulations).  The intent of this provision is to exempt sales of small or intermittent amounts of electricity from the obligation to obtain a license.

3.
The Regulator must prepare the form necessary for an application for a license to provide generation services or network services.  That form will indicate the information that must be supplied to obtain a license.  This is the information required under Section 13(1)(a-i) of the Regulations for network services or 14(2)(a-k) of the Regulations for generation.  The form should follow these Sections closely.  The Regulator may use a simplified form for applications to generate relatively small amounts of electricity, measured by capacity or by energy.

4.
After receiving an application, the Regulator must review it to ensure that it contains all of the required information.  If it does not, the licensee should be informed in writing of all information necessary to complete the application. 
5.
Upon receiving an application, the Office of the Regulator should give public notice of the application, including ways that the public may view the application.

6.
Once the application is complete, the Office of the Regulator should notify the licensee of the expected schedule for processing the application and the amount of any fee that is owed.  Formal processing should not begin until the required fee is paid.

7.
Upon determining that an application is complete and the requisite fee has been paid, the Regulator should formally enter it into the regulatory docket.  The Regulator should then establish and publicize a schedule for public consultation regarding the license, including the schedule and opportunities for members of the public to request information and to make their views known.  The Regulator should follow the public hearing guidance set forth in Procedure VIII(A)(2) of this document.

8.
Upon reviewing the application, the Office of the Regulator should send to the applicant in writing within 45 days all questions necessary to obtain the information to make the findings set forth in Section 13(2) of the Regulations for a network services license or Section 14(3) of the Regulations for a generation license.

9.
Upon receiving the answers to the questions in subsection 8 above, the Office of the Regulator should review them for completeness and should make them public.  If additional information is necessary to satisfy the statutory requirements, the Office of the Regulator may ask follow-up questions.
10.
Upon receiving answers to all written questions, the Office of the Regulator should provide an opportunity for public comments.

11.
If significant issues remain unresolved between the applicant and the Office of the Regulator or are raised in the public comments, the Regulator should schedule a public hearing.

12.
At the public hearing, the applicant must respond to questions from the Office of the Regulator and, if the Regulator approves, from members of the public.

13.
If the Regulator decides to grant the license, it should include in the license each of the terms required by Section 13(3) of the Act, as well as each of the terms required by Section 13(3-7) of the Regulations, for network services, or Section 14(4) of the Regulations for generation.
14.
A decision granting a license for network services must include the findings required by Section 13(2) of the Regulations.  A decision granting a generation license must include the findings required by Section 14(3) of the Regulations.

15.
A decision rejecting an application for a license must be specific as to the reasons for the rejection and any actions that the applicant might take to remedy defects in the application.   

III.
INSPECTATION AND MONITORING OF LICENSEES BY THE REGULATOR 
A.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator

1.
The Office of Regulator should inspect each generation licensee at least once per year and should make special inspections of generation and network service facilities if events so require. 
2.
Such inspections must be announced in writing at least 24 hours ahead of time unless such an announcement would defeat the purposes of the inspection.

3.
Upon completion of each inspection, the Office of the Regulator should prepare a report documenting its findings (including any violation of the law or of license conditions) and any recommendation for further action by the Regulator.

B.
Procedures for the Licensee

Generation licensees are required by Section 14(4)(b) of the Regulations to cooperate in inspections by the Office of the Regulator.  The same requirement as to network services licensees is in Section 13(3)(b) of the Regulations.

IV.
SUSPENSION AND REVOCATION OF A LICENSE
A
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator

1.
The Regulator may suspend a license upon finding that the licensee has violated the Act or a license condition at least five times or that the licensee has not maintained either adequate technical or financial capabilities (Section 14 of the Act).  Such a suspension can only occur after notice to the licensee and an opportunity for the licensee to be heard.

2.
The Regulator may revoke a license at any time or, in the case of a previously suspended license, after a further breach or a serious breach (Section 15 of the Act). Such a revocation can only occur after notice to the licensee and an opportunity for the licensee to be heard.
3.
The Regulator must also find that the suspension or revocation will not impair the provision of adequate service to the public (Section 19(3) and (4) of the Regulations).

4.
 In the event of disagreement between the Regulator and a licensee over issues pertaining to compliance with provisions of the license, the Regulator and the licensee must attempt to resolve the disagreement using a process provided for under the Alternative Dispute Resolution Act 2007.

5.
If the alternative dispute resolution process is unsuccessful, the licensee or other stakeholder who is party to the dispute may appeal to the Electricity Tribunal.

V.
SETTING TECHNICAL STANDARDS OF ELECTRICITY SERVICE 
A.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator
1.
In cooperation with the network service licensee and employing technical experts as needed, the Regulator should develop draft technical service standards.

2.
The standards should be clearly and precisely written, as should the measuring, reporting, monitoring and enforcing procedures.

3.
The technical service standards should include, but are not limited to the following: 

a.
Frequency of electric current

b.
Standard voltage and voltage fluctuation

c.
Meter accuracy

d.
Frequency and duration of service interruptions

e.
Line losses

f.
Fuel use efficiency of power plants owned by the network service licensee 

g.
Availability of power plants owned by the network service licensee

4.
These draft standards should then be the subject of a public consultation process as set forth in Procedure VIII of this document.   One purpose of that process should be to ascertain the types of service problems currently being experienced by customers in order to be sure that the standards address them.

5.
The final standards should be adopted in a decision of the Regulator. Where applicable, the standards should include requirements for the licensee to keep records of nonstandard conditions and to report these conditions to the Regulator.

6.
The Regulator should assure that compliance with these standards is reflected in the annual report of the Regulator.

7.
The Regulator should also seek to develop, for consideration in tariff setting proceedings, incentives and penalties with regard to compliance with these standards.

VI.
CONSUMER PROTECTION 
A.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator

1.
The procedures to be followed with regard to adopting consumer protection standards should be the same as those followed for technical service standards. Procedures set forth in subsections V(A)(1), (2) and (4-8) all apply to customer service standards.  The Regulator may combine technical service standards and customer protection standards into the same proceeding.

2.
Among the most important customer protection standards are those governing:
a.
Connection of customers

b.
Eligibility for service

c.
Disconnection for non-payment

d.
Requirements for customer deposits

e.
Meters requiring prepayment

f.
Standards for billing (content, frequency, ease of understanding)

g.
Right to have a meter tested

h.
Right to dispute a bill

i.
Damage to customer equipment

3.
The Regulator’s website should contain information on basic customer rights, procedures and forms for filing a complaint as well as how to contact the Office of the Regulator.  

4.
The Regulator should order the network services licensee to prepare customer service contracts that comply with Section 22 of the Regulations.

5.
The Regulator should consider appointing a consumer advisory committee pursuant to Section 26(2)(f) of the Act.

VII. POWER SYSTEM EXPANSION PLANNING AND REVIEW 
A.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator
1.
Within 2 years of the commencement of the Act, the Regulator should conduct a public consultation and develop rules, methodologies and procedures for least-cost power system planning and expansion.

2.
The Regulator should order the utility to prepare a plan describing its long term approach to meeting Samoa’s power supply needs at the lowest overall cost, including energy efficiency.  

3.
Such a plan should include a discussion of alternative approaches and an estimate of the major uncertainties involved.  Given the high cost of electricity and diesel fuel in Samoa, it should discuss approaches to energy efficiency that the network services licensee can use to promote cost-effective energy efficiency and demand-side management for its customers.  The plan should also discuss approaches that are not within the network services licensee’s direct control, such as building codes and appliance standards, to give some indication of the potential future cost reductions available to Samoa.

4.
Given the number of tasks confronting EPC and the Regulator in the next year, it is likely that the planning process review will not be completed during that time.  Nonetheless, it is vital to controlling Samoan power costs.  Ever effort should be made to complete it in time for the two-year tariff review.

VIII.
PUBLIC CONSULTATION AND PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  

Foresighted programs to involve the public in fundamental decisions and to inform the public about progress can both improve service and make the electricity sector public policy decisions less controversial.  Public hearings are an important part of the process of public consultation.

The fundamental purposes of public hearings are:
· To assure that the Regulator is fully informed as to public concerns before making a decision

· To assure that the public has had an opportunity to examine the need for a proposed regulatory action and to make its views known

The Samoan Regulator is required to operate with transparency in all of its proceedings and to assure that the public has meaningful input as to decisions affecting them.  A number of procedures are important to assuring that these objectives are met.  These procedures are summarized below.
A.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator

1.
The Regulator should develop and publish on its website a general public information strategy.  Components of this strategy are:

a.
 dissemination of information regarding matters of long term importance to the electricity sector, such as improvements in service, availability of low income assistance for paying for electricity, demand side management, reduction of energy theft, and need for metering and disconnection policies.
b.
assuring that all information in possession of the Regulator (except for information that has been designated confidential) is widely available in a timely manner and an easily understood form, subject to any fees that may be charged solely to recover expenses of copying documents.
c.
a user friendly web site containing information on the status of major sector developments and proceedings, copies of important documents, information on schedules and ways for the public to take part in such proceedings and answers to frequently asked questions.
d.
written materials describing the rights of electricity consumers and providing other useful information on such matters as safety and efficient use of electricity.
e.
a proactive plan to meet and communicate regularly with the media as well as customer groups and other interested stakeholders.
f.
a public hearings process designed to facilitate  effective communication between the public, the Regulator and the licensees

2.
Public hearings should be held according to the following steps:

a.
As soon as possible after the beginning of any proceeding, the Regulator should assure that the public and all stakeholders have notice of the matter under consideration, the schedule and the rules for public consultation.  This process includes publication in the largest Samoan newspaper, at the applicant’s expense, of information regarding any application of broad public interest.

b.
The public should have access to the application as well as all other non-confidential information furnished by the applicant.

c.
The proceeding should include an opportunity for affected stakeholders to become formal participants in any proceeding that directly affects their interests.

d.
Formal participants should have an opportunity before any public hearing to obtain information from the applicant in the form of written questions, with responses submitted according to the schedule for the proceeding.

e.
The hearing can be an opportunity to submit written comments.  However, on matters of substantial public concern, an opportunity should be provided for members of the public to express their viewpoint directly to the Regulator in an open forum.

f.
Rules for the conducting of a public hearing should be made clear in advance.  These should include:
i. Time limits for each speaker

ii. Requirements that the speaker addresses only the subject of the hearing

iii. Requirements that each speaker be treated respectfully

g.
Following the hearing, the Regulator may allow for an additional submission of views.

h.
Before reaching a final decision, the Regulator must provide a draft decision to the applicant and to other formal participants for their comment.

i.
When the Regulator reaches a final decision, that decision should be in writing and should include a careful description of the evidence relied upon and the reasoning that justifies the decision.  Decisions prepared in this way will be helpful to entities with an interest in the decisions of the Regulator, such as the licensees, organized customer groups, potential investors in the utilities, serious commenters in the media and staff and regulators in future years.

j.
The Regulator’s final decision should be public and posted on its website and should be provided to the applicant and to all other formal participants in the proceeding.
IX.
DEVELOPMENT OF THE REGULATORY ASSESSENT FEE 
A.
Procedures for the Office of the Regulator
1.
The Regulator should conduct a public consultation in deciding the amount to be collected in electricity tariffs to support the operation of the Office of the Regulator (Section 9(2) of the Act).

2.
The Regulator should account for the time of the regulatory staff to an extent sufficient to assure no regulated sector bears a disproportionate share of the costs of the Office of the Regulator.  For staff dedicated exclusively to electricity or to another regulated sector, no detailed record keeping is necessary.  For staff who work on more than one sector, reasonable records should be kept to allow for an informed estimate of that staff’s time allocation among the regulated sectors.

3.
The cost of the Regulator’s Office attributable to each regulated sector should be billed to that sector.

X.
PREPARATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT OF THE REGULATOR  

A.
Procedures for the Regulator 

1.
The Office of the Regulator should prepare an annual report for the fiscal year within 6 months of 30 June.  This Report must fulfil the criteria set forth in Section 51 of the Act.  

2.
The Report should discuss the noteworthy activities and accomplishments of the Office of the Regulator in each sector.

3.
The Report should also include a discussion of future plans.

4.
The Report should include audited financial statements for the year and future resource needs.

5.
The Report should be made public and posted on the website of the Regulator.
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First Workshop - Vaisala Hotel





1.01





How will the tariff be set? 





1.02





The regulator should ensure competition (in the supply of electricity)





1.03





Regarding the tariff setting process - Will this be by EPC or Cabinet?





1.04





Self generators should not need a license to supply neighbor(s)!





1.06





What are the benefits of regulation?





1.07





Please consider consolidating offices of the sector regulators





1.08





Regulator must be able to work with EPC to lower the tariff!





1.09





There should be assistance for new connections?





1.10





Why is EPC contracting out the disconnection function?





1.11





Why is disconnection carried out without warning?





1.12





Could a new power company be a cost effective competitor to EPC?





1.13





Please undertake public consultation in each village?





1.14





Assistance is needed to reduce tariff for the poor





1.15





What financial assistance will be available for the poor?





1.16





Supportive of regulation provided there are village level consultations





1.18





Policy must be to connect all currently un-served villages





1.19





Accelerate introduction (of regulation)! Prices are too high





1.21





Competition please





1.22





Who appoints the Regulator?





1.23





Do we need a regulator for a 1 player (EPC) system?





Second Workshop - Savaiian Hotel





2.01





Clarify Framework! Will EPC be privatized?.





2.02





Who oversees the regulator?





2.02





Please reduce tariff





2.02





Who appoints the Appeal Tribunal





2.02





How could the regulator be dismissed?





2.03





Affordability is the key concern





2.04





Arbitrary disconnection as applied by EPC must be eliminated





2.05





Tariff is too high





2.05





Can we afford the regulator





2.06





Term of Regulator's appointment





2.07





Reduce tariff





2.08





Consultation is much appreciated





Third Workshop - Aggie Grey's Resort Hotel





3.01





Will there be undue conflict between the GM of EPC & the Regulator?





3.02





Appoint a regulator who understands electricity sector operations!





3.03





The Regulator needs to establish a competitive supply





3.04





The Regulator must be cost effective - & not burden licensees!





3.05





Owners of stand-by generators should be able to sell surplus power!





3.06





Stand-by generator sets should not need to be licensed!





3.07





Will suppliers be liable for damage of consumers' electrical equipment?





3.08





Concern that regulation will prove an expensive burden!





3.09





There are plenty pulenuus (locals) who could be successful regulators





3.10





There should be provision for a consumer complaint procedure





3.11





Complaints procedure - needs to be clear - where and how!





3.12





Promote solar power to minimize costly fossil fuels





3.13





Regulation must be cost effective





3.14





Consultation is good





3.15





Priority is to reduce power bills





3.16





Power needs to be extended to all rural areas 





3.17





Regulation is well intentioned, but must not add to consumers' costs





3.18





Private generators should not be burdened by license costs





3.19





Regulator must create a level playing field for all players





3.2





There are serious risks in a multi-regulator set-up.  All eggs in 1 basket!





3.21





A sound system with checks & balances is most important requirement





3.22





Don't need expatriate regulator





3.23





Regulators TOR needs to explicitly mitigate potential for corruption





3.24





Sili village should be able to sponsor an IPP that sells to EPC





Fourth Workshop - Apia Meeting Hall





4.01





Generators' licenses will be a cost to EPC that is passed onto consumers!





4.02





"Cash Power" is being forced on consumers - and is damaging!





4.03





Is regulation the best outcome for EPC and Samoa?





4.04





Supportive of regulation, particularly its focus on reducing cost of power





4.05





Supportive of regulation - provides professional oversight of power sector





4.06





Supportive of regulation - asks for use of TV to help disseminate rationale





4.07





Could the regulator reverse decisions and remove cash-power? 





4.08





Spoke in support of regulation - need to sort out EPC is long overdue.





4.09





Regulator must be honest - preferably a local but expatriate if necessary





4.10





Supports regulation - there are companies who are ready to generate electricity





4.11





Likely to be an expatriate (initially), but choice is critical, must be sound





4.12





Regulator must address (i) employee dishonesty, & (ii) affordability issues





4.13





Tariff should be flexible - reduces when fuel cost decreases





4.14





Consultation is important - introduction of cash power was mishandled





4.15





(EPC) staff honesty is an issue that warrants review





4.16





Objectives and roles of EPC GM and EPC Board versus Regulator?
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